Dinas a Sir Abertawe

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE Hysbysiad o Gyfarfod
SWANSEA BAY

City Deal Fe'ch gwahoddir i gyfarfod

Cyd-Bwyllgor Dinas-Ranbarth Bae Abertawe
Lleoliad: = Cyngor Sir Gar
Dyddiad: Dydd lau, 28 Mawrth 2019

Amser: 2.00 pm

Cyn 28 Mai 2019, Cyngor Sir Gar oedd yr awdurdod cynnal ar gyfer cyfarfodydd
y cyd-bwyllgor, a cheir mwy o wybodaeth, gan gynnwys agendau a chofnodion, ar ei

wefan.
i (“:._7)-\. -: -
é}_ o Sir Gar EY
=" Carmarchens hlre g _g—_.
Liuror &b artEens \% _&-_\"
Swana=a Councl| ra :N“ ul( e ).-‘\:"1'\"
__’-l'ﬂ_
e Swansca i
,'{“;E___ Univorsiry Nﬁﬂrﬁ‘-’,‘}!ﬁ};}ﬁu CRICT | = wed cgmam via L e
&ég Pr|1‘yqqﬁ| % 'l'l.n:.‘fa'f.'.l:‘nr'.'r.],f"ﬁes r IS T‘; P =115 -y kb ?\. re. =

e abertawe



Document Packgenda Item 1

Bargen Ddinesig Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee
Democratic Services Unit,

BAE ABERTAWE Chief Executive’s Department,
S,WANSEA BAY Carmarthenshire County Council,
City Deal County Hall,

Carmarthen SA31 1JP.

FRIDAY, 22 MARCH 2019

TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT
COMMITTEE

| HEREBY SUMMON YOU TO ATTEND A MEETING OF THE SWANSEA
BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE WHICH WILL BE HELD IN THE
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES COMMITTEE ROOM, - COUNTY HALL,
CARMARTHEN. SA31 1JP. AT 11.00 AM, ON THURSDAY, 28TH MARCH,
2019 FOR THE TRANSACTION OF THE BUSINESS OUTLINED ON THE
ATTACHED AGENDA

Mark James

CHIEF EXECUTIVE
CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL

Democratic Officer: Gaynor Morgan
Telephone (direct line): 01267 224026
E-Mail: GMorgan@sirgar.gov.uk
E {’j:'_% . 5 ALy
.,E_ it Sir Gar g™ 2 %4
armarchenshire = z
L-ur.;.:-:.:hmm s ﬂ%:-—:?’zf
Swann=a Couil ST g, A
—_—-""—.-
i 5
@ U:{n‘;?gfﬁrﬁ Nﬁnr’”‘-’f' L Page TF | = med oot 2pins CIICT [ B, 1 bage
M Pritysgol 5 Hnhn S ol e M1 IS m“".h e SIS [ e o

e Abertawe




SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
(Leaders of the 4 local authorities and 5 Co-optees)

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
COUNCILLOR EMLYN DOLE

NEATH PORT TALBOT
COUNCILLOR ROB JONES

CITY & COUNTY OF SWANSEA
COUNCILLOR ROB STEWART

PEMBROKESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
COUNCILLOR DAVID SIMPSON

CO-OPTED NON VOTING REPRESENTATIVES
(5 year period 31st August 2018 — 30" August 2023)

Professor Medwin Hughes  University of Wales Trinity St David

Professor Andrew Davies Abertawe Bro Morgannwg Health

Board
Professor lwan Davies* Swansea University
Judith Hardisty* Hywel Dda University Health Board
Edward Tomp Chair of the Economic Strategy
Board

*To be confirmed at the meeting

PP YNGORaArleinamdani
oner Sir Gir Ffvé%\;gvgrgar.l\yvv.cymru

Carmarthenshire . .
R Your counciLdoitonline
ity o www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales



10.
11.
12.

13.

AGENDA

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST

TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE JOINT
COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON THE 24TH JANUARY 2019

NOTIFICATION OF CHANGE OF CO-OPTED REPRESENTATION
ON THE JOINT COMMITTEE

1. To endorse the formal notification from Swansea University that its
representatives on the Joint Committee going forward will be:-

Professor lwan Davies
Professor Steve Wilks (Reserve Member)

2. To endorse the formal notification from Hywel Dda University Health
Board that Judith Hardisty will be their representative going forward
(replacing Bernadine Rees).

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INDEPENDENT REVIEW: UK AND
WELSH GOVERNMENT

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INTERNAL REVIEW OF
GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS REPORT MARCH 2019

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL - LLANELLI
WELLNESS AND LIFE SCIENCE VILLAGE REVIEWS

PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE PROJECT

DEVELOPMENT OF HOMES AS POWER STATIONS, DIGITAL,
SKILLS AND TALENT AND PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE

PROJECTS ISSUE LOG AND RISK REGISTER
RETROSPECTIVE CLAIMS - DEFRAYED EXPENDITURE
CORRESPONDENCE:-

12.1 LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE SWANSEA BAY CITY
REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (15th February
2019)

12.2 LETTER FROM THE CHAIR OF THE SWANSEA BAY CITY
REGION JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE (5th March 2019)

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
THE REPORTS RELATING TO THE FOLLOWING ITEMS ARE

PP YNGORaArleinamdani
oner Sir Gir Ffvé%\;gv,?frgar.l\yvv.cymru

11 - 36

37 - 62

63 - 88

89 -110
111 -114

115-130
131-134

135 - 146

147 - 150

Carmarthenshire . .
R Your counciLdoitonline
ity o www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales



14.
15.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION AS THEY CONTAIN EXEMPT
INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN PARAGRAPH 14 OF PART 4 OF
SCHEDULE 12A TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 AS
AMENDED BY THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO
INFORMATION) (VARIATION) (WALES) ORDER 2007. IF,
FOLLOWING THE APPLICATION OF THE PUBLIC INTEREST
TEST, THE JOINT COMMITTEE RESOLVES PURSUANT TO THE
ACT TO CONSIDER THESE ITEMS IN PRIVATE, THE PUBLIC
WILL BE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING DURING SUCH
CONSIDERATION

YR EGIN RESUBMISSION

SWANSEA CITY AND WATERFRONT DIGITAL DISTRICT
RESUBMISSION

PP YNGORarleinamdani
oner Sir Gir Ffvé%\}gvg'rgar.l\yvv.cymru

151 - 758

759 -
1062

Carmarthenshire . .
R Your counciLdoitonline
ity o www.carmarthenshire.gov.wales



Agenda Iltem 3

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE

Thursday, 24 January 2019
PRESENT: Councillor R. Stewart (Chair)

Councillors:
E. Dole, R. Jones and D. Simpson

Co-optees:

Dr J. Davidson, University of Wales Trinity St David (Reserve Member)
Prof A. Davies, Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board

B. Rees, Hywel Dda University Health Board

E. Tomp, Chair of the Economic Strategy Board

The following Officers were in attendance:

M. James, Chief Executive, Carmarthenshire County Council
S. Phillips, Chief Executive, Neath Port Talbot County Council
I. Westley, Chief Executive, Pembrokeshire County Council
M. Nicholls, Director of Place, Swansea Council

C. Moore, Joint Committee S.151 Officer

L. R. Jones, Joint Committee Monitoring Officer

W. Walters, Director of Regeneration and Policy

G. Morgan, Democratic Services Manager

H. Morgan, Economic Development Manager

R. Phillips, Funding Manager

G. Jones, Communications and Marketing Officer (City Deal)
R. Llewhellin, Performance, Governance and Policy Officer
A. Miller, European Technical Officer

J. Laimann, Democratic Services Officer

Democratic Services Committee Room, County Hall, Carmarthen. 2.00 - 3.25 pm

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Professor Medwin Hughes (University
of Wales Trinity St David). Dr Jane Davidson attended the meeting as a substitute.

2. DECLARATIONS OF PERSONAL INTEREST

There were no declarations of personal interest made at the meeting.

3. TO SIGN AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE JOINT
COMMITTEE MEETING HELD ON THE 14TH DECEMBER 2018

The Chair advised that an updated version of the minutes had been circulated and

that changes from the previous version were highlighted in bold.

E (f_ ; o Loy
e E bt 3 < 2 %

,& Leme Sir Gar . = s LN

= Carmarchenshire i —— &
Liyror &b gt Eeng cqw = l‘% —— e
Swranoma Cousl e e -H"I:UI(,,M'. _._xmv
g

Page 5

g " Swansca

; - Prifysasl C
B University Nt P il
* et w Urtivs gily:
3 v gily ol Wa e [
2 % Mrityscyol EETEL R T B
s abertawe

e

Sowed oAbt L300
et s
yvwechl e Rad ==

Edl 1220 M =4b s
hon

-h=rs = Tk ahh oo



UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the updated minutes of the meeting of the
Swansea Bay City Region Joint Committee held on the 14th December 2018
be signed as a correct record.

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL PROJECTS UPDATE

The Joint Committee received an update report on the following local and regional
projects funded under the City Deal:

o Digital Infrastructure;

e Swansea City & Waterfront Digital District;
e Skills & Talent;

e YrEgin;

e Llanelli Life Science & Well-Being Village;

e Llanelli Life Science & Well-Being Campus;
e Homes as Power Stations;

e Centre of Excellence in Next Generation Services (CENGS);
e Astute Factory of the Future;

e Steel Science;

e Pembroke Dock Marine.

Projects Leads were encouraged to report any challenges to their projects’
progress so that the Joint Committee could assist in resolving these where
possible. To support this, it was suggested that an issue log and risk registers for
individual projects be introduced as standing agenda items for future Joint
Committee meetings. The individual project risk registers could be combined into a
Joint Committee risk register.

With regard to HAPS, it was suggested that a cap on rent increases introduced by
the Welsh Government could affect one of the project’s revenue streams. After
being advised that the rent cap may be an interim policy, the Chair suggested that
it would be appropriate to seek clarification from the Welsh Ministers.

Having been advised that the new Vice-Chancellor of Swansea University would
not be in place until July 2019, it was suggested that a letter be sent to the acting
Vice-Chancellor seeking reassurance that Swansea University remained
committed to the City Deal and each individual City Deal project.

With regard to the Pembroke Dock Marine Project, the Project Authority Lead
advised that they were awaiting feedback from the Welsh Government on
supplementary information to the draft full business case. The Project Lead

(f— = o il
o, . » - < - i
k_ Leme Sir Gar . F s LN
it Carmarchenshire i e &
Liur or &k et s =5 e b
Swann=a Cuuis| S iy !“E-.--_p.-ltfl".c’h
___._.-lll"-.- g
PargQG Page 6
;ﬁ". A Swansca Fril =l Cpriry
0 Uninersity Ot bt sl ] | = e oot ot Brotign L) Lo NS I IR TIN
E ——— 5 e 5 YT | womerrt Bee o enc
. :}w Fritysgol w Uninsgity of L2 N IHES st e o [ R
S’ abertawe



emphasised that it was critical for the project’s viability to receive reassurance on
funding arrangements from the Welsh Government by Mid-March.

A number of statements were made expressing concern regarding delays in
Government approval for the City Deal projects which in turn delayed project
delivery and exposed each partner to an element of financial risk. The
Accountable Officer advised that such delays were frustrating, however he had
recently raised this matter at a meeting with officials and it was hoped that ongoing
delays would be resolved.

In response to a question on the Wales Audit Office review of the Llanelli Life
Science and Well-Being project, the Committee S.151 Officer advised that the
statement in the press was inaccurate and that the reporter had been asked to
seek clarification from the WAO but had declined to do so. Documentary evidence
to support the Council’s correspondence with the WAO was available. In terms of
scrutiny of the project, the Joint Committee Monitoring Officer advised that, under
the Joint Committee Agreement, scrutiny of individual projects rested with each
individual authority. The Chair advised that the Joint Scrutiny Committee had
invited himself and the Lead Chief Executive to provide an update on the review
and he had agreed to this request.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED

4.1. That the projects update report be received;

4.2. That project issue logs and risk registers be included as standing
agenda items for future Joint Committee meetings;

4.3. That a letter be sent to the Welsh Government asking for clarification
regarding the cap on rent increases;

44. That a letter be sent to the acting Vice-Chancellor of Swansea
University seeking reassurance that the University remains committed
to the City Deal and each individual project;

4.5. That a letter be sent asking the UK and Welsh Governments to issue a
letter of comfort regarding its financial support for Pembroke Dock
Marine.

TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR JOINT COMMITTEE INTERNAL REVIEW OF
THE CITY DEAL

The Joint Committee considered a report on the final Terms of Reference and
Programme for the internal review into the Swansea Bay City Deal governance
arrangements, which was agreed at the previous meeting held on the 14t
December 2018 (Minute 11 refers). The review, led by Pembrokeshire County
Council, would be supported by a nominated Senior Auditor from
Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot and Swansea Councils.

" . g " 2 i "
k_ Leme Sir Gar . = %
= Carmarchenshire i —— &
Liyror &b gt Eeng £p o s L —— 2
Swrano=a Tous| \q“-'y( e % I-ur.::-. _.*m'?‘
T
Page 7

g " Swansca

; - Prifysasl C
B University Nt P il
* et w Urtivs gily:
3 v gily ol Wa e [
2 % Mrityscyol EETEL R T B
s abertawe

Edl 1220 M =4b s
wmenras R St w
Pi-h=m T shh o,

Sowed oAbt L300
et s
yvwechl e Rad ==




The Joint Committee was advised that the Terms of Reference were structured
around seven core principles and that all issues previously raised at the meeting
had been incorporated into the review.

It was emphasised that it was reassuring that the Terms of Reference for the
Internal and the Independent Review were largely compatible and aligned with
each other. Members suggested that the Internal Review should aim to conclude
around the same time as the Independent Review and that the findings of both
reviews could be brought together in a single body of recommendations. The Chair
confirmed that Co-opted Members would be included within the review.

UNANIMOULSY RESOLVED

5.1. That the Terms of Reference for the Joint Committee Internal Review
into the Swansea Bay City Deal be noted,;

5.2. That all Joint Committee Members be included in the review and Terms
of Reference document.

UK AND WELSH GOVERNMENT SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INDEPENDENT
REVIEW - TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Joint Committee considered a report on the full Terms of Reference for the
Independent Review of the Swansea Bay City Deal as advised by the UK and
Welsh Governments. The report noted that the Joint Committee and City Deal
Regional Office had been advised on the 6" December 2018 that both
Governments had agreed to commission an independent review. Both
Governments had announced assessing the progress to date to seek assurance
that all elements of the Deal would deliver the full economic benefits promised by
the City Deal and that due diligence and governance had been followed in all
elements of the Deal and its implementation.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the UK and Welsh Government Terms of
Reference for their Independent Review of the Swansea Bay City Deal be
received.

ECONOMIC STRATEGY BOARD - REPLACEMENT MEMBER

The Joint Committee considered the nomination of Lynne Hamilton to replace Mr
Hamish Laing as life science / wellbeing representative on the Economic Strategy
Board. The Joint Committee was advised that Mr Laing had resigned his position
on the Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board and that the Health
Board had nominated Lynne Hamilton as the replacement representative. The
Joint Committee was also advised that, under the Joint Committee Agreement, all
proposals for the recruitment and nomination of Economic Strategy Board
members needed to be approved by the Welsh and UK Governments.

: (‘f_ : L
G s < % - &S
k_ Leme Sir Gar . F %
it Carmarchenshire i e &
Liur or &k et s =5 e b
Swann=a Cuuis| S iy !“E-.--_p.-ltfl".c’h
___._.-lll"-— g
Pargg8 Page 8
;ﬁ". A Swansca Fril =l Cpriry
0 Uninersity Ot bt sl ] | = e oot ot Brotign L) Lo NS I IR TIN
E ——— 5 e 5 YT | womerrt Bee o enc
. :}w Fritysgol w Uninsgity of L2 N IHES st e o [ R
S’ abertawe



UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED that the nomination of Lynne Hamilton as life
science / wellbeing representative on the Economic Strategy Board be
forwarded to the Welsh and UK Governments for consideration.

JOINT COMMITTEE - SCHEDULE OF MEETINGS APRIL 2019 - MARCH 2020

The Joint Committee considered a proposed schedule of meetings for the period
April 2019 — March 2020.

UNANIMOUSLY RESOLVED to approve the schedule of meetings for the
Joint Committee for the period April 2019 — March 2020.

{K ﬂ* ": i
Ny coeas Sir Gar E
- Carmar:henshlre _é
Loyrqor &b gt g 1..1'
Swann=a Cuuis| /'5 e ' I-ul( e A
T —
Page 9
Trae SWANSCa
;_.__ﬁ.‘i. LInivcrsity Nﬁ:'ﬁ‘,{l Ly G |2 ms sonam s LTI | Bt st ks
5 c—m—— - Y e e AR e e et Al R [ R | e we R Magen
&E F‘ri’n,.-'s;_cjol 5 u:":;"‘i'el'll\nr-'[u'ﬁes 1S | wh Lra-a R SIS | en- n—.lk h'h,!rlu i, B

s’ abertawe



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



Agenda Iltem 5

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION

SWANSEA BAY JOINT COMMITTEE
City Deal

28™ MARCH 2019

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INDEPENDENT REVIEW: UK AND WELSH
GOVERNMENT REVIEW

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To consider the report and recommendations of the UK and Welsh
Government in response to the Swansea Bay City Deal Independent
Review.

REASONS:

In December 2018 the UK and Welsh Governments announced that an independent review
would be carried out into the Swansea Bay City Deal. The review has now been concluded
and the published report is placed formally before the Joint Committee for its consideration.

Lead Designation: Tel No.
01267 224010
Clir Rob Stewart — Chair of the Joint Committee E.Mail:LRJones@carmarthenshire.gov.

uk

This is a UK/Welsh Government
report.

g {f_ < I
B ; i (-
t; come Sir Gar ¥ # %
N\ : * 3
- Carmarchenshire 3 ——
Liurgor kb gt e cq‘m = R et
Swraneea Couil A fh g,.__’__,'-,\\:-
e :

rﬁ‘w Swansca

B Universiy N et GG [=omea comam s G [t st a0
@*& Fritvsgol ﬁ Unive eily of e eg Bl R s s \l'jq "3”?'"1“51_'1:"":“2‘1111"“
' iz g salrinead i
e abertawe ’ Page 11 ge




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INDEPENDENT REVIEW: UK AND WELSH
GOVERNMENT REVIEW

In December 2018 the UK and Welsh Governments announced that an independent review
would be carried out into the Swansea Bay City Deal.

The review was published on the 15" March 2019 and the Joint Committee is asked to
formally receive and consider the 7 recommendations contained within the report. The UK
and Welsh Governments have already discussed the recommendations with the leaders of
each local authority in the region and will continue to work closely with them over the coming
weeks to consider how the recommendations can be implemented

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES - Copy of the review

na ~
Ny e Kir Gar S
-l Carmarchenshire : .é
Laurgor &E et e _-_w!'
Swane=a Cuunic| \q""-',-": vl e ___,__,,w?‘
____.-l"'.-

|30 P R IRy | 0
wmer o R Mo on g
I=h-=m= Ik 1hh e

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
1 1y
1§ i SIS

% Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru

; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; P BT T Gl Cr
l.":ul 5 Unnﬂmll.\ r.l['I.I"HEB

éég’é t;a R EEETEN, T



IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and

Equalities

NONE YES Not at this stage Not at this stage YES

Legal

Some recommendations within the report may require changes to the Joint Committee Agreement.

Finance

Risk Management

Staffing

The review recommends the appointment of a Portfolio Director before May 2019 to ensure continuity of
Swansea Bay City Deal leadership and independent authoritative advice to the Boards, and changes to the
current structure and role of the Regional Office.

: L...
d T
é;‘_ e Bir Gar n %
= Carmarchenshlre 3 E F
Laurgor &E et e o
Swmaneea Counicl \q“:"f": s fE::- il ,I_E-.--.n.-l.'l".-'h
__.—--""—.- - i
rTEgmn s Swansca :
B hicrsty ﬂﬁ;";‘:ﬁﬂ_ffii},ﬁ“ GG |- med conam {'IC Bt Lo o
) —— o a e -1y e o g
: H Mrityscol tielb i RIS SR g.é 13 v,
s abertawe Page 13




CONSULTATIONS

N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document

File Ref
No.

Locations that the papers are available for
public inspection/WEBSITE LINK

UK & WG Review Document

https://www.gov.uk/government/publica
tions/swansea-bay-city-deal-
independent-review

-
D

Loyror &b Eing
Swaneea Counicl

T

r"T_“"rﬂ Swansca

. Hniverstty 0

Boa1as

come i Gar
Carmarchenshire

\%‘)c

Prify=asl Cyriru

riven gily of Wy 28

:'\'D nc A00 s R
X i il
Trnpsalinead

ol Cr

udl-

I"-"G\.:..e'l -'-"""'

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
-l-,_ -1y
P =S

[T g I Iy | ]

I=h-=m= Ik 1hh e

wmer o R Mo on g



ACTiCA

consulting

Swansea Bay City Deal Independent Review

PC828D002 v1.0

26th February 2019

Page 15 Page 13



Page 14 Page 16



ACTICA

consulting

Executive Summary

Introduction

In January 2019, Actica Consulting Ltd was commissioned jointly by the Welsh and UK Governments to
undertake a rapid, independently led Review of the arrangements for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea
Bay City Deal' (SBCD). The Review was to provide both the Welsh and UK Government Ministers with an
assessment of the deliverability of the Deal.

The Swansea Bay City Deal

The Swansea Bay City Region is a critically important driver for the Welsh and UK economy. It is a region
with strong urban centres complemented by a wider rural landscape and a significant coastal footprint that
has created a diverse economic profile with numerous opportunities and challenges.

The City Deal aims to provide the region and its partners with the new ways of working and resources to
unlock significant economic growth across the Swansea Bay City Region. Both the Welsh and UK
Governments have committed jointly to invest, subject to submission and approval of full business cases
for the 11 constituent projects. This investment is also subject to agreement of governance arrangements
for the Deal to support and further build on the Region’s strengths which include health, energy and
manufacturing: underpinned by a world-class digital infrastructure, successful universities and innovative
health boards. The Deal’s Heads of Terms - signed on 20™ March 2017 by the Welsh Government, the UK
Government and all 4 Regional Local Authorities - committed the Governments to jointly fund the Deal with
£241M (£125.4M from Wales and £115.6M from UK) over 15 years to achieve 9,000 new jobs and a £1.8Bn
uplift in Gross Value Added. The Local Authority and local partners from the private and public centre will
also contribute funding. The intention is that the total funds from all sources over the period will be of the
order of £1.3Bn.

Review Team Findings

The Review Team are confident that both Governments are committed to the success of the City Deal. We
note also that Regional Partners are invested in delivering a portfolio of programmes in the spirit of the
Heads of Terms outcomes. We are convinced that the Swansea Bay City Deal will have a positive impact on
the region. We observe that within a healthy portfolio, programmes and projects will evolve and, in some
cases, change radically to meet changing circumstances. Some will succeed while others may not. It is our
view that as issues of expertise and authoritative independent management are addressed, the relationship
between all parties will mature, increasing collaboration and resulting in a slicker process with an increased
focus on the delivery of outcomes at pace. Commitment of funds in the short term is critical: both to give
confidence to all parties and to ensure that the financial exposure of Local Authorities remains manageable.
In the longer term the portfolio will grow stronger as the opportunities available to the City Deal are further
explored.

The report makes 7 recommendations to improve the deliverability of the Deal’s outcomes which are
tabulated below.

! Contract Award €299/2018/2019 dated 10 January 2019: Contract to commence wef 14 January 2019.

P 1/
PC828D002 v1.0 age Page i



ACTICA

consulting

Pre-scrutiny should be encouraged but direct and regular
face-to-face contact between those writing the Business
Cases and those providing comment upon them and
advising those who will grant approval is essential.

Urgent
by end March 2019

The Regional Office should be designated as a Portfolio
Management Office, leavening their skills with
experienced Portfolio/Programme/Project Management
(P3M) specialists.

Important
by end June 2019

The City Team should (with the support of the Welsh
Government Assurance Hub and IPA as necessary) put
in place a best practice Integrated Assurance and
Approval Plan (IAAP) for the Portfolio. All parties should
specifically consider the OGC Gateway™ Review
process as a key part of that plan.

Important
by end March 2019

Under the chair of the JSC each SBCD board should
consider the TORs and ways of working of each to
ensure that they work as intended. In doing so they
should take account of this review and of the outcome of
the audits currently being undertaken.

Important
by end March 2019

A Portfolio Director should be appointed before May
2019 to ensure continuity of Swansea Bay City Deal
leadership and independent authoritative advice to the
Boards.

Urgent
by end April 2019

The SBCD should be managed as a Portfolio not as a
set of predetermined and immutable projects.

Important
by end June 2019

For Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront, the two business
cases which we consider are close to final approval,
senior UK Government and Welsh Government and
Local Authority officials should aim to reach a swift
conclusion to ensure that funding can flow as needed.

Immediate

Pagei

Ry
»

Page 18

PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting
Addressee
‘ Name Date
Prepared by Actica Consulting
24/02/2019
Delivered to UK and Welsh Governments 26/02/2019
Dann 17
Fage 19 rayc 11

PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

List of Contents

Executive Summary

Addressee iiii
1 Introduction 1
1.1  Scope of the Review 1
1.2  Methodology and Approach 1
1.3 Considerations 2
2 Background to this Review 3
2.1 The Swansea Bay City Region Deal 3
2.2 Timeline 3
3 Review Observations, Analysis, Key Findings and Recommendations 5
3.1 Introduction 5
3.2 Progress 5
3.3  Project Approval Process — Governance and Assurance 6
3.4 Swansea Bay City Deal Governance 9
3.5 Swansea Bay City Deal Business Cases 11
3.6 Swansea Bay Future Programme delivery capability 12
3.7 Way Forward 13
A Confidence in the Deliverability of Planned SBCD Outcomes 14
Page18 Page 20
Pageiv 2 ¢ PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

INTENTIONALLY BLANK

PC828D002 v1.0

Page 2T



Page 20 Page 22



ACTICA

consulting

1.1

111

1.1.2

1.1.3

1.1.4

1.1.5

1.2

1.2.1

1.2.2

1.2.3

Introduction

Scope of the Review

In January 2019, Actica Consulting Ltd was commissioned jointly by the Welsh and UK
Governments to undertake a rapid, independently led, joint Government Review of the
arrangements for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea Bay City Deal. The main focus of the
review was:

a. The alignment of the constituent projects to the overall strategic objectives of the City
Deal, to ensure that the benefits can be realised.

b. The overall risks to delivery of the City Deal, including the appropriateness and
deliverability of the constituent projects, in particular focussing on those that have
started their delivery lifecycle as the first tranche of projects.

c. The interactions between the Joint Committee and City Deal governance structures with
the regional governance structures to make recommendations on the provision of
robust assurance.

d. The overall due diligence practices in operation on the first tranche of projects and
whether these have received the appropriate level of financial assurance.

The Review was to deliver a joint report to both Governments within six working weeks,
recognising a balance between urgency and comprehensiveness.

The Review Team was asked to make any recommendations that would improve the
deliverability of the outcomes of the Deal.

It was noted that whilst the Review should provide specific recommendations for action, all
final decisions would rest with Ministers or the Joint Committee as appropriate.

Finally, the Review Team was informed that the development of the Business Cases,
recommendation of any individual Business Case for release of funding or consideration of
alternative projects was out of scope.

Methodology and Approach

The Review Team adopted a three-stage approach based on proven well established
independent peer review techniques, consisting of Discovery, Analysis and Output phases.

Discovery: A period of learning and engagement consisting of an Initiation meeting, pre-
reading of programme documentation and Interviews with Stakeholders.

Analysis: A period of reflection on the findings of Discovery, cross-referencing the interview
evidence with a thorough assessment of the documented processes and procedures to
eliminate any biases or blind spots. This analysis was also to reflect upon the practical delivery
of the programme outcomes and the governance.

PC828D002 v1.0

Page 23



ACTICA

consulting

1.2.4

1.2.5

13

1.3.1

1.3.2

133

134

Output: The compilation of the findings and recommendations into a report based around the
key questions laid out in the Terms of Reference, with the final report issued at Ministerial
level.

It is important to note that the final report is an evidence-based snapshot of the programmes’
status at the time of the review.

Considerations

The Review’s conclusions and recommendations need to be understood and taken within the
context of its constrained scope and methodology and the limited due diligence possible in the
available timescales. Its Recommendations are graded ‘Immediate’ (do now), ‘Urgent’ (do
by..), and ‘Important’ (do by..). To ensure focus we have limited the number of
recommendations. There are a number of incremental improvements and some implied
recommendations within the report which we would expect the Portfolio Director and an
appropriately experienced team to take forward as a matter of normal business.

The Review Team would like to thank all of the stakeholders who attended for interview for
their support and openness, which contributed to the Review Team’s understanding of the
Programme and the outcome of this Review. Particular thanks go to the Swansea Bay City
Deal Regional Office Secretariat for managing the key logistics for the review and coordinating
the Regional interview process.

It is important to note that this report looks forward rather than back and focuses on the
lessons learned (and hence actions that could be taken) by all parties to move the City Deal
Forward. Suggestions for improvement by Stakeholders, reflecting their recent experience of
the City Deal, have informed our recommendations.

The Review Team would also like to make it clear that this is an independent and objective
review, not an audit. It does not, in any way, consider any implications arising from the recent
publicity around the Life Science & Wellness Village programme, which is subject to internal
audit by the University, the Local Authorities and to an external audit by the Wales Audit
Office.

Page 24
age PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

2.1

2.1.1

2.1.2

2.1.3

2.1.4

2.1.5

2.2

2.2.1

2.2.2

Background to this Review

The Swansea Bay City Region Deal

The Swansea Bay City Region is a critically important driver for the Welsh and UK economy. It
is a region with strong urban centres complemented by a wider rural landscape and a
significant coastal footprint that has created a diverse economic profile with numerous
opportunities and challenges.

This City Deal aims to provide the region and its partners with the new ways of working and
resources to unlock significant economic growth across the Swansea Bay City Region. Itis a
Deal where both Welsh and UK Governments have committed to jointly invest, subject to the
submission and approval of full business cases in relation to the eleven identified projects and
the agreement of governance arrangements for the deal. This is made up of £241 million of
government funding which is intended to unlock other private and public sector funds on
specific interventions which seek to support and further build on the region’s strengths which
include health, energy and manufacturing sectors and are underpinned by a world-class digital
infrastructure, successful universities and innovative health boards. The City Deal is structured
around eleven project proposals, set against four themes, with major investment in the
region’s digital infrastructure and workforce, skills and talent underpinning each.

The Deal provides an opportunity to continue tackling the area’s barriers to economic growth
through: developing higher value sectors and higher value employment opportunities to
match; increasing the number of businesses within these sectors to widen the economic base;
and improving the region’s Gross Value Add level against the UK average.

As well as taking forward projects and programmes to drive economic growth, the City Deal
commits local leaders and partners to implementing effective leadership across the City
Region. In agreeing this deal, the four local authority leaders across the Swansea Bay City
Region have agreed to create and have setup a regional Economic Strategy Board and a Joint
Committee to oversee the delivery of this City Deal.

Local partners within the Swansea Bay City Region estimate that this City Deal will lead to:

a. Funding of nearly £1.3 billion for interventions to support economic growth;

b. Over £600 million of direct private sector investment leveraged to deliver interventions;

C. Investment spread across the whole of the region to ensure all localities and citizens can
benefit;

d. An overall increase to the economy of over 9,000 gross direct jobs;

e. A contribution to regional GVA of £1.8 billion.

Timeline

Swansea Bay City Region Board published its vision document ‘An Internet Coast’ in February
2016. Shortly afterwards the Welsh and UK Governments opened negotiations on a City Deal

for the region in March 2016.

On 20" March 2017 the Heads of Terms for the £1.3bn City Deal were signed. This document
provided the foundations for the City Deal and confirmed the joint commitment among the

Page 25

PC828D002 v1.0 Page 3



ACTICA

consulting

2.2.3

2.24

2.2.5

2.2.6

2.2.7

four local authorities and the Welsh and UK Governments to ensure full implementation of the
Swansea Bay City Region City Deal. This was subject to funding conditions set by Government
being met. The Heads of Terms document also referenced a wider suite of control and
governance documents, laying the foundations for the City Deal.

Over the next 15 years, the City Deal aims to boost the local economy by £1.8bn. It will be
underpinned by £125.4m Welsh Government funding, £115.6m of UK Government funding,
£396m from the four local authorities and other public sector bodies in the region together
with £637m from the private sector.

In July 2018, all four local authorities approved their Joint Committee Agreement. This legal
agreement establishes the key governance structures such as the Joint Committee, the
Economic Strategy Board and Scrutiny Committee and commits the four local authorities to
work together over the 15 years of the Deal.

The Regional Office was established using staff redeployed from Carmarthen County Council
(CCC) to provide a secretariat function. The Office also provide this function for CCC projects
without the Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD).

The provision of Government funding is subject to the agreement of governance arrangements
for the Deal and the submission and approval of full business cases in relation to the eleven
identified projects, as was set out in the Heads of Terms. To date none have been submitted
formally.

In January 2019, the rapid, independently led, joint Government Review of the arrangements
for the delivery of the £1.3bn Swansea Bay City Deal was commissioned: the outcome of which
is this report.

A
- Page Z6b
9 PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

3.1

3.11

3.1.2

3.1.3

3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

Review Observations, Analysis, Key Findings and
Recommendations

Introduction

This section summarises the Review Team’s Key Observations following stakeholder
interviews, along with specific recommendations on how to move the programme forward.

The Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD) Portfolio is currently faced with the following issues:

a. A perception that the Portfolio is not making sufficient progress since the Heads of
Terms were signed on 20" March 2017;

b. Events have called into question governance and have led to wider concerns regarding
assurance and confidence in the Region’s ability to deliver the anticipated outcomes;

c. Local Authorities will incur, on programmes already started in good faith, unanticipated
borrowing costs and greater restrictions on their borrowing next year if Government
funding is not made available as expected.

Consequently, both Governments, who remain committed to the success of the Deal, seek
practical recommendations that may be implemented in the short/medium term.

Progress

The Review Team found that there is a view that progress of the SBCD has been unduly slow in
comparison with other city deals in Wales. Some have expressed a view that the Heads of
Terms were perhaps immature compared to those agreed subsequently; others have argued
that they were only ever meant to be a loose framework. We have heard that the signing of
the Heads of Terms was preceded by volatility in the City Deal management team and this
caused a hiatus post signing which impacted on the drawing up of the Joint Committee
Agreement (JCA). The construction of this deal is different from earlier city deals. It is project-
based, with each project requiring the approval of both UK and Welsh Governments. This
additional approval level has added a level of due diligence and a demand for assurance which
the SBCD has found difficult to supply and consequently the relationship between the City Deal
and the two Governments has suffered. We note that in later City Deals, certainly where they
have been centred on one urban centre, quicker progress has been made.

Since the Heads of Terms was signed by all parties on 20" March 2017 in Swansea, the
participants in the City Deal (the four Local Authorities, the two Health Bodies, and two
Universities) together with the two Governments have, under a JCA, set in place a Governance
regime that is acceptable to them all. This includes the establishment of the Regional
committees - Joint Committee (JC), Economic Strategy Board (ESB) and Programme Board
(PgBd) - and the appointment of individuals to key posts. In parallel, the parties at the sub-
regional level were crafting the final shape of individual projects and obtaining a bespoke
combination of various public and private funding streams: each of which requires negotiation
with, and agreement by, individual bodies with their own approval process. As the projects
matured, the Local Authorities have been leading on the construction of a Business Case for
each project that is acceptable to the Regional Committees and both Governments.

PC828D002 v1.0

Page 27



ACTICA

consulting

3.2.3

3.24

33

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.34

3.3.5

The JC and ESB have met formally five times and three times respectively, with the last two
meetings approving three of the eleven projects. These projects still require the agreement of
the two Governments and of the lead Local Authority.

The Review Team considers that, whilst there might have been a desire to progress faster, it is
understandable that four Local Authorities, working with two Universities and two Local
Health Boards would spend 17 months setting up and staffing the SBCD management and
financial structure.

Project Approval Process — Governance and Assurance

The process by which Business Cases are presented formally to the two Governments does, as
mentioned above, appear to have presented all concerned with difficulties: particularly when
the approval process was placed under severe pressure by the perceived need to gain approval
urgently in order to release funds quickly.

The presentation of a Five Case Business Case model - in line with HMT ‘Green Book’
guidance - to the two Governments is an implied requirement of this City Deal. It is not clear
to the Review Team when this became clear to the City Deal participants. While the Local
Authorities and the Regional Office are familiar with raising cases for European, Lottery and
Welsh Government grant funding, the requirements of the ‘Five Case Model’ appear to have
been less well understood.

Concerns regarding the progress of business cases arose and led to a decision by the Welsh
and UK Governments to supply training and support. This was we understand helpful, but we
would argue there is no substitute for expertise and experience when drafting an appropriate
case which is proportional to the scope and risk of the project. The two Governments also
offered to receive draft copies of the Business Cases for circulation to officials within their
Departments before formal submission. This pre-scrutiny approach is used by many Central
and Devolved Government Departments to ensure a smooth path to the formal approval of a
Business Case.

In this situation it did not work well: there was a lack of understanding of the process at the
Regional and sub region level who appear not to have had sufficient clarity and transparency
regarding the approvals procedures to be followed between SBCD and Welsh/UK
Governments. Some business cases were sent for pre-scrutiny through the Regional Office,
whereas others were sent, out of process, direct from a Local Authority. We understand that
on receipt by Welsh/UK Governments, the business cases were distributed to all those Groups
or Departments with a policy interest. Comments received from those Departmental officials
were collated and returned. Because the formal response on the submission was made only
when all officials had responded, the collated response sometimes took months to issue. In
one case the response took three months to return as an e-mailed matrix with a large number
of comments reflecting individual opinions that did not appear to have been triaged,
coordinated or prioritised. This caused frustration and distrust.

We understand that for other City deals in other regions of the UK there is a strong face-to-
face relationship between the Programme Management Office (PMO) and relevant projects
teams from the Region with the UK Government Ministry of Housing, Communities and local
Government (MHCLG) and tightly focused pre-scrutiny business cases meetings (‘Business Case
Working Groups’) are a regular occurrence. This has not been the case with SBCD. A few very
large meetings between parties were held in the autumn but these did not seem to move the

P p4
age <6 PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

3.3.6

3.3.7

3.3.8

3.3.9

3.3.10

projects forward, leaving the Region and the project teams reliant on the emailed comments
from individual policy areas. Some of the comments were along the lines of “it would be
beneficial to the case if the connection was made to XYZ policy”. These were not fundamental
to the strength of the Business Case: they served only to influence the quality of the text
rather than addressing quantitative programme/project Cost, Time, Performance, and Risk
issues. The Review Team also observed that, while attention was focused on the main text of
the business case, key annexes received less attention: for example, the Review Team saw no
evidence that a critical missing annex on Benefits Management was flagged. Consequently
‘final’ but incomplete Full Business Cases (FBCs) have been approved by the JC and formally
submitted to the Approving authority. This is not good practice, and has led to a position
where the Business Cases lack important underpinning information regarding benefits, risk etc.
We would expect that such information would inform the quantitative aspects of the Full
Business Case.

However, it is important to note that there were also some very pertinent and constructive
points around financial treatment which should have been identified by the SBCD and
addressed during an earlier stage in the normal course of business case development. The
projects should have been challenged by the Regional Office but they were not. This is we
think a window to the source of the real problem - namely the nature of the Regional Office.

Many consider the Regional Office to be Programme Management Office (PMO). It is not, it is
primarily a Secretariat. It does not include Portfolio/Programme/Management (P3M)
specialists. This a major issue because it cannot operate as a centre of excellence with the
opportunities to learn lessons for the portfolio as a whole, or provide Portfolio/Programme
Management support and assurance (without recourse to external support), or give
independent briefing to the City Deal Boards. As a result, the Regional Office is unable to fulfil
the role that many assume it has. A combination of its inability to provide a regional tier of
support advice and assurance combined with confusion over its role has been at the heart of
much of the unease we have heard expressed regarding progress. There needs to be an
authoritative tier of assurance and support to the individual programmes and also to the
decision-making boards. We believe that a reconstituted P3M office with strong professional
and independent leadership is key to delivery. The regional organisation would require
additional funding to offer full PMO services. As confidence is built this will satisfy much of the
two governments need for assurance and the need for extensive government involvement in
the detail will reduce.

Expectations of the parties regarding the pre-scrutiny and actual scrutiny procedures were also
different. This combined with a disjointed process led to misunderstandings, delay, frustration,
and blame. Pre-scrutiny is good practice but the process needs to be transparent,
collaborative, and intelligently managed.

In summary, the expectations of those providing the business cases for pre-scrutiny were not
aligned with those receiving them. The attempt to solve the issue of a lack of expertise and
experience at the Regional level by circulation of the business cases for comment by the
Governments was not effective and probably could not be in the absence of a Regional PMO.

Collaborative work is needed between the SBCD members and Welsh/UK Governments to
improve the Approvals process and especially the value-add of pre-scrutiny activities. The
Review Team understands responsibility for City Deals is being transferred to the Economy,
Skills & Natural Resources Department under the Deputy Director in Welsh Government. The
Review Team supports the change as this moves responsibility from a policy-focused area into

Danao 207
Fage 29 rayc i

PC828D002 v1.0 Page 7



ACTICA

consulting

3.3.11

3.3.12

a delivery-focused area. However, we do have a concern that this transfer, and the
concomitant reorganisation, will be a distraction for the approval of two Business Cases that
are very close to being finalised

The desire to spend the Governments ‘in year funding’ for FY 2018/19, coupled with the need
to ensure that time-sensitive European funding is ‘locked in’ to individual projects has placed a
severe time pressure on the projects and the approval bodies. Meetings of the Regional
committees have taken place ‘back to back’ to maintain pace and incomplete business cases
have been provided to the boards without prior circulation. Boards were not given adequate
time to read and understand the proposals adequately nor were they provided with
independent expert advice on those cases. They were therefore not in a position to provide a
level of challenge which we would normally expect. We also have a concern that such a
detailed (but arm’s length) level of scrutiny by the two Governments sent the wrong message
to the SBCD, giving the JC a licence to approve the business cases swiftly on the understanding
that the two Governments were generally satisfied with them.

Recommendation 1: Pre-scrutiny should be encouraged, but direct and regular face-to-face
contact between those writing the Business Cases and those providing comment upon it
and advising those who will grant approval is essential. (URGENT - by end March 2019)

Recommendation 2: The Regional Office should be designated as a Portfolio Management
Office, leavening their skills with experienced Portfolio/Programme/Project Management
(P3M) specialists. (IMPORTANT by end June 2019)

The Review Team found no evidence that the City Deal has an Integrated Assurance and
Approval Plan (IAAP). This would be good practice. As would the application of the OGC
Gateway™ Review process. This internationally recognised process exists to provide
Governments and Departments with external assurance, and has been used successfully by the
Welsh Government on both its own and Local Authority major infrastructure projects (e.g.
Vibrant and Viable Places, 21 Century schools) through its Assurance Hub. However, the
Review Team was unable to establish any evidence that it had been used anywhere within the
SBCD portfolio to date. Reviews can be organised by the Welsh Government Assurance Hub,
ideally in line with an IAAP but if necessary, at relatively short notice. Amongst other things,
this would provide the Welsh/UK Governments with an independent and objective Delivery
Confidence Assessment per SBCD programme/project, or indeed of the SBCD portfolio overall.
As a minimum the approach is valuable at key Approval points (such as OBC, FBC) but offers
maximum benefits when used throughout the lifecycle. Peer Reviews also offer the
opportunity for those engaged on other more progressed City deals nationwide to share
knowledge. We would see the responsibility for this lying with the Regional Office.

|J
age 30 PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

3.4

34.1

3.4.2

3.4.3

Recommendation 3 The City Team should with the support of the Welsh Government
Assurance Hub and IPA as necessary put in place a best practice Integrated Assurance and
Approval Plan (IAAP) for the Portfolio. All parties should specifically consider the OGC
Gateway™ Review process as a key part of that plan. (IMPORTANT - by end March 2019)

Swansea Bay City Deal Governance

The Review Team notes that the recent governance concerns regarding the Life Science &
Wellness Village programme have been addressed by all parties. This issue has been given a
high priority by the Region who assembled the Joint Scrutiny Committee in December 2018
and have appointed an internal regional audit team with members from the four Local
Authorities to investigate. The University is carrying out an investigation and the Welsh Audit
Office has also initiated an inquiry. We recognise that the restoration of public confidence
may take some time. That said, the Review Team notes that the current publicity surrounds
the alleged actions of individuals. As yet we have not heard evidence that these allegations
undermine the business fundamentals of that particular project and certainly, we believe
should not undermine delivery of SBCD outcomes as a whole. We suggest that the
implementation of the recommendations we make within this report, supplemented by any
audit findings, should provide a basis for confidence in future governance.

The ways of working of the committees are still evolving. We have discussed options with
members but we do not feel it would be helpful at this stage for us to direct them to a
solution - particularly with the results of the audit investigations awaited. We have a view that
for the efficient conduct of business, smaller committees are better than larger ones and that
it would be best not to duplicate membership. We are concerned that the level of challenge
within the City Deal is low, in particular that there is no incentive for members of the JC to
robustly test each other’s proposals. Where one committee advises another there should be
time and space between those committees for that advice to be considered and discussed as
needed. Furthermore, an approval audit trail is currently established through examination of
the various approving committees’ meeting minutes. It might be simpler and more
transparent for each FBC to have an accompanying Approvals Sheet to be signed and dated by
the authorised persons.

Finally given the scarce resource of the ESB we believe that their time considering strategic
issues should not be diluted by the detailed consideration of final business cases. Rather, their
role should be focused, as we understand was originally intended, on identifying opportunities,
and providing private sector insight and advice.

Recommendation 4: Under the chair of the JSC each SBCD board should consider the TORs
and ways of working of each to ensure that they work as intended. In doing so they should
take account of this review and of the outcome of the audits currently being undertaken.
(IMPORTANT - by end March 2019)

PC828D002 v1.0

Page 3T



ACTICA

consulting

3.4.4

3.45

It is our view that the appointment of an independent Portfolio Director (PfD) supported by a
Regional Office will be better able than the current arrangements to support projects through
a combination of advice and appropriate challenge and, importantly, ensuring that all
committee members are well informed. The CEO of Carmarthenshire is to retire in the
summer of 2019. Heavily involved in driving its inception and supporting it since, he has been
highly prominent within SBCD for some years. We suggest therefore that his departure
provides an opportunity to appoint a PfD for the SBCD with equal status to the four Local
Authority Chief Executives. We suggest that the PfD should report to the JC and in turn be
responsible for the Regional Office team (a PfMO in line with Recommendation 1 above). The
‘person specification’ for such a PfD would need to be carefully considered by the JC and the
ESB. Clearly, they would need solid P3M skills and a track record of delivering major public-
private programmes. They would also need to be able to command respect in the Local
Authorities, Central Government and the Private Sector alike.

Recommendation 5: A Portfolio Director should be appointed before May 2019 to ensure
continuity of Swansea Bay City Deal leadership and independent authoritative advice to the
Boards. (URGENT - by end April 2019)

The SBCD is seen by many as a Programme containing a set of predetermined immutable
projects with perhaps some synergistic relationships and dependences which taken together
deliver an outcome (jobs/GVA). This view carries the danger that projects agreed years ago
may not offer the best prospects today (or tomorrow). There is a danger of stagnation and
missing out on new opportunities. We would suggest that it is better to look at the SBCD as a
portfolio with programmes (and projects) kept under review with funding switched to those
considered most likely to deliver the agreed outcome(s). In this scenario we would expect
some individual programmes and projects to fall away as other more worthy programmes
were identified and prioritised. This is a healthy process. The ESB could play a key role in
actively seeking and identifying new projects and supporting the SBCD team in evaluating
respective benefits. Overall, we believe that this approach offers the best chance to deliver
the intended outcomes. We would also expect such competition to increase the level of robust
challenge to business cases which would incidentally be beneficial in providing an increased
level of due diligence and assurance. The Heads of Terms allows for this approach but the
opportunity has been downplayed.

Recommendation 6: The SBCD should be managed as a Portfolio not as a set of
predetermined and immutable projects. (IMPORTANT by end June 2019)

P 4
age s PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

3.5.3

Swansea Bay City Deal Business Cases

There are two business cases Yr Egin (Creative Digital Cluster) and Swansea Waterfront where
we detect the parties are close to an agreement. Having undertaken a deep-dive into their
status, they are in our view broadly fit for purpose, have been approved by the Region and
formally submitted to the Governments (although we understand that for reasons of
(in)completeness they have been withdrawn and will be resubmitted).

Our understanding of the current status of these two business cases is provided in the table
below:

ITEM YR EGIN FBC SWANSEA WATERFRONT
FBC
VERSION NUMBER V9.6 V18
DATE 3 Aug 2018 28 Nov 18
ESB Review 8 Nov 18 ESB Review 8 Nov 18
APPROVALS PgBd Review 22 Nov 18 PgBd Review 22 Nov 18
JC Review 22 Nov 18 JC Review 22 Nov 18
STRATEGIC CASE Complete Complete
ECONOMIC CASE Complete Complete
COMMERCIAL CASE Complete Complete
FINANCIAL CASE Complete Complete
MANAGEMENT CASE Complete Complete
OPTIMISM BIAS 10% but a very round figure | 10% but a very round figure
RISK MANAGEMENT 5x§ es.timation but morg 5x.5 es.timation but nl“lort.e
qualitative than quantitative | qualitative than quantitative
Cross-references blank No obvious blanks, but does
GENERAL COMPLETENESS Missing template elements not address all best practice
No IAAP aspects e.g. IAAP
KEY MISSING APPENDICES | DMefits R‘Egr'::r "€ 1 Benefits Register - not seen

For these two business cases, which we consider are close to agreement, senior UK
Government and Welsh Government and LA officials with the authority to ‘do a deal’ should
meet in one location and together with appropriate experts address any substantive issues
aiming to reach a swift conclusion. This meeting should be independently chaired and
minuted by the Regional Organisation to both record agreements and take note of agreed
actions, those individuals tasked and the required date recorded. The Accounting Officers’
responsibilities for financial regularity and commercial propriety need to be satisfied.
However, we suggest that this could be achieved with careful and appropriate use of a
caveated Approval (e.g. a phased funding release to award SBCD FY 2018/19’s and possibly
some of FY 2019/20’s funding) on the proviso that SBCD work with the two Governments to
instigate a good practice approach to, for example, benefits management, within a specified
timeframe and to apply this learning to later Tranches of work. We would suggest that the
absence of important but essentially technical components of Five Case Business Cases can be
worked through jointly: particularly where the expertise and experience currently lie with
Governments (such as the approach to monitoring benefits including sustainable job creation).

o 21
[©Ju N

Pa¥al
Page 33 age

PC828D002 v1.0 Page 11



ACTICA

consulting

3.54

3.5.5

3.6

3.6.1

3.6.2

3.6.3

The release of funding in future might also be tied to delivering the recommendations of this
report.

In summary a collaborative approach should be applied in future to ensure that the intention
of the Heads of Terms is upheld. If it is not possible to deliver some elements of otherwise
viable business cases before the end of this financial year, immediate consideration should be
given to a conditional release of funds. This would be concomitant on all parties working
collaboratively to reach an agreed position on benefits modelling and monitoring.

Recommendation 7: For Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront, the two business cases which we
consider are close to final approval, senior UK Government and Welsh Government and
Local Authority officials should aim to reach a swift conclusion to ensure that funding can
flow as needed. (IMMEDIATE)

Annex A specifically looks at the Review Teams assessment of the deliverability of the planned
Swansea Bay City Deal Outcomes and the status of the 11 programmes and projects as a
whole.

Swansea Bay Future Programme delivery capability

The majority of the stakeholders interviewed were enthusiastic about the SBCD and the
opportunities it offers for the people in the area. Governments remain solidly behind it.
Notwithstanding our concerns, regarding the lack of PPM expertise and experience of the
Regional Office mentioned above, the Review Team was struck by the high calibre of those
people responsible for its successful delivery and in particular by those who are involved in its
development and support without remuneration. Equally, the Local Authorities and other
public bodies in the SBCD area have demonstrated that they have the capability to deliver
substantial projects: whether this be Local Authorities under the Government-led 21* Century
Schools or Vibrant and Viable Places programmes; or locally driven schemes involving multiple
sources of funding and interests. Local Authorities are well-experienced in delivery of
infrastructure projects. Health and Education institutions likewise have delivered major
infrastructure schemes over many years. Where they have less experience is in the
programmatic aspects of long-term benefits management within the transformation
programmes that such infrastructure projects enable. This may be why benefits management
appears to be presenting a problem for them.

The Review Team considers that SBCD can, provided our recommendations are followed,
deliver on the broad promises set out in the Heads of Terms in March 2017. It is not possible
to say whether these activities will deliver the full economic benefit aspired to and
underpinned by the original economic model. The SBCD offers an opportunity to maintain
partnership working in the region and expand upon it. There is an opportunity to stimulate the
local economy and create sustainable jobs. The eight partners have a good track record of
regeneration and building infrastructure and have the necessary capabilities to deliver it. The
Government funding is not large but it is significant. It is required to build confidence and to
leverage private funding and collaboration. There are large benefits on offer for the people in
the region although the specific value is yet to be confirmed.

In order to deliver the intended benefits, the SBCD needs to keep its cohesion, which does face
a number of risks. For example: a combination of concerns over funding and of the much-

laVa Fal
agt—>z Page 34

PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

3.7

3.7.1

3.7.2

3.7.3

3.74

3.7.5

publicised concerns on the Wellness Village could cause a loss of confidence within the Region;
or the loss of a key Local Authority partner could prove severely damaging to confidence of
non-public partners. In this context, real progress must be demonstrated and we suggest that
the time for exchange of emails and revised business cases has passed. The approval of at
least some projects this year is critical both financially and to build confidence. The financial
risk to the two Governments is minimal because of the way the SBCD is structured and a
failure to meet specified conditions can result in the withdrawal of funds. Some Local
Authorities are already financially exposed, having borrowed funds to commence projects at
risk, while others could lose critical funding streams if the Government funding fails to
materialise in a timely manner. The aim should therefore be to release funds in this financial
year.

Way Forward

We have outlined above our key recommendations but here we summarise them in
chronological order. The most important is that the Regional Office be reconfigured as a
P3MO with a strong and independent leadership.

To demonstrate Government commitment in the short-term funding must be seen to flow. A
way of achieving that while managing the issues and risks through collaboration must be
found.

In the medium term the parties to the agreement need to continue this collaboration. Greater
delivery professionalism is needed at the Regional level to ensure that all parties speak the
same language. To a large extent these two things go together. The Welsh Government have
made an important start in reassigning the responsibility for City Deals in Wales to a delivery
focused department. The Region must step up likewise and ensure that the Regional Office
has the authority, the experience and the expertise to broker a strong professional relationship
with that department and the UKG’s MHCLG.

Concerns over governance and assurance must be addressed. We have made a number of
proposals and these will need to be considered with the outcome of the various ongoing
audits. All parties need to cooperate proactively to ensure that a process is developed and
behaviours are such that all can have confidence in the Region’s ability to manage the
substantial funds available to City Deal. We believe that a reconstituted PfMO with strong
professional and independent leadership is key to this because it will provide an authoritative
tier of assurance and support to the individual programmes and to the decision-making
boards. An IAAP will give structure to the assurance approach. As confidence is built this will
satisfy much of the two Governments’ need for assurance and they can draw back from the
detail.

In the longer term the SBCD should seek to run the programmes within a portfolio and identify
other programmes for it using the ESB as a fulcrum to lever positive benefits for the region.

PC828D002 v1.0

Page 35



ACTICA

consulting

Al1

A.1.2

Al3

Al4

A.1l5

A.l6

Al.7

Confidence in the Deliverability of Planned SBCD
Outcomes

This Annex specifically looks at the Review Team’s assessment of the deliverability of the
planned Swansea Bay City Deal Outcomes as a whole.

This assessment found that there is no clear Portfolio/Programme Mandate for the SBCD that
identifies required outcomes, dependencies, timelines, constraints, risks etc. The nearest
available document to a Mandate is the Heads of Terms (signed by senior political leaders) that
lists the SBCD’s 11 constituent projects and suggests that the anticipated SBCD investment
(Central Government, Local Government, and Private Investment) would support the creation
of over 9,000 additional jobs (i.e. 3% over the current 302,000) and contribute to increasing
GVA by £1.8 billion. The Heads of Terms further commits the Welsh/UK Governments to up to
£241M of direct funding over 15 years but is silent regarding spend profile.

Since the Heads of Terms new-job/GVA outcomes were based upon the SOBCs/OBCs available
at the time, and in many cases nothing has changed regarding individual projects since then, it
is difficult for the Review Team to gainsay it based on the available information.

All parties were taking a significant strategic risk when the SBCD was launched without any
Portfolio/Programme/Project Management (P3M) work having been done to establish the top-
level (top-down) plan, risks, issues, opportunities, benefits, resources etc. Best practice,
followed by a number of UK Government Departments and supported by the Infrastructure
and Projects Authority (IPA), would be to carry out a formal strategic assessment bringing
together those responsible for policy and those responsible for delivery. This is especially
critical when amongst the 11 projects there are 3 cross-cutting regional, notionally enabling
projects: Digital Infrastructure, Skills & Talent and Homes as Power Stations.

The Review Team has not seen the detailed economic models for each of the 11 Swansea Bay
City Deal Region projects so is not in any position to comment on the Heads of Terms assertion
(based on the 11 SOBCs/OBCs) that “The Swansea Bay City Region believes that this investment
will support the creation of over 9,000 additional jobs and contribute to increasing GVA by £1.8
billion”.

An alternative approach to assessing deliverability is to adopt a bottom-up approach and use
the IPA guidance on assessing Delivery Confidence against each of the 11 projects: assessing
delivery against the four dimensions of Time (vs Plan), Cost (vs Budget), Benefits Delivery (i.e.
Performance) and programmatic Process. Such a detailed appreciation was not practical
within the strict time-bounds of the review as each of the 11 projects approaching FBC
approval would be subject to a separate 3-day Gateway™ 3 Review by a team of 3 people.

The Review Team noted that all SOBCs/OBCs were very light on detailed planning, risk/issue
management and benefits management; however, that would not be surprising at this early
stage. The FBCs seen during the week of the Review (Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront) had
improved in this regard though were still immature regarding benefits management. The
Review Team has seen a Draft Benefits Register for Yr Egin which is a promising start, albeit
clearly a work in progress. The Review Team has not seen a Benefits Register for Swansea
Waterfront. The optimism bias @ 10% looks more like a contingency figure than an HMT
Green Book assessment. However, these projects (and certain other single Authority projects)
were proceeding, despite the lack of promised Welsh/UK Governments funding, at Project

A
- Page o6
9 PC828D002 v1.0



ACTICA

consulting

Partner risk thus maintaining planned timelines albeit at increasing financial exposure via
increased borrowing (incurring unbudgeted interest charges and concomitant cost risk).
Overall, the Review Team considers that Yr Egin and Swansea Waterfront would probably rate
an ‘Amber’ DCA which is typical for an infrastructure-enabled economic transformation
programme at the FBC stage of evolution. The balance of projects would be Red.

Page 37
PC828D002 v1.0 Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 38



Agenda Iltem 6

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE
SWANSEA BAY

City Deal

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION
JOINT COMMITTEE

28™ MARCH 2019

SWANSEA BAY CITY DEAL INTERNAL REVIEW OF GOVERNANCE
ARRANGEMENTS REPORT MARCH 2019

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To consider the report on the Swansea Bay City Deal Internal Review of Governance
Arrangements (attached at Appendix 1).

REASONS:

The Joint Committee at its meeting held on the 14t December 2018 unanimously resolved
that the Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Committee undertake an internal review into the
Swansea Bay City Deal governance arrangements, and that the review run in parallel with the
UK and Welsh Government Independent Review. It was agreed that Pembrokeshire County
Council would lead the Internal Review supported by a nominated Senior Auditor from
Carmarthenshire, Neath Port Talbot and Swansea Councils. The Joint Committee at its
meeting held on the 24th January 2019 noted the final Terms of Reference.

Report Author: Designation: Tel No. 01437 775841
lan Westley Chief Executive E. Mail:.
Pembrokeshire County Council | Chief.Executive@Pembrokeshire.
gov.uk
(- !
é;‘_ e Bir Gar E %
= Carmarchenshire : _é
Liuror RbertEne ﬁ-_w!'
:T—iﬂ;l W“m,;.: v, -.-x'l" i
E e D L
TR e SRuemon m%gm g Wl
& g Unma.e.t e Rl R iRt
%jlj/ Pritysol vy Page 37



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

Swansea Bay City Deal Internal Review of Governance Arrangements
Report March 2019

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT

To consider the report of the Swansea Bay City Deal Internal Review of Governance
Arrangements.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES
- ._: N
é;‘_ come i Gar S
= Carmarchenshire '1; .é
Laurqor ket parg g = _“_7:-
:Tfﬂ I o 1y e x""“

% Swansca F' I'}-_-'l.g'_'pl l:}'rnru e

. Universiry » i i Bt Lo b

@é@éﬁﬁl 5 i es NIE il
Page 40

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
E e
14 weshod ea = R iRk




IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and

Equalities

YES YES YES YES YES

1. Policy, Crime & Disorder and Equalities
As detailed within the report with respect to the Policy Framework.

2. Legal
As detailed within the report with respect to the Policy Framework.

3. Finance
As detailed within the report.

4. Risk Management
As detailed within the report.

5. Staffing Implications
As detailed within the report.

a 50
é;‘_ come i Gar n S
= Carmarchenshire .é

Loyror &b Eing
Swaneea Counicl \q""-',-'i E

T

udl-

rﬁ‘w Swansca

B UniversTy ﬂﬁ[.:';‘-‘ﬁ-‘n' ST (SAICT |2 e s i CID B Lo it
UG, Prigsol 5 L_Jp:lwuelntrnurhr'aes T et 5 é 39
s abertawe Page 41




CONSULTATIONS

See Appendix A within the report.

Meeting with Leaders 61" March 2019.
Meeting with Section 151 Officer 12t & 13t March 2019.

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document File Ref Locations that the papers are available for
No. public inspection/WEBSITE LINK

. o
Ny e Kir Gar S
-l Carmarchenshire : .é
Laurgor &E et e _-_w!'
Swrane=a Toui| \q""-',-": vl e ____,__.;.\"?L
___._.--l"'.-

% Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru e

; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: i Bt Lo b

é;& 5 qm 5 Urivsneily i s TN e
Trnpsalinead

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
e sl s
Iyvowrsh ol enc= s Rownd I\\II I.q



Swansea Bay City Deal
Internal Review of

Governance Arrangements

March 2019

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE
SWANSEA BAY

City Deal

Internal Review Team:

D0k, N

iSO% o Sir Gar B
) Carmarthenshire

Q <y c _.'\

00/;,:), 00““‘;‘

Pembrokeshire County Council (Lead & Report Author)

Neath-Port Talbot County Borough Council

L valbot Coyy,
Q0

$o S"fv ~ y&%
Carmarthenshire County Council 2 \(> % 4 n %
‘ £ :
® P———
i : 5, & %
City & County of Swansea Council % X & G T &
4 sip et S0l Cagtellned®

Page 43 Page 41




Executive Summary

1. Introduction & Background

1.1 Political Context

The UK Government’s Industrial Strategy identifies five Foundations and four Grand
Challenges to ensure that the UK takes advantage of major global trends to improve
productivity and the lives of people. City Deals are one of the main vehicles for driving
economic activity and growth within the UK and are aligned to the five foundations of the
UK Government’s Industrial Strategy, they are specific to each Region and aim to build on
the Region’s strengths.

City Deals in Wales support Welsh Governments longer-term approach to Public Sector
reform in Wales. Public Sector partnership arrangements already exist on various footprints
to support and improve the provision of services for Education and Social Services &
Wellbeing. The Heads of Terms signed by UK Government, Welsh Government and the
Leaders of the four Local Authorities on 21 March 2017, commits the Swansea Bay City
Region to working in partnership with Welsh Government to deliver local government
service reforms that will see a number of strategic functions delivered at the regional level.
The Joint Committee is required to keep under review the arrangements for discharging
local authority functions that might be mandated to be exercised regionally (e.g. land use
planning, transport planning and economic development).

Existing and future Government regeneration funding is expected to be based on a regional
working approach. A key feature of the Welsh Governments Targeted Regeneration
Investment Programme, which has been available to Local Authorities since April 2018, is
the identification of projects through regional working. The proposed UK Shared Prosperity
Fund is likely to award funding on the same basis.

1.2 Swansea Bay City Deal (SBCD)

The theme of the SBCD is the Internet Coast. There are four sub-themes, which are aligned
to the UK’s Industrial Strategy.

The Swansea Bay City Region covers Carmarthenshire, Swansea, Neath Port Talbot and
Pembrokeshire. The SBCD is a partnership between the four Local Authorities, Local Health
Boards, Universities and UK Government (UK) and Welsh Government (WG).

The four Local Authorities approved the Joint Committee Agreement (JCA) in July 2018 with
the first meeting of the Joint Committee held on 31 August 2018. Prior to this and since
2016, the Joint Committee and Programme Board operated in shadow. In addition to the
four Local Authorities, membership of the Joint Committee includes Swansea University,
University of Wales Trinity St Davids, Hywel Dda University Health Board and Abertawe Bro

Page | 2

Page 42 Page 44



Morgannwg University Health Board. In shadow form, the Joint Committee focused on
drafting the JCA, business plan development and negotiation with WG on interventions and
enabling actions to assist with delivery of the SBCD.

Eleven projects, representing a £1.274 Bn investment, are expected to be completed within
five years to secure maximum benefit for the Region. Government funding represents
£241m (19%) of the overall investment and will be paid over fifteen years to the
Accountable Body who will distribute to the partner Local Authorities on a yet to be agreed
basis. In order to deliver the SBCD Programme within five years, the four Local Authorities
will need to finance the Government funding through their own capital (or prudential
borrowing) or revenue funding, with payback over fifteen years. Investment of £396m (31%)
is required from the Public Sector and £637m (50%) is required from Private Sector
investment.

2. Purpose, Scope & Methodology of the Internal Review

As required by the Joint Committee, an Internal Review team made up of representatives
from the four Local Authorities Internal Audit Services formed to undertake an internal
review of the governance arrangements for the SBCD. This followed the suspension of
senior staff at Swansea University and potential links in relation to the Llanelli Life Science
and Wellbeing Village project, which forms part of the SBCD.

The purpose of the Internal Review is to provide assurance to the Joint Committee
(including co-opted Members and the wider Partnership), and identify areas for
improvement to ensure that the governance arrangements are robust and follow best
practice.

The Joint Committee approved the Terms of Reference for the Internal Review, which used
the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016 as a
basis for evaluating the effectiveness of the SBCD governance arrangements.

The Internal Review of the SBCD governance arrangements was an evidence-based
appraisal, which involved meetings or discussions with stakeholders, a review of supporting
documentation and an evaluation of the effectiveness of governance arrangements against
best practice.

Page | 3
Page 45 Page 43



3. Summary of Key Findings

3.1.

The investigation at Swansea University, its links with the Llanelli Life Science and
Wellbeing Village project and its subsequent referral to the police is having a
detrimental impact on partners within the SBCD and is eroding trust across the
partnership. However, all parties within the Partnership are committed to the
Partnership and the delivery of the Programme.

3.2.

The statutory roles and the majority of principal roles and functions within the
SBCD, as agreed within the JCA, are assigned to Carmarthenshire County Council
and should be more evenly distributed across the partnership. These include three
Statutory Roles (Head of Paid Service, Section 151 Officer and Monitoring Officer)
and several supporting roles including Chair of the Programme Board (Lead Chief
Executive), the Accountable Officer of the Regional Office function (Lead Chief
Executive), and Internal Audit. Only two appointments have been made to the
Regional Office - this function is largely resourced by Carmarthenshire County
Council’s staff, jointly funded by the SBCD partners in the sum of c£400k.

3.3.

Paragraph 55 within the Heads of Terms agreement states: “If the City Deal is not
delivered as set out in the implementation plan agreed by the Swansea Bay Joint
Committee, the Welsh Government and UK Government, or if any of the
commitments in this deal document are not fulfilled, the Governments will review
and may halt the payment of any unpaid funding for this deal.” This could present a
risk to the Programme for which there should be a contingency plan as
recommended in the National Assembly for Wales Economy, Infrastructure and
Skills Committee report on City Deals and the Regional Economies of Wales,
November 2017.

3.4.

At this early stage in the programme, there is a lack of certainty over the funding in
terms of how some aspects of both private and public sector funding will be
secured. However, a high level estimate of funding streams and costs for each of
the eleven projects is included within the draft Implementation Plan. Confidence
in where the funding will come from and when it will be received is a priority as
projects develop.

3.5.

The expected level of borrowing per Local Authority has not been established at this
point and this will have to be determined as a priority to ensure Local Authority
commitment and assurance. Local Authority funding arrangements have not been
resolved to date, but are likely to require multiple funding agreements between
partners and the Accountable Body; this may result in disproportionate effort and
the most pragmatic methods need to be agreed promptly.

3.6.

Interviewees stated that some of the local projects were planned and would have
been prioritised at Local Authority level but were included in the SBCD to access
funding. The SBCD should be seen as a Programme of 11 related projects that
deliver the vision of the Internet Coast on which SBCD was originally based.
Reliance on local policies and procedures along with approval and scrutiny of
projects at a Local Authority level detracts from the regionality of the SBCD.

3.7.

UK & WG have not approved the Implementation Plan. In order to approve the
Implementation Plan they require a Programme financial plan, an improved
Programme risk register and agreed prioritisation of projects.

Page | 4

Page 44 Page 46



3.8. | The iterative process requested by UK & WG to evaluate submitted emerging
business cases is not operating as intended, is undermining confidence in the SBCD
governance arrangments and resulting in further bureacracy. A review of the
emerging business cases submitted under the iterative process and feedback from
UK & WG identified that these business cases are submitted prematurely. Lack of
clarity on the econcomic, commercial and financial cases persists.Business cases
have been referred to Joint Committee for approval when a number of outstanding
issues raised by Government Officers have not been resolved. The adopted iterative
evaluation process was initially devised to prevent this.

3.9. | The Regional Office is not delivering the SBCD Delivery Team function as expected
by UK & WG. This has resulted in UK & WG undertaking checks that were expected
(by them) to be undertaken by the Regional Office. In the eyes of UK & WG, this is
undermining confidence in the SBCD governance process.

3.10| The governance functions (in relation to project approvals) identified in the JCA are
not operating as intended, however, they are being relied upon to provide
assurance to the Joint Committee. These functions must be strengthened.

3.11| Programme risk management is not effective. The Programme Risk Register is not
an up to date reflection of the risks to the Programme and is not considered by the
Joint Committee. Consideration hasn’t been given to the overall risk appetite for
the SBCD and how an effective risk management methodology can be delivered
across the Programme.

Page | 5
Page 47 Page 45



4. Conclusion & Suggestions for Improvement

In response to the summary of key findings arising from this review consideration should be
given to the following:

4.1.

Redistribution of roles and functions to ensure an equitable balance across the SBCD
Partnership, each acting as a check and balance for the other. (refer to 3.1 and 3.2)

4.2.

Appointment of an independent Programme Director, securing the independence of
the Lead Officer responsible for the Regional Office with a direct reporting line to the
Joint Committee. The officer undertaking this role must be of sufficient seniority and
capability to challenge and be challenged whilst remaining independent and
objective. To facilitate this, there should be separation between the roles of Head of
Paid Service (employer) and Lead Chief Executive (Chair of the Programme Board).
Reconsideration of the funding arrangement for the RO could enable the associated
costs to be contained within existing commitments. (refer to 3.1 and 3.2)

4.3.

The local approach to the delivery of the SBCD projects needs to take account of the
interdependencies across the Programme. Consideration should also be given to
contingency plans if Government funding is withdrawn at a later date. (refer to 3.1,
3.3,3.5and 3.6)

4.4,

The Implementation Plan needs to be revised so that delivery of the projects is
prioritised and approved by the Joint Committee. The Implementation Plan should
be supported by a clear Programme Financial Plan and Risk Register before being
resubmitted to UK & WG for approval. The Implementation Plan should form the
basis for monitoring delivery of the Programme. (refer to 3.4, 3.7 and 3.9)

4.5.

The Joint Committee, as a conduit for regeneration of the Region, needs to further
establish its own identity in terms of overarching standard operating principles,
values and expected practice. Key areas for consideration are highlighted within the
CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framework 2016
for such a Partnership and include:

o Agreed risk appetite of the Partnership

e Agreed risk management methodology;

e Establishing the ethical values and framework;

e Counter fraud, corruption & bribery procedures;

e Due diligence and anti-money laundering arrangements;

e Programme/project management methodology; and

e Overarching record of declarations of interest and offers of gifts and

hospitality by all Officers and Members. (refer to 3.1, 3.6 and 3.11)

4.6.

If the iterative process continues to cause a bottleneck once standards have been
addressed, then there should be an approach to UK & WG to reconsider the process
to eliminate disproportionate effort by all parties and to ensure that focus is on the
deliverability of outcomes and not only on the standard of written documents. The
relationship between individual LA’s, project leads, the Regional Office and UK and
WG’s should be recast to establish strict communication lines. Such communication is
currently inconsistent and is clearly contributing to confusion and delay. (refer to 3.8)

Page | 6

Page 46 Page 48



4.7.

The Programme Board, Economic Strategy Board (ESB) and Joint Committee should
receive written assurance (in a format to be agreed) that each business case
submitted for approval has been subject to the required checks and process as
defined within the JCA, including approval by the Lead Local Authority. This should
ensure that all comments from UK & WG have been addressed and concerns
highlighted by the ESB have been fully considered. There should be an evidence trail
to ensure all parties are held accountable. (refer to 3.10)

4.8.

The Regional Office, in its capacity as the SBCD Delivery Team should undertake
detailed checks prior to entering into the iterative process or submitting to
Programme Board and ESB, to ensure compliance with standard operating
principles/values and provide an overview of the outcome of these checks, in order
to provide independent assurance to the Programme Board and Joint Committee.
(refer to 3.9)

4.9.

Membership and remit of the Programme Board and ESB needs to be reconsidered:

a. The Programme Board needs to undertake detailed analysis of the
financial viability, deliverability and risks to the project. The Programme
Board should have detailed knowledge of the business cases and the
feedback from UK & Welsh Government to ensure that business cases are
of the standard and quality to be submitted for approval to Joint
Committee. Current membership includes the Chief Executives of the four
Local Authorities. Consideration should be given to the most suitable level
of Management to commit to Programme Board (possibly Director or
appropriate Head of Service ), consideration should be given to the
appearance of lead project officers to present the case.

b. The ESB membership needs to be streamlined to enable a well functioning
commercially minded appraisal function that is focused on identifying
further opportunities for the Region and attracting inward investment.
Current membership includes the Leaders of the four Local Authorities,
which seems unnecessary given the ESB report to the Joint Committee.
Consideration should be given to the membership of the ESB. There is an
opportunity for the ESB to provide UK & WG with the confidence that is
currently lacking around the commercial case; consideration could be
given to including a summary report from the ESB with the Full Business
Case submission. (refer to 3.10)

Page | 7
Page 49 Page 47




Detailed Findings

5. Overview of Good Governance Evaluation

The Governance Arrangements for the Swansea Bay City Deal have been reviewed against
the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local Government Framwework. The
diagram below illustrates the various principles of good governance in the public sector and
how they relate to each other.

Achieving Intended Outcomes While Acting in the Public Interest at all Times

- - C. Defining outcomes

in terms of sustainable
economic, social, and
environmental benefits

A. Behaving with
ntegrity, demonstrating
strong commitment to ethical
values, and respecting
the rule of law

F. Managing risks D. petermining the
and performance through B. Ensu s nterventions necessary
robust internal control to optimize the
and strong public stakeholder enga en achievement of the
financial management intended outcomes

\ Developlng the

entity's capacity,
including the capability
of its leadership and the
individuals within it

As the diagram demonstrates, the principles of good governance along with the behaviours
and actions that demonstrate good governance are intertwined, but are based on the two
fundamental principles:

A. Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and
respecting the rule of law;
B. Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

The detailed findings of the review are reported by exception and demonstrate the key
issues arising and suggestions for how they can be resolved.

Page | 8

Page 48 Page 50



6. Core Principle A

Behaving with integrity, demonstrating strong commitment to ethical values, and
respecting the rule of law.

Expected Actions & Behaviours: integrity; acting in the public interest; establishing &
embedding values or standard operating principles; establishing, monitoring &
maintaining agreed ethical values; commitment & adherence to rules and regulations; .
Areas for Improvement: values or standard operating principles need to be identified;
imbalance of power.

Standard Operating Principles/Values

There is a defined vision for the Region but the standard operating principles/values for the
delivery of the SBCD programme have not been identified. Projects are classed as local or
regional but the expected practice in delivering those projects is not explicit. The assumed
position within the Partnership is that the policies and procedures of the Project Lead
Authority will be adhered to and local projects will be subject to scrutiny by the constituent
Authority. There is no evidence that consideration has been given to the implications of this
approach, or how the Joint Committee will be provided with assurance that all expected
processes and procedures have been adhered to.

The Joint Committee forward work plan includes approval of a few overarching documents
for the Programme, but given that some projects are quite advanced and the Heads of
Terms was signed two years ago, these are late in development.

In addition to the overarching documents identified in the Joint Committee forward work
programme for approval at future meetings, consideration should be given to developing
the following:

e Risk Appetite and Risk Management Methodology for the SBCD;

e Ethical Framework — this is a high risk Programme and there needs to be clarity amongst
the Partnership over acceptable ethical practice, especially around the procurement of
private sector investment;

e Counter Fraud, Corruption & Bribery Arrangements;

e Due Diligence and Anti-Money Laundering Arrangements;

e Programme & Project Management Methodology.

A Co-opted Member Code of Conduct is in place and Local Authority Members and Officers
are expected to adhere to their own Local Authority Code of Conduct. The Regional Office
holds co-opted Member declarations of interest, but there was no evidence of declarations
of interest from all Local Authority Officers and Members. Other than holding and recording
the declarations of interest, there was no evidence that there had been any verification or
consideration of appropriateness by the Joint Committee.

Page | 9
Page 51 Page 49



Balance of Functions & Responsibilities

The Joint Committee Agreement places too much responsibility on Carmarthenshire County
Council and the Lead Chief Executive. It is expected that the Head of Paid Service as the
employer of the Regional Office will be the Principal Adviser and Accountable Officer
overseeing the work of the Regional Office, and as such will be the Lead Chief Executive. The
Lead Chief Executive is also the Chair of the Programme Board.

In addition, Carmarthenshire County Council also undertake the following roles:

e As Accountable Body, the statutory role of Section 151 Officer and the provision of the
Internal Audit service;

e Monitoring Officer;

e The statutory role of Head of Democratic Services is not defined within the JCA;
however, Carmarthenshire County Council’s Head of Democratic Services provides
support to the Joint Committee and Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council provides
support to the Joint Scrutiny Committee; The Regional Office provides support to the
Programme Board and the ESB.

7. Core Principle B

Ensuring openness and comprehensive stakeholder engagement.

Expected Actions & Behaviours: open culture based on trust; shared commitment for
change; acceptance or robust challenge; transparent decision-making; engagement and
consultation with all stakeholders.

Areas for Improvement: openness & transparency; creating a culture of trust and shared
commitment; identifying and effectively engaging with stakeholders.

Trust

It was evident through meetings with stakeholders that there is insufficient trust within the
Partnership. This is attributable to a number of issues, which are expanded on in further
detail within the report, however, the root causes are:

e Imbalance of power within the Partnership due to distribution of key roles;

e Lack of clarity from the JCA regarding expected practice (standard operating
principles/values);

e Lack of openness and transparency across the wider Partnership as projects are being
treated as local rather than regional.

Openness & Transparency

The Joint Committee meetings and the Joint Scrutiny Committee meetings are the two
public meetings within the SBCD governance process. As identified within the Terms of
Reference, the Joint Committee has ultimate responsibility and accountability for decisions
taken in relation to the SBCD. The format and conduct of the Joint Committee meetings was

Page | 10

Page 50 Page 52



discussed with Members and Officers that attend the Joint Committee meetings, key
observations include:

e Verbal updates provided

e Quick meetings which lack constructive debate and challenge

e Failure to provide the Joint Committee with accurate updates

e Lack of oversight of communications between the Regional Office and UK & WG

e Suspicion that some Members know more information than others

e Pre-meetings excluding the co-opted Members

e Reports provided at short notice

e Overload of information that cannot be effectively scrutinised prior to the meeting.

Areas that may be of particular interest to the public, such as business cases, are considered
in private session as there will be an element of commercial sensitivity. However, the
majority of the discussion could take place in open session as long as members of the Joint
Committee observe the rules of debate and reserve questions leading to commercial
sensitivity for private session discussions. Consideration could also be given to webcasting
these meetings to demonstrate the commitment to openness.

At the meeting on 22 November 2018, three business cases were presented to the Joint
Committee for approval for formal submission to UK & WG; however, evidence has been
obtained that these business cases ought not to have been presented to the Joint
Committee at that time based on the feedback from UK & WG (see Appendix B).
Discussions with SBCD Representatives, WG Officers and Ministers had taken place the day
before the Joint Committee meeting to discuss what was required in order to approve the
three business cases. It is the opinion of the Internal Review team that the issues raised by
UK & WG were reasonable requests for clarity to ensure that business cases are robust. The
Regional Office has since attempted to submit two amended business cases (21 December
2018), however, these can’t be accepted by UK & WG until the original submissions are
formally withdrawn and revised submissions approved by the Joint Committee. A request
has been made to UK & WG to ‘hold’ the Llanelli Life Science & Wellbeing Village project
business case.

Media attention over the staff suspensions at Swansea University and the links with Llanelli
Life Science & Wellbeing Village project have identified a number of issues that the Joint
Committee should have been aware of as they impact on the SBCD as a whole, including:

e The links between Kent Neurosciences Limited and Sterling Health Security Holdings Ltd;

e The role of Sterling Health Security Holdings Ltd and clarity that the company was not
directly providing the private sector investment;

e Links between the Llanelli Life Science Wellness Village project with other worldwide
projects such as Kuwait;

e UK & WG concerns that had not been resolved;

e Declarations of interest and wider roles that current or former Officers and Members
would have with this company and planned projects.

Page | 11

Page 53 Page 51



The establishment of standard operating principles would have provided clarity to the wider
partnership over expectations and expected practice within an agreed ethical framework
and risk appetite.

The appointments process of the ESB is unclear. UK & WG along with the Internal Review
team have been unable to gain clarity over the shortlisting of applications and who
determined the recommended ESB appointments to the Joint Committee in August 2018.
The lack of openness and transparency over the process in respect of these appointments
has undermined the trust of UK & WG.

The Joint Scrutiny Committee has only met twice. At the second meeting the Vice Chair of
the Joint Scrutiny Committee gave his apologies for the meeting as he had a conflict of
interest arising from an arrangement to secure access to information. The matter was
reported in the media and has undermined confidence within the Partnership.

Consultation & Engagement

The expectations and timescales for engagement and formal consultation are unclear;
however the review did not involve substantive testing of this area. Communication and
marketing as part of the SBCD has been recorded since February 2018. There was evidence
of early high-level promotional activities to stimulate private sector interest in the SBCD.
There was also evidence of local consultation and engagement activity in relation to the
Llanelli Life Science & Wellbeing Village project.

8. Core Principle C
Defining outcomes in terms of sustainable economic, societal & environmental benefits.
Expected Actions & Behaviours: clear vision and defined outcomes sustainable &
deliverable within available resources.
Areas for Improvement: robust implementation plan that identifies the required
resources, to which all Partners are committed to and can sustain.

Defining Outcomes

The Swansea Bay City Region Economic Regeneration Strategy 2013-2030 sets out the
framework to support South West Wales and its future economic development. The SBCD
proposal was based on the theme of the Internet Coast, which aimed to put the region at
the forefront of the digital age and fourth industrial revolution; where value is created by
knowledge extracted from vast data sources. In October 2016, Swansea University
appraised the potential impact of the Internet Coast through the portfolio of Project
Proposals within the SBCD. Job creation and Gross Value Added are the desired outcomes
on which the SBCD is based. In order to demonstrate how these outcomes will be achieved
the Treasury Five Case Model is used.

The Implementation Plan for the SBCD Programme was approved by the Joint Committee in
August 2018 but has yet to be approved by UK & WG. Discussion with UK & WG confirmed
that in order to approve the Implementation Plan they require a credible Programme risk

Page | 12

Page 52 Page 54



register, financial plan and prioritisation of projects. The Internal Review identified the
same concerns regarding the Implementation Plan.

The current business case approval process involves development of the business case and
presentation to the Programme Board for consideration, albeit this is presented at a high-
level, not the detailed written business case. The Regional Office will engage in an iterative
process with UK & WG to ensure that full business cases have the best chance of approval
when formally submitted. This stage is causing a bottleneck and frustrating all parties.
Appendix B provides a summary of the correspondence between UK & WG and the Regional
Office in respect of the three Business Cases that were presented to the Joint Committee in
November 2018; this demonstrates that the process defined in the JCA is not being
followed. Business cases are presented to UK & WG prematurely resulting in UK & WG
undertaking due diligence checks they would expect the Regional Office to have
undertaken, which is further frustrating the process.

There is a disconnect between the project concept and the written business case. Thereis a
degree of confidence in the deliverability of outcomes for certain projects, however, written
business cases reviewed lack clarity on the economic, commercial and financial cases.
Business cases are too long; they are repetitive and can appear more as marketing material
than as an evaluation of the critical success factors of projects. Discussions with Members
of the Joint Committee identified mixed views on the confidence and deliverability of the
Programme as a whole, but there was a degree of confidence in their individual projects.
There was general support for the deliverability of the Homes as Power Stations project,
along with securing of Private Sector funding to deliver the project, however, the business
case has not progressed and there is no clarity over the detailed funding arrangements for
regional projects.

There is confusion within the region over the Yr Egin project. The opinion of UK & WG is
that focus has been on the Phase 1 development, which is complete and has a high
occupancy rate; however, Phase 2 was the original SBCD project. Phase 1 has now been
included as part of the SBCD as there was a shortfall in funding.

Business cases need to be streamlined, there is too much information to be scrutinised
locally and it is over and above the information required by UK & WG; this is a contributing
factor to the delays in progressing projects.

Commitment & Sustainability

Government funding of the SBCD will be paid over a 15-year period. In order to deliver the
projects within five years, Local Authorities will have to borrow to finance the Government
funding. At this early stage of development of the regional projects there is no clarity over
the borrowing requirements (values) and how this will be delivered by the Lead Authorities.
There is a risk that Local Authorities will not support the proposed borrowing requirements
(although the principal is included within the JCA) which could result in abortive work and
wasted resource in developing these projects.

Page | 13

Page 55 Page 53



There is a lack of clarity over the funding and borrowing arrangements to support delivery of
the SBCD. WG have agreed to Local Authorities receiving 50% NNDR generated from the
Programme, however, the apportionment and distribution of this revenue has not been
determined. The likely return on NNDR will be an influencing factor in determining the
affordability of borrowing that Local Authorities will be willing to accept, so there is a
pressing need to determine this promptly.

In order to continue to draw down Government funding over the 15-years of the SBCD, the
Programme will need to be able to demonstrate that it is delivering the intended outcomes.
The monitoring and evaluation process, which is currently under development, will need to
be robust. Consideration should also be given to contingency arrangements should funding
be withdrawn at a later date.

9. Core Principle D

Determining the interventions necessary to optimise the achievement of intended
outcomes.

Expected Actions & Behaviours: strategic, operational and financial planning of projects;
prioritising projects for delivery; objective and rigorous analysis of projects including an
assessment of intended outcomes and risks.

Areas for Improvement: the JCA defined process for analysing projects is not operating as
intended; the implementation plan needs to be prioritised and supported by a financial
plan and programme risk register.

Determining Interventions

The JCA outlines the stages and responsibility for developing, appraising and approving
business cases. There is a five-stage process to approving business cases for formal
submission to UK & WG. Meetings with Members of the Joint Committee, Programme
Board and the Chair of the ESB, along with a review of correspondence between the
Regional Office and UK & WG identified that the process is not operating as intended.

Delivery Lead

Clause 12.3 (a) within the JCA outlines the responsibility of the Delivery Lead and the
requirement to include a Resolution of the Project Lead Authority (and all Councils if
delivering a regional project) when submitting a business case to the Regional Office. This
process isn’t being followed. Business Cases are referred back to the Project Lead Authority
after approval has been received by the Joint Committee.

Iterative Process

Clause 12.3 (d) within the JCA outlines the role of the Regional Office in assessing the quality
and financial profile of business cases before passing to UK & WG for them to undertake
their own assessments. A review of business cases passed to UK & WG at this stage
identified the following:

Page | 14

Page 54 Page 56



e Business cases lacking in the detail required by the 5 Case Model;
e Seemingly unnecessary information included;

e Incomplete sections;

e Lack of clarity around economic, commercial and financial cases.

Feedback to the Internal Review team reflected frustration within the Region on the delays
with the iterative process and the comments/feedback from UK & WG. However, the
comments and feedback from UK & WG were deemed to be reasonable and necessary by
the Internal Review team.

Programme Board

The JCA expectation is that Programme Board would analyse the financial viability,
deliverability and risk of the proposed business case and make a recommendation on
whether or not the business case should proceed. It is expected that there would be
challenge at this stage around the due diligence processes undertaken.

In reality, the Programme Board receive an update against all projects, similar to the update
provided to the Joint Committee; there is no detailed review of the written business case or
compliance with processes and procedures. Membership of the Programme Board is at the
highest officer level, so they are unlikely to have capacity to deliver the time commitment
required for this level of scrutiny and challenge.

Economic Strategy Board (ESB)

The ESB is expected to review the business cases from the private sector perspective,
against the strategic aims and objectives of the SBCD and make a recommendation to the
Joint Committee on whether or not the business case should proceed.

The ESB, having only met a few times, is still establishing the format of meetings and
information required to provide a value-added function. The ESB considers the concept,
they do not review the written business case; they undertake site visits and meet with
Project Leads. The ESB have requested a SWOT analysis for the projects they are
considering, using their commercial expertise to identify wider opportunities for the Region
and determine if there are any threats that require further consideration.

ESB membership comprises of Private Sector Representatives, the four Leaders of the Local
Authorities, and representatives from the Local Health Boards and Universities. The
purpose of including the Leaders of the Local Authorities on the ESB is unclear and doesn’t
add value. The ESB has no decision-making powers, their purpose is to look at wider
opportunities and stimulate confidence and interest in inward investment to the Region.
The ESB could provide UK & WG with the confidence that they are currently lacking around
the economic and commercial viability of business cases. Consideration should be given to
the mechanism for providing this assurance, e.g. a covering brief for submission with the full
business case.

Page | 15

Page 57 Page 55



Discussion with the Chair of the ESB on the three full business cases previously considered
and then approved by the Joint Committee (22 November 2018) for formal submission to
UK & WG, identified the following:

e The ESB had confidence in Phase 1 of Yr Egin but had reservations around the economic
and commercial case of Phase 2;

e The ESB had queried where the private sector investment was coming from for the
Llanelli Life Sciences & Wellbeing Village project but did not receive answers;

e The ESB raised questions of the Swansea City & Waterfront Digital District project in
connection with transportation infrastructure.

Joint Committee

Joint Committee receive the full business cases for consideration and approval to submit to
UK & WG. The business cases are extensive documents and in practice it is questionable
whether the Joint Committee Members have time to read them in any detail. Reliance is
placed on the process, as defined within the JCA, that the business case is expected to have
been through, i.e. iterative process with UK & WG, Programme Board and ESB; however, as
demonstrated above, the process is not operating as intended and cannot be relied upon.

10.Core Principle E

Developing the Partnerships capacity, including the capability of its leadership and
individuals within it.

Expected Actions & Behaviours: distinction between roles and responsibilities;
specification of delegated decisions versus those reserved for the Joint Committee;
reviewing operations, resources and performance to ensure effectiveness.

Areas for Improvement: independence, capacity and capability of the Regional Office to
deliver the Project Management Office function.

Capacity & Capability

Carmarthenshire County Council’s staff have largely fulfilled the function of the Regional
Office. Although a structure was costed and approved by the Joint Committee at its
meeting in August 2018, positions have not been substantively filled, but duties have been
covered by existing Carmarthenshire County Council employees. The Internal Review team
were advised that three new appointments were made to the Regional Office.

The expectation of UK & WG was that the Regional Office (as the SBCD Delivery Team)
would fulfil the role of the Project Management Office for the SBCD. In reality, the Project
Leads are expected to undertake their own due diligence checks and reliance is placed on
individual Lead Authorities to ensure that this is done. The Regional Office are supposed to
act as the link between the Project Leads and UK & WG, however, there have been
instances where the Regional Office have been bypassed. There are only three regional
projects, so if reliance is placed on the individual Local Authorities it is unclear why eleven
posts are required (not all substantively filled) in the Regional Office.

Page | 16

Page 56 Page 58




To date neither the Implementation Plan nor any business cases have been signed-off.
Feedback from the Regional Office and Members of the Joint Committee do not accord with
the feedback from UK & WG, so there is clearly a communication breakdown between
parties. A review of the feedback on business cases to the Regional Office from UK & WG
concluded that the questions were reasonable and should be raised. Due to the timescales
to deliver this review, substantive testing was not undertaken to form any conclusions in
this report.

The Heads of Terms makes reference to the SBCD Delivery Team, which is the function
undertaken by the Regional Office. The Heads of Terms makes reference to the SBCD City
Deal Delivery Team being appointed and reporting to the Joint Committee. Clause 9.2
within the JCA states that the ‘Joint Committee shall designate the Head of Paid Service of
the Accountable Body as Lead Chief Executive to act as its principal adviser and as
Accountable Officer to manage and oversee the work of the Regional Office staff’. This
clause compromises the independence of the Regional Office who are expected to report
through the Lead Chief Executive, who is also the Head of Paid Service.

Members of the Joint Committee have questioned whether an independent Chief
Executive/Managing Director should manage the Regional Office. While this could be an
option, the success of this will be heavily dependent on the skills and capability of the
candidate to ensure that they have the ability to challenge at all levels within the
Partnership and with UK & WG and receive challenge while remaining independent and
objective. In any event there will be a reporting line to one of the Local Authority Chief
Executives as Head of Paid Service; however, the role of employer of the Regional Office and
role of Lead Chief Executive should be separated (as with other Regional working
arrangements), to promote the independence of the Regional Office.

11.Core Principle F

Managing risks and performance through robust internal control and strong financial
management.

Expected Actions & Behaviours: integrating robust risk management arrangements;
monitoring delivery of the Programme and effective scrutiny arrangements.

Areas for Improvement: risk management, performance management and the role of the
Joint Scrutiny Committee.

Risk Management

Risk management arrangements require improvement. Risks are not clearly articulated to
describe the event, consequence and impact. There is no consistent risk management
methodology used across the Partnership. No consideration has been given to the overall
risk appetite of the Partnership and articulated into any statement. The Programme risk
register should be a true reflection of the current risks to the delivery of the Programme and
should be a regular agenda item for consideration by the Joint Committee, but there is no
evidence that this is happening. This is a significant contributing factor to the lack of
confidence by UK & WG in the delivery of the Programme.

Page | 17
Page 59 Page 57



Managing Performance/Scrutiny

The issues highlighted above demonstrate the lack of performance management and
scrutiny of business case development that is currently undertaken, which again is reflective
of why the Implementation Plan and business cases are not progressing to sign-off stage so
that Government funding can be drawn down.

The Joint Scrutiny Committee has formed, but the Terms of Reference restrict their remit to
scrutiny of Regional projects, scrutiny of individual Authority projects are a matter for the
relevant Constituent Authorities Scrutiny Committee. This detracts from the Regional
approach of the SBCD.

Page | 18

Page 58 Page 60



Appendix A — Summary of Meetings/Discussions with Stakeholders
Regional Office

UK & WG Civil Servants: (Head of Regional Growth, UK Government in Wales; Head of
Policy, UK Government in Wales; Deputy Director, Head of Cabinet Office, Welsh
Government; Deputy Director, Commercial and PPM, Welsh Government; Chief Regional
Officer, Mid and South West Wales, Welsh Government; Head of Programme for
Government, Welsh Government; Head of City and Growth Deals, (Mid and South West
Wales), Welsh Government).

Chair of the Joint Committee (Leader of City and County of Swansea Council)
Director of Place, City and County of Swansea Council

Leader of Pembrokeshire County Council

Chief Executive of Pembrokeshire County Council

Chair of UBMA Health Board

Leader of Neath Port Talbot County and Borough Council

Chief Executive of Neath Port Talbot County and Borough Council
Chair of Joint Scrutiny Committee

Vice Chair of Joint Scrutiny Committee

Chair of Hywel Dda Health Board

Leader of Carmarthenshire County Council

Chief Executive of Carmarthenshire County Council

Chair of the ESB

Registrar and Chief Operating Officer of Swansea University

Pro- Vice Chancellor, University of Wales Trinity St Davids
Monitoring Officer

Section 151 Officer

Page | 19

Page 61 Page 59



Appendix B — Summary of Correspondence between the Regional Office and
UK & WG (Governments) in relation to the 3 full business case submissions
and submissions to the ESB and Joint Committee

Swansea City & Waterfront Digital District Business Case

Date Action
04/01/18 | Draft Business Case sent to Governments
15/02/18 | Comments received from Governments
Response to comments and revised business case shared with Governments
(advised by RO)
18/05/18 | Comments received from Governments
19/07/18 | Draft Business Case sent to Governments
Governments sent comments back and stated meeting required to discuss
Economic case
08/11/18 | Draft Business Case submitted to ESB — full approval given
12/11/18 | Regional office acknowledged and agreed requirement for meeting
15/11/18 | Governments provided potential dates for meeting
19/11/18 | Regional office stated 27/11/18 to be best date for meeting
21/11/18 | Response to comments sent to Governments
22/11/18 | Joint Committee approved Business Case
26/11/18 | Business Case formally submitted to Governments for approval
27/11/18 | Meeting held
27/11/18 | Governments provided written comments on Economic case
29/11/18 | Additional information provided to Governments
Updated Business Case submitted to Governments (though Governments
21/12/18 | state that original not withdrawn and update does not include Economic case
changes)
21/12/18 | Further meeting planned for 14/01/19 to discuss

04/04/18

05/11/18

Yr Egin Business Case

Date Action
15/12/17 | Draft Business Case shared with Governments
12/04/18 | Comments received from Governments
03/08/18 | Draft Business Case sent to Governments
31/10/18 | Governments sent comments back
08/11/18 | Draft Business Case submitted to ESB — full approval given
22/11/18 | Joint Committee approved Business Case
Business Case formally submitted to Governments for approval (Governments
26/11/18 | state that this was exactly the same as the submission on 03/08/18 with no
amendments)

Page | 20

Page 60 Page 62



During the meeting on Digital District, Governments state a conversation was
had around the Economic Case with David Swallow, and Governments were
27/11/18 | informed the Business Case had changed since submission to reflect this and
to reflect comments provided on 31/10/18 (no e-mail evidence to support
this)

Business Case considered by Carmarthen County Council (CCC) Executive
03/12/18 | Board and agreed it could be submitted to UK and WG (confirmed via CCC
website)

Llanelli Life Science & Well-being Village Business Case

Date Action
15/12/17 | Draft Business Case sent to Governments — no financial case included
23/01/18 | Draft Business Case resubmitted to Governments with financial case included
08/03/18 | Amended Draft Business Case sent to Governments
23/03/18 | Review meeting with Governments
13/04/18 | Economic case addendum sent to Governments
11/06/18 | Review meeting with Governments
Draft Business Case sent to Governments — including table of response to
previous feedback
Governments sent comments back (states that this contained specific
questions about due diligence which had not been resolved)?
08/11/18 | Draft Business Case submitted to ESB — full approval given
16/11/18 | Response to comments sent to Governments
22/11/18 | Joint Committee approved Business Case
26/11/18 | Business Case formally submitted to WG for approval
Business Case considered by Carmarthen County Council (CCC)Executive Board
and agreed it could be submitted to UK and WG (confirmed via CCC website)

15/08/18

19/10/18

03/12/18

1 WG state that numerous phone calls/offline discussions about due diligence issues were handled informally
(no e-mail evidence to support this)

Page | 21

Page 63 Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Agenda Item 7

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION

SWANSEA BAY JOINT COMMITTEE
City Deal

28™ MARCH 2019

CARMARTHENSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL LLANELLI WELLNESS AND LIFE
SCIENCE VILLAGE REVIEWS

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To note the findings of the Carmarthenshire Council Independent Legal Review
and the WAO Review of the Llanelli Wellness and Life Science Village.

REASONS:

The Chair of the Joint Committee at the meeting held on the 14t December 2018 requested
Carmarthenshire County Council to forward to the Joint Committee, once available, all advice
and documentation relating to the Carmarthenshire Council commissioned review of the
Llanelli Wellness and Life Science Village.

Report Author: Designation: Phone & Email:-
Wendy S Walters Director of Regeneration &
Policy 01267 224112/

WSWalters@sirgar.gov.uk

. {f_ i s e L.,
B ; L3 B
é;‘_ coeme Sk Gar . & n Y
= 3 b =
= Carmarchenshire 3 ——
Liurqor MEert e c% = R et
Swmneea Coui| e : iz g..___,__.;.\‘:"
___._.-.-l"-.- :
r":eﬂ- T SwWaNsCa 7
2 University ﬂgiﬂ'r‘ﬁﬂf}l?}{f Gl |2 owed matbnia o] L PRI E,
* ——— o et ettty e B Sl oy
B, Pritysiol W i NI [ Page63™
s abertawe Page 65



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

Llanelli Wellness and Life Science Village

The report provides, for the Joint Committee’s information, a copy of:-

a) the findings of the independent legal review undertaken by Carmarthenshire County
Council on the procurement and governance of the Llanelli Wellness and Life Science
Village project, both pre and post Collaboration Agreement and

b) the findings of the Wales Audit Office Review which assessed Carmarthenshire Council’s
management of process, risk and governance and the protection of public money

These reports were considered by Carmarthenshire County Council’'s Executive Board on the
4t March 2019.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES
«-. 2
é;‘_ e Kir Gar %
= Carmarchenshire E _é
Liurgor &b eriens \% _“_-_G'
:T:fﬂ;l "”: I-ul( P '-*""w

|30 P R IRy | 0
wmer o R Mo on g
I=h-=m= Ik 1hh e

% Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru
; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: Ear | = ot cbyd Boyns Ly Lo
AT 5 I.Jnnﬂnml.\r.-n.r'aes ST 4,‘ e T




IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications

Disorder and

Equalities

NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE
CONSULTATIONS

N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:

THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document

File Ref
No.

Locations that the papers are available for
public inspection/WEBSITE LINK

Carmarthenshire County Council
Executive Board meeting 4" March

2019

http://democracy.carmarthenshire.gov.

wales/ieListDocuments.aspx?Cld=131

&MId=2183&Ver=4

TR g Swansca

S Uiy
—

%%-‘ rityscpcl

abertawe

-
2

Loyror &b Eing
Swaneea Counicl

T

[ L

F'rll’}'_"-g_‘nl l:}'rnru
MO onocdnc

UI"II'LHI Ell.\ r.-r 'I.I‘ 'H ag

Al hened

SirGa
Carmarchenshi

\%‘)c

Y
oSBT

ol Cr

udl-

I\-:‘d wihgd Pty

{_I'L'_Ahﬂd (RO E 4;-,.“.
EaH w\-kr\r\- In

Page65™




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 68



LIFE SCIENCE AND WELLNESS VILLAGE
AT DELTA LAKES

GOVERNANCE AND PUBLIC PROCUREMENT REVIEW

Acuity Legal Limited

Page 69

January 2019

1
Page 67



PART ONE: TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Acuity Legal has been asked by Carmarthenshire County Council (the Council), to undertake a
Governance and Public Procurement review in relation to the Llanelli Wellness Village Project
at Delta Lakes (the Project).

2. The terms of reference for the review involve a legal appraisal of the key mechanisms through

which the Council is protected in relation to the Project including:

2.1 the Council’s decision-making processes in the public procurement process in the light

of the advice received
2.2 the terms of the Collaboration Agreement with Sterling and Swansea University

2.3 the Council’s actions since July 2018 under the processes established through the

terms of the Collaboration Agreement

2.4 papers relating to the Project since the establishment of the Collaboration Board

including the minutes of recent Collaboration Board meetings

25 whether the Council followed robust governance processes in relation to the decision

to terminate the Collaboration Agreement; and
2.6 potential future options for financing the Project.

The review excludes consideration of appropriate mechanisms to engage in future with private

sector participants in a manner which is compliant with Public Procurement rules.

3. Acuity has been asked to conduct the review on the basis that it is a panel adviser to local
authorities in Wales under the National Procurement Service for Wales Legal Framework,
covering governance work. Acuity did not advise on the procurement process or on the
preparation of the Collaboration Agreement which form the bulk of the subject matter of the
review. This firm does have knowledge of the direction of the Project having recently been
asked by the Council to consider funding options and how best to regulate the future
engagement of the Council with third parties in the period following the signing of the
Collaboration Agreement between the Council, Swansea University (the University) and

Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited (Sterling)

Page 68 Page 70



In conducting the review, representatives of Acuity have spoken to senior officers at the Council

concerning the factual background. Our review incorporates information provided as a result of

those discussions and our conclusions are, in part, based on discussions with Council’s officers

and in part based on our review of the relevant material, in particular:

e.

The Collaboration Agreement

The first draft Shareholders Agreement for the proposed property holding company at

Delta Lakes

The minutes of the three Collaboration Board meetings and one Shadow Board

meeting

Our initial Advice Note of August 2018; and

Procurement material referred to in the Appendix

each of which is described in more detail in this Report.

The report is prepared for the sole use by Council representatives and is not intended to be

relied on by any party other than the Council. It should remain confidential and not be disclosed

without our consent.

3
Page 71 Page 69



PART TWO: EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

6.

10.

11.

12.

13.

The Council engaged and ultimately selected the University and Sterling as preferred partners
following a competitive dialogue process, which is a thorough and robust method of selecting
partners for projects of the nature and complexity of the Project.

The documentation provided by the Council demonstrates that it followed due legal process in
the procurement and the award of the Collaboration Agreement to Sterling and the University
as a collective party.

The Project records show good governance and regard by the Council to risk management

The documentation provided shows that the Council has not given any binding legal
commitments to Sterling or the University which lock those parties into the Project, nor has it
transferred any land, made loans, offered cash consideration or formed any company or formal

joint venture, with either party.

The Council’s actions since the establishment of the Collaboration Agreement, as recorded in
minutes of Collaboration Board meetings and in the document itself, also reflect an approach
which incorporated many levels of Council control into the draft legal arrangements, including
appropriate veto rights and the creation of new corporate policies to ensure value for money
and compliance with local authority governance rules. This was done in keeping with external

legal advice.

The Council had several options available to it in relation to the Collaboration Agreement in
response to the recent suspensions of University staff. In order to protect the integrity of the
Project and the Council’'s assets it chose to terminate the Collaboration Agreement in
accordance with clause 53, having sought legal advice on its options. The Council took account
of a range of relevant considerations when electing to terminate. This is addressed in detail in
Part Six below (paragraphs 37 to 46).

Termination of the Collaboration Agreement does not prevent the Council from engaging with
third party participants (including Swansea University) in the future nor does the absence of
Sterling Health, in our opinion, have a material adverse effect on funding structures for the
Project. Indeed, it gives the Council a greater deal of control to structure finance in a way which

best fits its aspirations for the Project as referred to in more detail in Part Seven of this Report.

Through the period we have reviewed, the Council’s officers have, in our view, taken prudent

steps to manage the Project in a safe and well considered legal and financial environment.

Page 70 Page 72



14. in our view, there has been no misuse of, and no risk posed to, public funds.

5
Page 73 Page 71



PART THREE: REVIEW OF PUBLIC PROCUREMENT EXERCISE

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

Acuity has undertaken a detailed analysis of the procurement process undertaken by the
Council which led to the Council entering into the Collaboration Agreement with Sterling and

the University.

Our analysis is contained in the Appendix to this report and it should be read in conjunction

with this remainder of the report.

In summary, the Council's project records are in good order and demonstrate that at all times
the Council acted in accordance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (PCR) and
followed appropriate processes, including the recognised competitive dialogue procedure. The
Council acted with the benefit of advice provided by its experienced external lawyers, Blake
Morgan as well as senior officers, including specifically the Council's Head of Law and
Administration (who is also the Council's Monitoring Officer) and the Council's Director of

Corporate Services (who is the Council's Section 151 Officer).

The Council's in-house team and external lawyers played a central role in the procurement,
including attending meetings and workshops with Sterling and the University. The Council's

external lawyers chaired the dialogue meetings.

While it is not within the scope of this review to assess the merits of the bid by Sterling and the

University it is worth noting that the Council considered that their bid had the following benefits:

a. Sterling brought with it the University as a co-partner which, in turn, brought significant

financial strength, expertise, innovation and leverage from within the University’s

resource and knowledge base

b. The concept of a wellness village ie co-locating various assisted living, wellness,
rehabilitation and medical facilities, training facilities, housing and care accommodation
is a concept which is attracting interest internationally and offers the potential for
significant wellbeing benefits and cross border partnerships which could benefit the
Council and derive many spin off benefits such as data analytics and better health

outcomes

C. Sterling and the University had carried out preliminary work to engage with significant
third party commercial entities eg Siemens, Pfizer, Fujitsu and other international

companies who had the potential to bring added value

Page 72 Page 74



20.

d. The bid was informally supported by expressions of interest from private sector funding
institutions. Such funding, if formally locked in, could assist in satisfying the conditions

for attracting City Deal funding for the benefit of the local area.

In the light of these apparent benefits it does not appear unreasonable that the Council would
wish to engage with Sterling and the University under the terms of a well drafted legal
arrangement which preserved options for the Council, or indeed the ability to detach itself,
wholly or partly, from those parties if it wished to do so. The Council therefore took the decision
to proceed in a considered manner to an interim stage and an arrangement was drafted by the

Council’'s external lawyers and signed in July 2018 as the “Collaboration Agreement”.

7
Page 75 Page 73



PART FOUR: TERMS OF THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

21. The Council has confirmed to us that the Collaboration Agreement represents the only legal
agreement in place between the Council, Sterling and the University. It has formed the

background to the engagement between the parties from July 2018 to December 2018.

22. In our view, the Collaboration Agreement weighted Project risks in the Council’s favour and did

not expose the Council. In particular, the document:

a. reserved rights for the Council to progress alone with key phases of the Project if it so
wished
b. placed the onus on Sterling and the University to bring forward further detail in relation

to other components of the Project for the Council’s approval before concrete

commitments were made .

C. permitted the creation of a steering group to discuss development proposals in a
streamlined and orderly fashion

d. incorporated the right to trigger a notice forcing the parties to provide particulars of their

offering or else face termination.

e. inserted termination provisions which could be (and indeed were) activated at the

Councils sole discretion and without liability to the Council.

23. In so doing, the Council took sensible precautions against the risk of the other parties being
unable to satisfy financial and development tests or bring forward robust proposals which
satisfied the Council’s obligations to deliver best value from its assets and meet the

requirements of its public procurement.

24, The Collaboration Agreement did not contain any legally binding commitments on the Council
to transfer assets or value, or create formal joint venture commitments which could tie up public
assets. In reality, the University and Sterling obtained little more than a right of first refusal right
to bring forward proposals for certain phases of the Project for detailed consideration by the
Council. It also provided for the creation of a joint steering group to look at the formation of joint
arrangements, financing options and masterplanning work The agreement was capable of

termination by the Council at any time.

Page 74 Page 76



PART FIVE: COUNCIL DECISION MAKING FOLLOWING THE COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

25.

26.

27.

28.

20.

30.

A steering group was established under the Collaboration Agreement. Monthly meetings
took place, the meetings of which were chaired, well attended and minuted. Minutes were
subsequently circulated and settled at the following meeting. Conflicts of interest were asked
to be declared.

Copies of the minutes of the meetings to date (a Shadow Board meeting dated 29 June and
then Collaboration Board Meetings of 3 September, 17 October and 15 November 2018) show
that good governance of the Project was a key consideration.

Significant activity took place around those meetings to formulate a detailed Project strategy.
Discussions also took place with prospective occupiers of elements of the Wellness Village
(principally the University Human Health department and Medical School and Hywel Dda
University Health Board)

Work was also undertaken by the Council, both internally and reviewed by an external advisor,
1971 Limited, to undertake high level financial modelling for each phase of the Project to form
part of a comprehensive business plan. Detailed spreadsheets were prepared which took
account of likely funding options and revenue streams. Such work was commissioned directly
by the Council in response to concerns that Sterling were not undertaking such work within the
required timescales and in order to ensure that the Council’s position would be protected in any

subsequent funding discussions.

Work also began to define the architectural and engineering inputs into the planning phase of
the Project. Arup was appointed in relation to this work pursuant to a framework agreement that
the Council was able to use. The Council was described in the documentation as the
commissioning body, thereby retaining full control of the intellectual property rights in design
and planning work (with such rights not being transferred to Sterling or the University). The
appointment of Arup was prepared by this firm in accordance with the documentation
requirements of the procurement framework which the Council had selected. The Council took
on responsibility for bearing the costs of the Arup engagement on the basis that it retained all

rights to the benefit of such work and retained full ownership of the land at that point.

Although design and planning work has been undertaken by Arup, no construction contracts

have been awarded in relation to the Project.

9
Page 77 Page 75



31. A key intention of the Collaboration Agreement was to progress work towards the formation of
a “Wellness Company” and “Project Vehicles” into which the Council could potentially transfer
land to enable the Project to be developed through special purpose vehicles without direct legal
exposure to the Council. These legal entities would also have enabled the wider development
of the concept of a “wellness village” in other localities outside of Wales, from which the Council
could have, and hoped to, retain an equity financial interest without the need for direct

involvement.

32. Discussions at Board level took place under the Collaboration Agreement to start to prepare
legal documentation for the formation of an asset holding Project Vehicle in October 2018 in

accordance with legal advice. However:

a. No land transfers have taken place and therefore the site remains in the ownership of
the Council under the terms of a joint venture with Welsh Ministers, with no legal

commitment to make any transfers;

b. No Project Vehicles were established as the proposals were in draft stage in the period
prior to termination of the Collaboration Agreement and therefore the Council has not

issued shares to a third party and is not obliged to do so;

C. The draft agreement was prepared and circulated for the creation of a property
development vehicle, this did not get beyond first draft stage and therefore it is not

legally binding.
d. The draft agreement incorporated provisions that:

i. New companies would have to be established (ie not adopting any existing
Sterling companies) (see definition of “Company) with only a limited number of

directors from each representative entity (two each)

ii. Veto mechanisms for the Council and University would be incorporated into
the documentation to guard against any concerns that the private sector

participant could take decisions which were not in the interests of the Council

iii. Processes were built into the documents to enable the Council to take security
over the project company if it were ever asked to contribute value (eg land,
funding or guarantees) which was disproportionate to its shareholding (to be

treated as loans on which market rates of interest would accrue)

10

Page 76 Page 78



33.

34.

35.

36.

iv. The draft contained protections against fraud and anti-corruption, requirements
of transparency together with significant warranties and undertakings from the

Sterling and the University in favour of the Council

It should be emphasised that the draft agreement would have been further refined through
discussion and negotiation between the three shareholders and their respective legal advisers

and additional protections incorporated if necessary

The minutes of Collaboration Board meetings show that the Council were also anticipating the

following documents to accompany the formation of a Project Vehicle:

a. Detailed Business Plans and financial models were to be prepared to define the

parameters of the Project

b. A “procurement strategy” was to be documented (which this firm has been instructed
to prepare following the November Collaboration Board meeting) so as to govern
engagement with third parties in a manner which satisfied governance requirements of
the Council (as a local authority) and University (as a charity) — and which was intended
also to ensure Sterling’s dialogue with third parties was carried out in a regulated and

transparent manner;

C. Risk register, insurances and quality assurance policies were to be established in
conjunction with the proposed Business Plan, in each case to mirror examples of good

governance in other local authority- controlled trading companies

It is noted from the Minutes that the Council expected both the University and Sterling to seek
independent legal advice on the terms of any agreement. Such advice would have included the
identity of shareholders and directors proposed by the University and Sterling which would have
to be negotiated and agreed by all parties transparently. Accordingly, all parties were intending
to have the opportunity to have independent scrutiny of the documents and make their
proposals as to how shareholding structures would be set up. The Council also reserved its
position to seek separate approvals from its Executive Board prior to concluding any legally

binding commitments.

Our recent discussions with Council officers have disclosed that during the course of its
engagement with Sterling under the Collaboration Agreement, it became apparent to officers
that Sterling developed unrealistic expectations concerning the Project outcomes and funding
structures. It also relied excessively on the Council and University to drive key elements of the

Project (notably the preparation of financial models and procurement strategies for each phase

11
Page 79 Page 77



and the adaptation and refinement of elements such as rehabilitation and extra care. In our
view, the mechanisms introduced into the process by the Council (and referred to above)
showed an appreciation of these issues and were designed to protect the Council (and
University) from associated risks and ensure their behaviour was properly regulated from a

governance perspective.

37. Therefore, the Council had taken steps throughout the process to ensure high standards of
governance and risk management were incorporated into the documentation which was being
prepared so as to manage all future legal arrangements. The Council’'s implementation of the
Collaboration Agreement in our view protected the Council from foreseeable economic risks of
the Project. The next phase of documentation (specifically shareholder relationships) were
intended also to guard the Council against failure of other parties to perform adequately in

relation to the Project.

12

Page 78 Page 80



PART SIX: DECISIONS CONCERNING TERMINATION

38.

39.

40.

41.

At the stage of considering whether or not to terminate the Council had not received any detail
concerning staff suspensions at the University. This report does not intend to comment on those
suspensions or speculate as to the outcome of the University’s internal review as the review is

still incomplete as far as we are aware.

As the suspensions involved individuals with links to the Project, the Council considered that it
needed to take swift and appropriate action to protect itself and the Project. It considered a

range of options, principally:

a. Await the outcome of the University investigation and take a view on the impact when

it concluded (Wait and See Option)

b. Serve an interim notice under the Collaboration Agreement indicating an intention to
progress the core elements of the scheme alone (particularly the Community Health
Hub and Wellness Centre) and put on hold the remaining elements until further details

were known (Partial Pause Option)

C. Serve 6 months’ notice to terminate the Collaboration Agreement and cease
discussions with Sterling, but leave open the potential of dialogue with the
University in its capacity as occupier of the Community Health Hub (Interim

Termination Option)

d. Serve an immediate notice ending the agreement “forthwith” alleging breach of the

Agreement (Breach Termination Option)

The drafting of the Collaboration Agreement did not permit the Council to terminate the
relationship with respect to one party only (Sterling or the University) and leave the other in

place. Any notice to terminate therefore had the effect of ending the entire agreement.

When considering termination options, the Council were aware that termination of the
Collaboration Agreement did not necessarily preclude the Council from continuing its dialogue
with the University, both as a prospective occupier of the Community Health Hub and potentially
more widely following proper re-engagement. Indeed, the competitive dialogue documentation
issued by the Council made it clear that the University had a key contributory role which logically

can apply whether or not the Collaboration Agreement was in place.

13
Page 81 Page 79



42. In making any decision from available options, the key factors which were relevant and

available to the Council for consideration were:

a. giving assurance to Council members that a robust stance was being taken which

protected the Council;

b. Preserving the ability to attract City Deal funding from Welsh Government/UK Treasury

and complying with the conditions attached to that funding;

c. retaining the valuable support that had been offered to that point by Swansea University
in relation to matters such as human health, medical school, training and digital

platforms as occupier of the Community Health Hub;

d. The Council being confident that it could obtain finance for the wider Project from

private sector sources so as to match fund City Deal contributions appropriately;

e. project timeframes, particularly as work on master-planning had already been
commissioned and was underway and there was a requirement from Hywel Dda
University Health Board that any elements of the Project which they were contributing
to within the Community Health Hub were delivered in a timely and transparent fashion

so that care packages could be commissioned at the right time; and
f. Whether the University would conclude its internal reviews quickly.

43. The Council discounted the Breach Termination Option having taken legal advice. Without full
and proper information regarding the outcome of the investigation by the University it could
have risked disputes with the other parties if it were to allege a breach. Risking such a dispute

would have been unnecessary given the alternative options available to the Council.

44, The Council also considered that it could not adopt the Wait and See Option. The timeframes
for conclusion of the University review were uncertain as the suspensions were being contested
publicly the fact that a full investigation was frequently a time-consuming exercise in the light of
the University’s charter, policies and Charities Act obligations Therefore a Wait and See Option
would deprive the Council of the ability to reassure its members and the public that it was acting

swiftly and responsibly.

45. The Partial Pause Option would, in effect, have kept the Collaboration Agreement alive but
extracted from it two core phases, the Community Health Hub and Wellness Centre. These

phases were so integral to the overall success of the Project that they would have deprived the

14

Page 80 Page 82



46.

47.

other parties of any real input in the Project for years. It would also have been difficult to engage
partially with the University without also dealing with Sterling (or vice versa) while the Steering
Group was intact for remaining phases. The uncertainty would also possibly be perceived as
insufficient action to reassure the Council and other stakeholders such as Welsh Government

and UK Government.

The Interim Termination Option was selected for the following reasons:

a. It allowed the Council to take swift and decisive action to preserve the integrity of the

Project and try to ensure City Deal funding remained in tact;

b. it offered a much cleaner method of terminating as it explicitly allows termination

“without liability”;

C. it did not, in the view of the Council, prejudice private sector funding as the Council had
commissioned its own financial modelling and this indicated that the funding would be

primarily based around the Council’s involvement and commitment;

d. it enabled the Council to keep on track with the work already undertaken to satisfy

Hywel Dda and planning application timeframes; and
e. it did not necessarily preclude re-engagement with the University (and indeed we
understand that the Council has already indicated to the University that it wishes to re-

engage at an appropriate time and in an appropriate manner).

Our view is that the above were relevant factors and the Council gave appropriate weight to

those factors in reaching its decision to serve an Interim Termination Notice.

15
Page 83 Page 81



PART SEVEN: FUTURE FUNDING ARRANGEMENTS

48.

49,

50.

51.

52.

The Report does not consider precisely how future funding will be structured and the
appropriate procurement methodologies and this will be the subject of more detailed work in
future. However, there are certain observations we are able to make within the confines of the

terms of reference for this Report.

The potential to establish a corporate vehicle (which may be wholly owned by the Council) still
remains and has advantages in terms of offering security for funders and removing certain
contractual risks from the Council. This is commonly adopted by local authorities when

embarking on development projects.

Our understanding of the financial status of the Project and the modelling work undertaken to
date by the Council is that its fundability does not depend to any significant degree on Sterling.
While Sterling had made initial enquiries of institutional funders, it is commonly accepted that
institutional funders such as banks and pension funds will look to the Council (and any other
major public sector participants such as the University) as counterparties rather than Sterling,
whose balance sheet would be irrelevant to asset and/or covenant backed finance methods. In
contrast, the participation of an entity of the strength of the University and Hywel Dda, and also
a firm commitment to funding from the City Deal would be major positive factors in attracting
institutional private sector finance as well as additional support from corporate private sector

bodies in the healthcare sector

The modelling work which the Council has commissioned from 1971 Limited is consistent with
the work we have seen elsewhere in attracting institutional funding and should place the Council
in a strong position to determine the optimum funding structure and the types of funders, and
their terms, for most phases of the Project. This will be subject to future detailed scrutiny by the
Council’s finance team but in the presence of strong public sector support provides a solid

foundation to attract private sector funding.

It is possible that the Council may have to adopt multiple funding strategies for different

components of the Project. For example:

a. Seek new private sector investment alongside the Council in the form of risk capital

and then jointly appoint contractors following applicable procurement rules;

b. Seek debt finance from a bank on commercially competitive terms. This is likely to be

assisted by the injection of equity committed by the Council and City Deal;

16

Page 82 Page 84



C. consider “forward funding arrangements” with a pension fund to deliver 100% finance

as has been successfully delivered elsewhere in Wales for the core elements of the

Project;

d. Consider the issue of a bond to finance the Project (or parts of it) with an institutional
investor;

e. Consider funding with an overseas fund. We believe there is appetite for this given the

international interest in wellness led schemes and investment into the UK (irrespective
of Brexit outcomes) and a partnering approach with similar international schemes may

yield cost efficiencies or scaling opportunities as well as a better overall scheme; and

f. Consider disposal to an appropriate and highly experienced partner for those elements
of the scheme which are considered non-core (eg housing to a Registered Social
Landlord)

53. We will be reviewing these options in more detail with the Council. In our view, when assessing
such options, it will be important to determine the status of University and City Deal support

and best value in relation to the terms of the funding on offer.

54. Additionally, a key factor in determining funding strategy will be the interconnectivity of its
various elements, which work best when developed as part of an overall strategy rather than in
isolation. This will have an impact on the phasing of funding as well as in the creation of linked
elements such as public realm treatment. The fact that the Council has already, through its
work with Arup, secured an initial planning permission will assist with future private sector

funding as well as add to the value of the Delta Lakes site.

Acuity Legal Limited

17
Page 85 Page 83



APPENDIX

Public Procurement Review

Page 84

Page 86

18



=

P
WALES AUDIT OFFICE

Wales Audit Office / Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru

SWYDDFA ARCHWILIO CYMRU

Mark James CBE

Chief Executive
Carmarthenshire County Council
County Hall

Carmarthen

SA31 1JP

Reference: AMH/JE/NG
Date issued: 21 February 2019

Dear Mark

24 Cathedral Road / 24 Heol y Gadeirlan
Cardiff / Caerdydd

CF11 9LJ

Tel / Ffon: 029 2032 0500

Fax / Ffacs: 029 2032 0600

Textphone / Ffén testun: 029 2032 0660

info@audit.wales / post@archwilio.cymru
www.audit.wales / www.archwilio.cymru

Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village

As you are aware, the Wales Audit Office recently undertook a review of the
Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village project following concerns raised with
us about its governance. The review sought assurance that the Council had sound
governance and risk management arrangements in place, had complied with its
own internal processes, and that it had ensured that public assets were protected.
Our review was carried out under powers contained within section 17 of the Public
Audit (Wales) Act 2004.

The Council entered an Exclusivity Agreement with Kent Neuro Science on

23 May 2016. This agreement did not require any significant checks or detailed
process as it did not involve any financial liability for the Council. The agreement
was for a 12-month period. As the Council decided to move forward to a
competitive dialogue procurement process, the agreement was cancelled with the
agreement of both parties on 7 February 2017.

Following EU procurement rules, the Council then launched a procurement
process on 18 March 2017 with the publication of a prior information notice. The
Council appointed a leading law firm, with significant procurement experience, to
support the procurement process and provide legal advice.

Following assessing the responses to the prior information notice, the Council
issued a pre-qualifying questionnaire (PQQ) on 10 July 2017. This resulted in one
submission, led by Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited, that met all the

Page 1 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - please contact us in Welsh or English / cysylltwch
a ni'n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. Page 87 Page 85



PQQ requirements, including due diligence checks. The Council moved forward
with a competitive dialogue process.

Advice provided to the Council indicated that if it had not continued with the
procurement at this stage they could have been subject to challenge as the bid
received met all the PQQ requirements.

As the competitive dialogue process continued, Sterling Health Securities
Holdings Limited sought contributions from a range of other organisations listed in
the original bid. Additionally, Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited sought
and received support from Swansea University.

At the point Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited introduced Swansea
University staff to the dialogue sessions, the Council halted activity while they
sought legal advice. Swansea University were also acting as advisors to the
Council as a stakeholder in the project and, as such, a clear conflict of interest
existed. Consequent to the legal advice, several declarations of interest were
sought, and an information protocol between the University and the Council was
developed to ensure that those supporting the bid were not party to any
information relating to the assessment of the bid. In any event, with a single
bidder, no competitive advantage would have been gained had information
breached the procedures put in place. However, these measures created a
separation between those supporting the bid and those supporting the Council.

The competitive dialogue continued, and on 9 March 2018 the Council decided to
offer a collaboration agreement to Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited and
Swansea University. This agreement did not include the transfer of any asset or
money to either Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited or Swansea
University. The agreement gave the Council significant control and the ability to
terminate the agreement in several ways should it need to.

Throughout the procurement process the Council took appropriate legal advice
and framed contracts/agreements to mitigate risk and to protect the Council and
public funds. The Council has not paid any money to either Sterling Health
Securities or Swansea University as part of the collaboration agreement.

Decisions have been made by Executive Board and, where appropriate, by senior
officers of the Council. The Council has operated within its constitution and
scheme of delegation throughout the project timeline. Between decision points,
Executive Board has received information updates and other less formal briefings.

Page 2 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch
Pagei’r&@mraeg neu’'n Saesneg. Page 88



Following the suspension of Swansea University staff with links to the Llanelli Life
Science and Well-being Village, the Council considered it needed to take swift
action to protect itself and the future of the project. Following legal advice, it
invoked one of the termination clauses (clause 53) in the collaboration agreement
with Sterling Health Securities Holdings Limited and Swansea University. The
Council gave six months’ notice of termination without liability.

The Council now intends to develop the project itself. The cessation of the
collaboration agreement does not preclude it from working with Swansea
University or any other parties previously involved in the project in the future.

As a result of our review, we have concluded that, to date, Carmarthenshire
County Council has followed appropriate processes and effectively managed risk
to protect public money in its activities relating to the Llanelli Life Science and
Well-being Village. We will continue to monitor progress of this and other
Swansea Bay City Deal projects.

Yours sincerely
N it et

Ann-Marie Harkin
Engagement Director

cc. Huw Rees, Director
Jeremy Evans, Performance Audit Manager
Jason Garcia, Financial Audit Manager

Page 3 of 3 - Llanelli Life Science and Well-being Village - Please contact us in Welsh or English / Cysylltwch
a ni'n Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. Page 89 Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE
SWANSEA BAY

City Deal

DATE - 28.03.2019

Agenda Iltem 8

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION
JOINT COMMITTEE

PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE PROJECT

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:
(i) To approve the change in project scope subject to any comments from the ESB.

(ii) To agree the five year project delivery period commences from the start on site date.
(iii) To approve the principle of a shared allocation of NNDR uplift.

REASONS:

The Pembroke Dock Marine project is at a critical stage with partners and
Pembrokeshire County Council unable to make further progress without these issues

being resolved.

Report Author: Designation: Tel No.
Dr Steven Jones Director of Community
Services 01437 775894
Pembrokeshire County
Council
(- 2
é;‘_ e Bir Gar E %
= Carmarchenshlre : _é
T £
e Swansca
B hicrsty Bﬂﬁ[ﬁ"‘mﬁ' SiThr] GG | = m s 310 AM Lo
N = e I..Innﬂue:b.r.-n.r'aes IS |, ,,'.-,', Ak el
' L P g I N =1n-ad
¥ o & Page 89




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE PROJECT

BRIEF SUMMARY OF PURPOSE OF REPORT
PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE PROJECT: KEY ISSUES

Background

The Regional Office has received a request from Milford Haven Port Authority (on behalf of the Pembroke Dock
Marine Project partners) and Pembrokeshire County Council for the Joint Committee to address a number of key
issues that, individually and collectively, determine the fate and future of the PDM project. These issues are now
urgent, and if supported, would enable both Governments to respond with a phased approval whereby the match
funding for WEFO funded elements could be released to keep the project on track.

The case for Joint Committee decisions is set out on the attached Memorandum from Milford Haven Port
Authority (dated 11 February; see Appendix 1). Significant progress on the PDM has already been achieved
through the combined actions of the project partners, with major inward investment (£15m-£35m) secured on the
presumption that the PDM will be delivered (see Appendix 2a, 2b, and 2c).

The project has evolved (and reduced in size) to reflect both industry needs and EU/WEFO funding timescales.
The revised project (see Appendix 3) has been considered by the Regional Office (see Appendix 4) and was
considered by the Economic Strategy Board at its site visit on 26 February. Pembrokeshire County Council
support the change in scope.

Key issues

1. Revised project scope

Subject to comments from the ESB the Joint Committee is requested to approve the revised project scope.

2. Timeframe

The Joint Committee is requested to approve that the (discretionary) five year project delivery period commence
from the start on site date rather than the approval date. (This reflects the extensive terrestrial and marine
consenting process.)

3. NNDR uplift allocation

The PDM is ‘unusual’ insofar as the c¢.£48m capital expenditure is not likely to generate a significant uplift in
NNDR. Historically, new businesses have been entitled to business rate relief in Enterprise Zones.
Pembrokeshire County Council and PDM partners argue that as all City Deal projects are of regional benefit, and

all costs are apportioned equally, then the net NNDR uplift from the City Deal projects should be aggregated and
apportioned across the suite of projects.

Subject to the Welsh Government approving any necessary legislative changes, the Joint Committee is
requested to agree the principle of shared NNDR allocation. This may also require clarification from WG,
reference Mark Drakeford’s letter of 11 April 2018, in this regard.

Conclusion

The PDM project is at a critical stage with partners and Pembrokeshire County Council unable to make further
progress without these key issues being resolved.

The PDM has the potential to give the city region a competitive edge in the global marine energy sector (see
forthcoming Marine Energy Wales Conference, 4 April 2019).

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES
Appendices 1 -4

FL I

& . x":‘"“ i v,
é;‘_ come Sik Gar ’ & n %
= 4 = R
Pl Carmarchenshire o
Liurgor kb gt e cq‘m = R et

Swraneea Couil Eh Ll z Gillgs g -_-.n.-'-'l".\

____.-!""-
r"a T SwWaNsCa

|30 P R IRy | 0
wmer o R Mo on g
I=h-=m= Ik 1hh e

wed ety A BSa Loy Lt
-l-,_ -1y
S eh el ey Rl =S

Cuorty  GSRYEe O cig
& Wi eily of U 28 Mils
é:gm i sari nesd Page 2




IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and
Equalities
NONE NONE NONE NONE NONE
L{{_ﬂ* " sl 5
Ny II

Loyror &b Eing
Swaneea Counicl

T

rﬁ‘w Swansca

S Uiy
—

%%-‘ rityscpcl

abertawe

Carmarchens h|

Prify=asl Cyriru
AR 3 T

L Ui gily of W 28

Trnpsalinead

ol Cr
k1%

I\-:‘d Lad il Rt )
FRET

I'\| wroh ool ea = R

{_I'L'_ B, 127 g
“ oz Ere Saagen oy

Page 91




CONSULTATIONS

Extensive consultations with industry, and local stakeholders, with WEFO and WG and with
UK Government.

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document File Ref Locations that the papers are available for
No. public inspection/WEBSITE LINK

udl-

e
-, i

é;‘_ e Kir Gar n %

= Carmarchenshire _é

Liuror RbertEne -_w!'

Swaneea Counicl \q""-',-'i
__‘_...l-.-

% Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru .

; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: i Bundo 1o Sk
e re Moo en

- 5 Unnﬂlmh r.-n.r'aes IS Tt e S

wed ety A BSa Loy Lt
-l-,_ -1y
Iyvowrsh ol enc= s Rownd I\\II I.q




PORT OF MILFORD HAVEN
MEMORANDUM

To: The Joint Committee, Swansea Bay City Region
c/o Helen Morgan, Regional Office,

cc
lan Westley, PCC

Steven Jones, PCC

Andy Jones, MHPA

Paul Ellsmore, ORE Catapult
Claire Gibson, WaveHub Ltd
David Jones, Marine Energy Wales

From: Tim James, MHPA
Date: 11.02.2016
Request

This Memo is submitted to support a recommendation for formal approval of Pembroke Dock
Marine in its current submitted format by the Joint Committee in response to a query raised by
UK and Welsh Government at a meeting with RO officials on the 30t of January.

The projects vision and ethos to make the SBCR a global leader in the Marine Energy and
Engineering Industry is unchanged. We are comforted by the strong political support both UK
and Welsh Government have for this intervention. It still remains a regional project and is able to
evidence the benefits from technology developers, academia and supply chain across the region.

The current scope makes for a more robust project for all stakeholders. The projects economic
case was independently carried out by Amion Consulting, which concluded high Value for Money
against the green book methodology. Nothing in their assessment suggests that the jobs and GVA
figures as presented at HoT stage would be compromised in any way.

Members will be aware that the affordability of the SBCD funding’s revenue costs is an issue for
both the project partners and Lead Authority. The project will create NNDR but only in the Port
Infrastructure element with the quantum not certain as such will be reliant on customer demands
in the future, however these are not expected to cover the cost of borrowing in its entirety.

We are therefore collectively seeking and requesting a regional solution to this issue and ask the
Joint Committee to use their ability under clause 14.3 of the Agreement for the Establishment of
the Joint Committee to agree a method for ascertaining the distribution of NNDR uplift across
the regional portfolio to enable this project to meet its proposed deliverables as part of the
Swansea Bay City Deal.

Page 95 Page 93



We continue as always to support the Joint Committee to find a solution that works for all parties.

This Memo provides a summary of the Pembroke Dock Marine project that evolved from the
project scope at Heads of Terms stage in March 2017. The project’s industry consultation, which
commenced in mid-2017 has resulting in a change in funded outputs but has been carried out
openly and transparently with all stakeholders.

The current scope of the project is fully described in the Full Business Case that passed Regional
Office review and was submitted to UK and Welsh Government on the 16.08.2018.

To answer initial Government queries raised on the 28t of September, Supplementary
Information which detailed the scope change, industry consultation and rationale for that change
also passed Regional Office review and was submitted to UK and Welsh Government on the | |¢
of December 2018.

The four elements that make up the project still exist and we are confident that a Marine Energy
and Engineering Centre of Excellence (MEECE) centred around a Port infrastructure development
(PDI), nursery testing sites (META) and an array scale demonstration (PDZ) area are what industry
require.

That offering has and will continue to attract inward investment to make the Swansea Bay City
Region a global leader in the marine energy and floating wind sector within the context of the
established oil and gas sector.

Significant advances have been made since the Heads of Terms were signed and solid progress is
being made on all elements. MEECE is operational and has attracted additional investment from
the academic sector.

META is also active working on its consent and aims to utilise additional allocation from
underspend elsewhere in the project to increase its market attractiveness and strengthen its
sustainability beyond the initial 5 years

The Port infrastructure is also working towards its relevant consents. Design work is reducing
heritage impact and CADW are fully engaged in pre-application discussions. These have been
extremely positive to date. No listed structures are being demolished and a significant package of
enhancement measures (including the 2000m? of refurbished offices in the annexes to the two
Sunderland Hangers, which have planning and listed building consent in hand) are being proposed
to mitigate any residual impact.

Extensive industry feedback has informed the current proposals and timing for the PDI and PDZ
elements. The PDZ completed a commercial and technical viability study that concluded including
floating wind technology will be more attractive to industry in the short term. The project is now
looking to provide double the capacity to market (I80MW) making it not only the world largest
wave energy scheme but also the world’s largest floating wind lease area.

Including wind energy in the project scope has increased the consenting period so that it would
not be possible to build the onshore PDZ infrastructure by the end of WEFO’s deadline at the

Page 94 Page 96



end of 2023. This unfortunately meant allocation of WEFO funding for the PDZ build and private
match could not progress within the project scope.

Part of the City Deal and WEFO allocation have been re-distributed to Access Infrastructure
elements of the Pembroke Dock Improvements, with the remaining City Deal allocation being re-
distributed to META.

The project finances now stand as presented in the latest FBC and are shown below.

PDI/ META | MEECE / PDZ TOTALS

2017118| 201819 20118120 2620/21 202422 2022123 2023/24 Totais

672188 F6572.706) £13.855,347| £14.027.920) £10,858.251) £2,3564,119) £1.880.572| £48.441508

\Fewinis | £353.690| £1.042724 2 £2.976,631| £2,840434| £2485 188 2 £1.427.928) £1.044774] £12,181371

Total E1,0 £7,815,429| £18,831,977| £16,868,353| £13,484,440| £3,782.048) £42,640,892] £60,622,878
Fundedby: | '_ o |

{ 2wl £0 £21,175]  £189,064/ £185.235 £135.645)| £459,860 £312.008  £1.302,988

£150 000 £150,000] £0 £0 £0] £0 £0 £300,000

£0| £2,673077| £8.284.200] £11,3185675 £4,744.651  £676163  £303.333] £26,000,000]
£0]  £632,346]  £360,000( £1,336,000] £2427090 £5160.110]  £630572 £10.546.118]

£0 £0 £0 £0| £0 £1250,000] £1.650000]  £2,.900,000

£243513)  £898434  £6.844,801  £6,330.244] £2089,521  £710.922 £0]  £17,106,436

Oter | £0] £11843]  £177,912 £98,105 £94,512 £55 529 £29.431 £457,337
Total £393,613| €2,272,775| £11,951,977 £15,587,904] €15472,138] £12,019,225 £2,925,346 £60,622,878

Members of the Joint Committee will note the headline figure has reduced from £76m. This is
largely due to due to the reduction in private sector funding for the PDZ element which reduced
from £36m to £4.6m. The other elements have responded to reduce the reduction to £15m,
roughly the equivalent of the private sector investment into the PDZ element.

The project has, as part of the Wales offer attracted £15m of inward investment from Australian
wave energy developer Bombora Wavepower (see letter to Cllr. Simpson Dated 10.12.2018 -
attached). We are also encouraged that the Tidal Energy Limited technology and grid connected
facility at Ramsey Sound has also been bought by Cambrian Offshore Ltd. Their investment and
plans as detailed in the attached letter will bring in further investment and provide additionally to
the presented scope.

Upon receipt of a level of comfort from UK / Welsh Government that Pembroke Dock Marine is
supported, a further £20m of investment will be unlocked from Swansea based Marine Power
Systems (see letter to Clir Simpson and Clir Stewart dated 27.11.2018.

It is this evidence and insight that gives the project partners confidence in a more commercially
attractive and robust proposition for the Swansea Bay City Region and supported by the Lead
Authority, the Project Delivery Lead requests on behalf of the consortium of Pembroke Dock
Marine project partners that the Joint Committee formally approve this project scope so that it
can progress through the necessary milestones and dependencies towards approval.

Page 97 Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



-

Wars!

NE J=3 e
UNGER BVROPEAID Uywodraeth Cymeu
ELPOREAN UREOK Wielsh Governmient

Cronfa Datbiygu wave pawe?
Rhanbarthol Ewrop
European Regional Bombora Wave Power Europe Lid

Development Funtd

The Offices
Cleddau Reach
Pembroke Dock

Pembrokeshire
SA72 86U

www.bomborawave .com

Clir David Simpson

Leader

Pembrokeshire County Council
County Hall

Haverfordwest,
Pembrokeshire

SA61 1TP

10t December 2018

Dear Clir Simpson,

We are writing to request your continued support for the Pembroke Dock Marine project and request that a
swift decision is made to approve the project.

Bombora Wave Power Europe Limited (Bombora) is a subsidiary of Bombora Wave Power Pty a company
founded in 2012 In Perth, Western Australia to develop a Wave Energy Conversion {(WEC) technology called
mWave.

After considerable research, Pembroke Dock was selected for our European headquarters and operations and
we moved here in November 2017. We have set up our operations at Llanion Cove, Pembroke Dock, and have
an agreement with the Port Authority for use of their facilities where we intend to carry out our fabrication,
assembly and shore testing.

Pembroke Dock offers good access to experienced marine energy staff, critical supply chain capability and
marine operations expertise, enabling us to strengthen our team and ramp up operations to demonstrate and
commercialise the mWave technology. The Marine Energy Test Area (META) provides access ta an exposed
ocean testing area and test areas that can accommodate multiple wave and tidal energy technologies.

To complete the R&D for the mWave Demonstration Project, we have been awarded a £10.3m grant from the
European Regional Development Fund through the Welsh Government to develop our £15m full scale 1.5MW
mWave prototype.

The ERDF program in Wales offers developers like Bombora a significant opportunity to test pre-commercial
technology. However, the Swansea Bay City Deal and more specifically Pembroke Dock Marine provides an
opportunity for the long term, creating an exciting facility and environment where we can operate a
sustainable business plan to market mWave throughout Europe. Bombora is committed to creating a global
operational and assembly base in Pembroke Dock and the development proposed under the Pembroke Dock
Marine project is important to facilitate this.

Bombora Wave Power Europe Lid is a Company Registered in Englend & Wales
Company Registration Number 10733443 VAT Registration Number GB 281 4034 17

I ERAZDR AT e




Over the last 12 months we have created an operational base in Pembroke Dock with the generation of 18
high quality posts. Our work to date has engaged and contracted local supply chain companies such as
Kingswood Engineering in Pembroke Dock, Griffiths and Daughters in Tenby, Mainstay Marine Services in
Pembroke Dock and Norrard Electrics in Milford Haven.

This is just the start of the potential local regeneration benefits and opportunities that will stem from the
project over the next 2 years. These opportunities will extend longer into the future if we have the
opportunity to do so.

As a technology company we liaise with local academia to support our activities. We are sponsoring a student
at Swansea University and have visited Pembrokeshire College to raise awareness of our project and the
opportunities Marine Renewable Energy has for the region.

Our ability to deliver on time and to budget and to create a sustainable technology and operating business in
Pembroke Dock will be supported by timely approval of the Pembroke Dock Marine project. As part of a
growing new industry in Pembrokeshire we request your support for the Pembroke Dock Marine project for
the benefit of Pembrokeshire and the Swansea Bay City Region.

Yours sincerely,

/7//:"

iy -
S 3

J".:;"* -

Chris Williams
Commercial Manager

Page 98 Page 100



MARINE POWER SYSTEMS

For the attention of David Simpson

27" November 2018
Dear David,

I hope that you are well and do not mind me writing to you in regard to support for Pembroke Dock
Marine. Our Company, Marine Power Systems is an established marine energy technology business
who is developing the WaveSub, a wave energy converter. Based in Swansea, the company currently
employs 10 staff who reside throughout the region.

The 1:4 scale device that was supported by private investment and European Regional Development
Funding, was fabricated and deployed in Pembroke Dock and maximised the local supply chain
throughout the Swansea Bay Region contracting work to business’ within all four local authorities.
This included, but was not limited to Ledwood Mechanical Engineering, Mainstay Marine Solutions,
Camplas Technology and 3K’s Engineering. In the future, we envisage that European installed
capacity could be constructed and delivered from the SBCR, due to our unique advantage of being
able to tow the device considerable distances using modest work vessels.

Immediate plans

We are in the advanced stages of making the £20m financial investment decision for our full scale
device. This decision is predicated on the outputs of Pembroke Dock Marine being available to
Marine Power Systems. The next phase is expected to maintain our current staffing levels & increase
headcount by circa 14 full time staff. To deliver on the creation of jobs and growth, by providing
employment opportunities for those who are out of work, MPS is fully committed to the vision of a
Welsh marine energy supply chain, having set itself an aim of achieving a minimum 50% Welsh
supply chain content for the Operation. This was achieved for our 1:4 scale Operation.

Need for PDM

The full scale WaveSub will be a significant piece of engineering. At approximately 100m long, 40m
wide and weighing several thousand tonnes, the device will require infrastructure and access
infrastructure to suit. Marine Power Systems were an active consultee in both the Pembroke Dock
Improvements, META and the commercial and technical feasibility study for the Pembrokeshire
Demonstration Zone. The current re development plans at Pembroke Port are critical to our next
phase and longer term ambitions are to have capacity in The Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone,
which would see multiple WaveSub’s fabricated, deployed and maintained within from the region.

In order for us to make our next final investment decision, we need to have a degree of comfort that
Pembroke Dock Marine is in a position to move forward in early 2019. Without it, there is potential
risk of delay as it is unlikely that the fabrication will be able to be completed at Pembroke Dock. All of
these have the potential to dent investor confidence and | would ask that you use your influence to
lead this project to approval as soon as possible.

Please do not hesitate to contact me, should you wish to discuss further.
Yours sincerely,

Dr Gareth Stockman
Chief Executive Officer

MARINE POWERSYSTEMSLTD .«
et

0A m 0el, ) Page *«1@&,1“} A

ses FAT ZAS canimioer

f&':‘z:;‘.:ipeaQQf 99&" 3

Ceavnany No, 08508123




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



CAMBRIAN
OFFSHORE

AR Y MOR CAMBRIAN

Tim James Cambrian Offshore Ltd
Port of Milford Haven 14-16 Churchill Way
Pembroke Port Cardiff

Pembroke Wales

Wales CF10 2DX

9" January 2019

Support for the Pembroke Dock Marine Development- Swansea Bay City Deal

To whom it may concern,

| am writing to express our support for the development of Pembroke Dock, as described as part of
the Swansea Bay City Deal. Cambrian Offshore Ltd are a new organisation, set up to realise the
potential for the development of tidal energy in Wales. Our initial project is to regenerate the
existing assets at the Ramsey Sound tidal deployment site and work in alignment with the local
supply chain.

We intend specifically to use the port facilities at Pembroke Dock, including office space, lay down
areas and quayside as well as maintaining a lease of storage facilities within the port. As the project
progresses, we are likely to be undertaking significant activity within the Port facilities, including
completion of a forensic analysis of the Delta-Stream tidal turbine, refurbishment of the subsea
base, cabling operations and transition piece design. This work will require the facility and handling
capacity found within the Port. During the recovery operations, our intent is to utilise the Port as a
base for marine operations, including the recovery of a substantive mooring system.

Following recovery, we plan to use Pembroke Port as the base for all marine operations in relation to
the Ramsey Sound project. We will be working extensively with marine contractor KML to realise
opportunities in Wales. KML have an interest in seeing the port develop to accommodate their
vessels,

The opportunity for Pembroke Dock to play a key role in supporting not only the development of the
Ramsey Sound project but also more broadly the opportunities for building a new sector and
industry in Wales cannot be understated. The geographic and logistical position of the facility and
the investment assigned to support the future of the port is a key factor in Cambrian Offshore
considering the Ramsey Sound project.

Page 103 Page 101



AF

4
CAMBRIAN
OFFSHORE

AR Y MOR CAMBRIAN

I do hope this letter serves to express our support for the development and investment in to
Pembroke Dock. Providing the facilities for development of marine energy in West Wales will be vital
to leverage further investment through marine energy projects including not only Ramsey Sound but
the Marine Energy Test Areas (META) and Catapults Marine Energy Centre of Excellence (MEECE). By
clustering these activities around Pembroke Dock, the opportunity for accelerated development,
economic benefits and knowledge capacity will be captured within the region.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you wish to discuss this matter further.

Regards,

Sue Bar
Cambrian Offshore Ltd.

Chair — Marine Energy Council

Page 102 Page 104



Agenda Item -

Pembroke Dock Marine — Funded Outputs

The Pembroke Dock Marine (PDM) project is made up of 4 integrated elements,
e Pembroke Dock Improvements (Infrastructure)

e Marine Energy Test Area (META)

¢ Marine Energy Engineering Centre of Centre of Excellence (MEECE)

e Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ)

Project scope is to 'unlock local growth and regeneration opportunities in the area, exploring marine
and other energy sectors. The ambition will be that this project will create a cluster of resources,
knowledge and capabilities in marine energy and other energy sectors to accelerate technological
development and lead to indigenous business growth, new start up business and an attraction for
international business in this field.

In response to changing policy support for marine renewables and the rules around state aid in
Maritime Ports since signing the HoT in March 2017, in depth industry consultation was undertaken
to ensure the project could attract interest from a number of complimentary sectors. This was done
with full knowledge and support from the RO and both governments supported. As a result, the
funded outputs of two elements have changed, most significantly for;

- Pembroke Dock Improvements (Infrastructure)

- Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ)

This paper summarises the changes in funded outputs of the two project elements above and the
impact of these changes on overall project outputs and finances with further detail in the attached
Appendix.

Both Governments have received an informal Business Plan and an associated Addendum detailing
these changes and the rationale behind them. In order to progress with the assessment of these
documents, both Governments have asked that the 4 Leaders approve the change in funded outputs
of the project.

The project has a number of complex interdependencies including security and conditions of ERDF
monies totalling £16.7m across all elements which is dependent on City Deal monies being approved
and project commencement, ideally in July 2019, which is looking unlikely but as soon as reasonably
practicable.

1. Pembroke Dock Improvements (Infrastructure)

Original Funded Outputs Proposed Funded Outputs
1. Secure outline consents and
conservation consents

2. Infill of one of the dis-used slipways,
pickling pond and dry dock

1. Secure outline consents & conservation consents

2. Infill of dis-used dry dock and pickling pond

Page 105 Page 103



Modification of two slipways into a single
‘superslipway’

Outline consent for 4900Sgm Fabrication shed over
disused dry dock

3. Acquisition of small parcel of land 3. Acquisition of small parcel of land (Triangle’) to
(Triangle’) to create construction space create construction space

4. Creation of 8100sgm of laydown yard
and external works for heavy fabrication /
device assembly

4 Creation of 28,028 sqm of laydown yard and
external works (increase by 350%

outline consent for 11,900sgm of heavy fabrication

shed
5. Construction of heavy fabrication sheds | 5 outline consent for two sheds above and
(including overhead cranes)* construction of 2500sqm of fabrication shed.
6. Construction of 2000 sqm of MEECE
support 6. Re development of 2000sgm of offices,

offices/laboratories/workshop/training in workshops around Sunderland Hangar annexes
Gate 4 area”
7. Construction of repair shed (inc

* 7. see 2.
overhead cranes)
8. Installation of heavy lift hoist or floating
dry dock or submersible jack up 8. Construction of multi use slipway
9. Construction of 70sgm of workboat berthing
pontoons

10. 20m transport corridor between the east and
west of the dockyard.

11. Adequate parking provision for increased
employment

Rationale:

The change in scope is based on changing industry needs which have been identified through
extensive consultation with industry. This consultation revealed a preference for more open, inter
connected multiuse laydown space and to not compromise the space with office accommodation.

In addition to the funded outputs, the latest business case makes a number of supporting investment
objectives including in part, 5 and 15 year inward investment objectives of £50m and £300m
respectively with the latter caveated on national policy support for marine renewables.

2. Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ)

Original Scope Current Scope
e Consent and build the onshore infrastructure | e Consent for an Increased capacity from
for the PDZ, a 90km2 offshore leased site for 90MW to 180MW

the commercial deployment of 100MW full e Target wave and floating wind energy
scale wave energy devices, including devices
connection to the UK energy system. e Securing grid connection

Rationale:

At Heads of Terms PDZ was subject to approximately £18m of ERDF (with £14m private sector
match funding) to fund the build of the 90km2 offshore leased site. This ERDF funding was subject
to findings of a feasibility study which was completed in August 2018. The findings of this

Page 104 Page 106



Commercial and Technical viability study showed that the PDZ offshore leased site should include
opportunities for floating Wind Energy devices as well as wave energy devices. Wind energy is a
more developed sector and has a faster route to market. Including wind energy in the project scope
has increased the consenting period meaning that it is now not possible to build the original PDZ
90km?2 offshore leased site within WEFQO’s timeframe of 2023. As a result the £18m ERDF has been
reduced to £3.6m to secure the consent, with the with the £14m private sector match funding no
longer being required within the 5 year funding period.. It is therefore no longer possible to build the
PDZ 90km2 offshore leased within 5 years but the consent will enable the inward investment and
construction, which according to the studies above could be in excess of £900m of inward investment
and 1000 jobs.

Impact:
Financial
Original Scope (HOT) | Current Scope
Pembroke Dock Improvements (Infrastructure)
£18,850,000 - City Deal £21.55m — City Deal
£9,620,000 — Private Sector £2.5m — Private Sector
£13,163,118 — MHPA
£7m - ERDF
| Total | £28,470,000 £44.213,118
Pembrokeshire Demonstration Zone (PDZ)
£4.5m — City Deal £1,667,103 — City Deal
£14m — Private Sector £2,932,897 - ERDF
£17.5m — ERDF
| Total [ £36,000,000 £4,600,000
Overall Pembroke Dock Marine Project
£28,000,000 - City Deal £28,000,000 — City Deal
£25,920,000 — Private £13,563,118 — Private
£22,400,000 — Public £18,709,740 - Public
| Total | £76,320,000 £60,272,857
Outputs
Original Assessment
£ GVA £ GVA £ GVA Net Jobs | Net Jobs | Net Jobs
(5 year) (10 year) (15 year) (5 year) (10 year) | (15 year)
25,000,000 | 67,000,000 | 126,000,000 119 553 595
Current Assessment (carried out by Amion Consulting Ltd)
£ GVA £ GVA Net Jobs
(Annual*) (Cumulative) (period unspecified)
73,500,000 343,400,000 1881**
Page 107 Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 108



"MOpUIM Je3A § 3U3 ulyum 3jqesanaq Ajnd

PAUHO

S,UBWRI04 J3WI0S 3Y) Ule}dl 0] |BIIU3J04
"2%s pop Aip pajjyur

pue Aemdi|s mau usamiaq aseds uoiisuery
pue umopéAe| 10} aeds asodand-1ynw

se pasodoud uado mou 3deds uopaniisuo)
puej

9|8uew3 jo doy uo pasodoid Suipying mau oy
s8uipjing jo asueses))

"LOH [eutdiio Jad se sj8uepy Jo uopisinbay
"s3uip|ing Jo 93uele3)d 35|geus o] JUISUD
B3JE UOITEAIDSUOD PUE JUISUOI BUYIND

3115 )20Q Suiaeig 03

pa1ed0]31 31e3s Juip|ing sjqeredwor)
"uBisep-aJ wAYds palinbal

sagueys anjonuIseiu $$320Y

(2A0qe UMmoys se) g Buipng Fuiigeus e

YO S, uesI04
JawJoy |) 3pets Butpnpul sulpping J|e jo 2oueled) e
SJUISUDD e

azeds uol1anJIsuod
21ea. 01 (,9(3uey,) puej Jo [22.ed [jews yo uoisinboy 'z

{we'v3z
=W / 000TF @ 1509 pajewns3) "puewap
PUE JU3W1s3Aul 101035 alealsd o3 asuodsas u

*0p AIp p3)|ut sano g Suipjing jo uoIPMIISUC) o

}20p Aip pasn-sip 1o |y

(N 006t}

Suippng voneauqey pue Jsiedas diys Aeq

Y31y wsg Aq wsz e ‘g Suippng Pnsued pue
330p Ap pasn-sip [jul 03 JUBsUOCI aunNg

‘Aemdi|s

98.e| 81e8.0 01 T diIS YyUM BUIqIOD
ng g dis |jyu j0u 0] uds3ead
Fuouss ul paynsai sishjeue | OMS
(084 jo J xipuaddy

U} PaJUBPIAS pue Paduallsal

SB) $53208 JO poylaw aaneuss)e
pausagaud uoneynsuoa Aigsnpu)
{8-0N 93s) a8e)s | OH e pasieut) j0u
9J3M SUO0IdO 2ININIISEILUI SSAIIY

s1eah ¢ puohag

{Jeah ¢} 54 wauny

{uonewioyul Asejuawaiddng wouy 1e13x3) 23uey) o) sjeuorey pue Jg4 JU3NJ 3Y1 YyUM sINdIN0 LOISSIUGNS | OH BY3 JO MIANAY 7 3|qeL

afuey) 10 aeuoey

UOISSILGNS LOH

Page 107

Page 109



WLTTF =W /00013

@ 1503 palewNIS] ‘puBWSP pue JUBIISIAUI
101935 a1eaud o3 asuodsas ug yaop Supord
P3Jj4ul 1940 v 5, Suip|Ing JO UOIINIISUOT)

"284 9T 98ed ‘€T U104 1€ weiFeiq 3ag
(3usjeanba o) Suippng AdueUAUIEW

pue Ajquasse 1y ,lWQQOSZ JO UOHINIISUOD
J pue g ‘y 8uip|ing Joj 1U3sUo) AulINQ

-apjoid

|EI2URULY BY] PISIADL 3UNIINIISELU|
pasinal ay] o sisAjeue 1503 pajielaq
"Pouad @Jgs tethui Jeah §

3Y3 UIYUMm 353Y] 10§ pI3U AL MBS
01 paau ayl Surjenssacau ‘apisAenb
93 wouy Aeme aseds umopAe|
asninw ‘uado aJow Joy Faualayald
e paisanbai os|e ssasoud wes ayy
"J84 Ut UMOYS SE SUOIIeI0|

01 uoilsod § oH Wouy uo11ed0|3l
paisanba. uoneynsuol Ansnpuj

‘(sauesd

pe?YJIaA0 Butpnjaul) spays uoiedgey ANE3Y JO UOIINIISUDY g

(w6 vF

=,W /000TF @ 1502 pajewnls3 "puewap
pue JuawWisaAul 1012935 ajeald 03 asuodsal ul
J0p AJp pajiul 1340 g SuIp|ing JO UOITINIISUOD

BAOGE UMOYS Se 74
Pue T4 ‘q S,eaJe ul papiaoad 8deds uonisues)
pue umopAe| jeuoilippe ‘| oH Jad sy

uoied0|

s1y1 w1 Suipping e ioj pieAyaoq

9U3 U) 3J3ymas|a adeds ay} pajeso|al
Sey uonelnsuod Aisnpul Suimo)joy
3W3YIS JO UOISIADI pue ASueya
3IN}INJISEUI SSIIIE ‘IDAIMOH
‘pousad Jeah

S 3y} UIyIMm paleasd aq |jim umopAie|
3y3 ‘alis 3a0p Alp pasn-sip jo doj ug

Ajquuiasse 221Aap 104 pJeA UuMOpAeT Jo JuUaWdoRARQ S

(wetts

=W / 000TF @ 1502 pajewylsa) ‘puewap pue
1UBWIIS3AUL 10338 BjeAld 0] 3su0dsal Ul puog
Suiyaid pajyul 1aa0 y Suipping Jo UonRINNISUOD

sieah § puohag

(084-2

xipuaddy) ue|diaisey pasodoid ul umoys sy
M9EZ'Y izd eauy

ZUSS0" 1T ealy

WUPRS‘ST :Q ey

40 Buisudwiod ‘%05¢€ Aq ,wQOOTS

wo.) ease SupIom [BUIDIXS Ul 35e1du|
"LOH [euiSi10 13d se puogd Sunydid Jo [Iyu}
(;\U006°TT) soWaYds palejas SuusauiSus
dullew pue saijquasseqns 1o} Suipjing
uonesliqe) wo/ Aq wo/T e ‘y Sulpjing
puod 3uipiaid ay3 jjiul 01 19NIISUOD JUISUOD
22JE UOIIPAJASUOI PUR JUBSUOI dUIjIND

D84 WawLng

9 Buippng yum

8JNJINJISBLUI SS3IJE pue UMOpAR|
U33M]3Q 559978 ISIWOIGWOI J0N =
*S$}I0M [eUIIXB JO DEIS ASeAIIU|
10}
3ouasajaid uouys pawioyul |esodosd
uo uopeynsuod Aisnpuj (LoH 1sod)

aduey) 10§ ajeuoiiey

Aneay Joy syiom [ewsRIxs 3 puod Suipiod Jo (YUl g €

{zw000°0T) puod Suipoid uo ease uonesuqey

uoIssIugnS | oH

Page 110

Page 108



MOpUIM Je3A § 3yl uIylm 3)qesanlap Ajing

‘uolssiugns
10H 3y1 Ul padUaIaLal SPOYISW O] UOIIRISGNS Ul
pasodoud ease uoiisues pue Aemdifs ,WTSO'ET

‘Aemdys

adae} 218310 01 T dijs yum auiquiod
nq ¢ dis [jyw Jou 01 UL
uoss ul paynsal sisAjeue JOMS
(084 jo D xipuaddy

Ul PS2UBPIAG PUR PBIUDIDYRS

5e) $5322€ JO poylaiu BAIIBUII] R
pauiaaid uonelnsuod Asnpu)
9de1s | oH 1e pasyeuly Jou

21am SUORdO 3IN13NLISEIU) SSDITY
g pasiugoass sem a1nioniIsespul
5539208 pajueyua Joj pesN

dn-yoe(

9|qis;awgns/ya0p AJp Suneoyy/isioy Yif AAeay Jo uonejjeisy) :6

(wev3

=,W /000TF @ 1502 pajewnlsy ‘puewap

Pue 1usWIsaul 101335 ajeand o1 asuodsal u)
330p Ap pajjiyul JsA0 g Suipjing 0 uoIINIISUO)

"284 97 98ed ‘€T 104 1€ wesSeiq 335
'303995 Aq 3|qesajaid pawaap )
pays aredas apnjaui pinod yarym ‘(1uajeainba
10) Suip|ing @ueua3lUeW pue A|quasse
1431 A00ST 4O PPNIISUOD 0F JUAWNWWO)  »
(N 0061)
Suippng uonesuqey pue nedas diys Aeq ySiy
wgg Aq wsz e ‘g Bup|ing 19n13su00 pue
J00p AJp pasn-sip [{jul 0] JUBSUOD JUYINC  »

*BINIDONIISEIIUI SSIDIE pue
umopAe| UaamIag ANAIIIBULOIIRUL
UIBJUIELW 0] PIBU PUE UOIIEYNSUDD
Aysnpuy Jo 1ynsa e se uonedo|

g Suip;ing o3 paeaojas g 2u

(;woovz)
(saueud peaysano Suipnjaur) pays Jieday Jo uolINIISUO) g

*MOpUIM J1BBA § Y] Ul 3jqesIAlap Ajing

S1eah G puoAsy

‘puw

ut 3333 Yyum paudisep aeds doysylom
pue saiiojeloqe| ‘sadiyjo Buispdwod

90eds [BI2JBWIWIOD 35N PAXIW JO ZW/GET e

284 wanng

‘uonnyisqns

ul pasodoud saxauuy JeSuey
's3uipjing a8e11ay paso)sal

ulyum 358431 81830] 01 33uBI3sald
Suauis Ajjenba yum uoneso| awes u
5321j0 Hoddns ylim sease uolieaiigey
pue umopAe| uado asiwoadwod

10U 0} $5920.d uOIjEYNSUOI
Ansnpuj woly asuodsal Suons

sduey) 1oy sjeuciley

10007 Suisudwod ease § 3e ajdidund u) ‘doysyiom
‘saniojeloqe| ‘@240 yoddns ‘3333 JO UOIONIISUO) 7

UoISSIHLIGNS L OH

Page 109

Page 111



MOpUIM 1E3A G 3Y3 UIyLM B|geIBAIRQ AlIN] @

14ad ays ‘sAeavijem Suisixa Jo uoledIpo

‘supydjop 11Gd @41 Yo suoojuod
pue MoIq SS3I0e M3U JO UDIIEDLIGR]
‘T 318D WOy $5930€
Ilepowwodde 0] suiydjop pue uoojuod

‘uaisiaoad Suiypiaqg
paseasoul woddns o3 ansap olysads
B Y1M 043 WoLy 3wdYds ay) ojut

1y8noiq Burpuny 3)qnd jeuoiuppy
“{oBqPa3y UoNIEYNSUOD Aulsnpuj
‘Pajiwl 3J3M 3US 3Y] Je Y1Iag

01 51013e13U03 SuoljesadQ sunepy 1oy
saniunyoddo ayj 1ey) uvoiliugoday

Buyusg 1e0g340M €T

Mmopuim 1edh § ayl ulyum sjqesaaleg Aliny e

uawdojaalp
3Y3 JO SPaau 8y} 133w 01 uoisiaold Supyrey

juswdojaaap

3y1 01 10edun asianpe Juedyiusis

€ ul Jnsai jou pue a|gejieae

aJe saiye) Supped slenbape

1eyl 31es1suowap o3 paiinbal aq
|I!W BWBYIS ‘DY) SJUISUOI BINIAS O

Jled Je) "¢t

“Ayuawe 01 uoisus1xa / Suryied 1oy uosinboe
81is JauI03 Juadelpe ayj JapISuod 0} pasedald e
"MOpPUIM S1ERA G UIYNIM J|qeIdMap AlIng

"(13s
SIY1JO 7'£°€ U0I3I8S — 2ALIQ d8else) ass)
9oeds Ajuawe Jo Wi/ TE'/ JO Juawadueyu]

eale

23ed jedpund u) 1oedw agejuay
fenpisal a1egiyw o1 peaN e

'S23JR UonINAISUod [edpuud

wouy Aeme s231y40 poddns
pa3eao| o1 asuasoyaud Agsnpu) e
103 9su0dsal
Ul 191SN[D 1S3 YINOS JO JuaWBIURLUT

{swuswadueyua Apuswe) aauq adeier T

MOpuIm JB3A § By UM B|gesaARa Ajnd e

Sieah g puohag

*Z UOI1I3S UIYIIM SD|qeIaAIRp gDgs JO
Atewwns 3y} u umoys AlIead 30u Ul SIy3 Jey)
padiiou aAeH D44 Jo 4 xipuaddy ui sisAjeue
1500 p3|ie39p Ay ul paysod ydnoye — gN

‘uejdiaisepy pasodoig
Ul umoys se aInoJ SuImoyjoj ¢ ajes) pue T a3y
U33IMIDY JOP1110I HodSULI) WST JO UOIIMIISUOT

{1eaA g} 7g4 3usLIN)

uo|3e3nsuoa Aizsnpui 01 asuodsal

w1 ease ¢ ajed sjdpund ay; pue

T 21e3 ui Aenb 11} Areay ay3 usamiaq
AuAaUU02I1U] 131139 104 paaN

a8uey) Joy ajeuoney

2189 pue IS ¢ 3leY 3|dIdulld UIIMIDQ JOPLLIOD HodSuel} ‘0T

uoIss|wigns 1oH

duimojjo adoas o3 Aljeuolippy

Page 112

Page 110



Bargen Ddinesig

BAE ABERTAWE

SWANSEA BAY

City Deal

Agenda Iltem 9

SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION

JOINT COMMITTEE

28™ MARCH 2019

DEVELOPMENT OF HOMES AS POWER STATIONS, DIGITAL, SKILLS AND TALENT
AND PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To approve the prioritisation of the development of the following business

cases;
- Digital Infrastructure

- Homes as Power Stations
- Pembroke Dock Marine

- Skills and Talent

REASONS:

At the request of UK and Welsh Governments the region needs to identify the next suite of
projects to be progressed to formal submission to UK and Welsh Governments for approval.

Lead

Helen Morgan

Designation:

Economic Development
Manager

Carmarthenshire County
Council

Tel No.
01267 224901

E.Mail:
himorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.
uk

o ~
Ny come i Gar %
= Carmarchenshire : _é
Loyrgor &jeriEen _-_G'
Swmneea Coui| \q""-'z": w,( :..g'l"-'-"""'.&
___._.--l"'.- &
e SwWansca
B hicrsty ﬂﬁ;";‘:‘iﬁ':}""“ (1T |2 wed comat b i GICT | Buot. Lo sttogo
* ——— -I',_ =1y “ oz Ere Mo
R, Pritysgol ‘) S e “Pi Cfé 111
o abertawe




EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

DEVELOPMENT OF HOMES AS POWER STATIONS, DIGITAL, SKILLS AND TALENT
AND PEMBROKE DOCK MARINE

In order to achieve prompt project approvals, thereby maximising the outcome and impact of
the SBCD programme, the UK and Welsh Governments have requested that the region
identifies a number of tranches of projects to be developed from draft to formal business plan
submission and approval stage.

The first tranche of projects included;
- Swansea City and Waterfront Digital District
- Yr Egin
- Llanelli Life Science and Well-Being Village

It is recommended that the following four projects be progressed as part of the second tranche
of projects;

- Homes as Power Stations

- Digital Infrastructure

- Skills and Talent

- Pembroke Dock Marine

The Digital Infrastructure and Skills and Talent projects are cross cutting projects and prompt
approval will therefore further enhance overall achievements and impacts of the programme.
The Homes as Power Stations project will be physically delivered across all areas of the
region. It is therefore a project of significant scale with a number of interdependencies which
may be at risk if prompt approval is not received. There are pressing funding dependencies
relating to ERDF match funding for the Pembroke Dock Marine project. If approval is delayed
there is a potential risk that the project will fall.

Inclusion of the above projects reflects those which are currently at a mature stage of
development. Development of all business cases will continue within the region and will
respond to changing circumstances and demands across the City Deal programme.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO
«-. 2
é;‘_ e Kir Gar %
= Carmarchenshire E _é
Liurgor &b eriens \% _“_-_G'
:T:fﬂ;l "”: I-ul( P '-*""w

, Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru .

; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: i Bundo 1o Sk

e Ere Sl -

R%ée uggﬁl 5 Ui ity i s NI |5 S
Trnpsalinead

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
1 1y
HEe SIS

ey



IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and
Equalities
NONE Not at this Not at this stage YES NONE
stage

Risk Management Issues

Interdependencies relating to the financing and implementation of the four projects proposed for inclusion in the next
suite of projects may be at risk if business cases are not progressed to formal submission and approval stage

CONSULTATIONS

Project leads

Project Authority leads
Welsh Government
UK Government

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document File Ref Locations that the papers are available for
No. public inspection/WEBSITE LINK

Ll _ SRR
- : < =
é;‘_ come Sip Gar . & n %
H a ) R
-l Carmarchenshire 3 ——
Leur qar ki et gene Ty R =
Swranema Counii| e e :..e'l"’-'""\.&
T i
r":eﬂ- T SwWaNsCa 7
2 University ﬂ Bl Gl |2 owed matbnia o] L PRI E,
R, Pritysgol % Sl NI [ o Rl
'v) A .I Trnpsalinead Page 15

abertawe

T e \l,jq géﬂl.Igm




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 116



Agenda Iltem 10

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION

SWANSEA BAY JOINT COMMITTEE
City Deal

28™ MARCH 2019

PROJECTS ISSUE LOG AND RISK REGISTER

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To inform the Joint Committee of the latest projects issue log and SBCD
risk register.

To confirm process and timescales of reporting and escalating project
risks which present significant or immediate risks to the delivery of the
SBCD project and/or overall programme.

REASONS:

The Joint Committee requested that project issue logs and SBCD risk
register be submitted to each Joint Committee meeting for consideration.

Report Author: Designation: Tel No.
01267 224902
Helen Morgan Economic Development E.Mail:.
Manager HLMorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.uk
Carmarthenshire County
Council
. (fﬁ s
é;‘_ e Bir Gar E S
= Carmarchenshlre : _é

T

rﬁ‘w Swansca

B University *,,'q Eribyeast Cirnn ol e Ll GG | bet. Lo shase

A S 5unaeluru‘aes o Bl
, H Pritysol K sily oL Nl [ I S \ﬁq g*é 115‘
i abertawe Page



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

PROJECTS ISSUE LOG AND RISK REGISTER

The report includes;

1. SBCD Programme Risk Register

A detailed Programme Risk Register has been developed for the Swansea Bay City Deal
Programme (attached) and will be managed, revised and updated by the Regional
Office. The risk register will be reviewed at each meeting of the Programme Board and
Joint Committee and updated on a quarterly basis or as otherwise required.

This provides an overview of the programme and project risks, as detailed in the SBCD
Implementation Plan. Each Swansea Bay City Deal project will carry its associated risks
which will be mitigated throughout the application and delivery process. A detailed risk
analysis will be undertaken for all projects by the Project Delivery Lead as part of the
development of the 5 case business model process, with a project specific Risk Register
established to assist in the ongoing management and mitigation of all risks. These will
be available to Joint Committee as project business cases develop. A summary of key
overarching project risks is included in the SBCD Implementation Plan approved in
principle by the SBCD Joint Committee on 31st August 2018.

2. SBCD Project Issues Log

Any risks which pose a potentially significant or immediate risk to the overall City Deal
programme and/or project delivery will be highlighted and escalated to the Joint
Committee via the monthly issue log. The issues log captures the most current position
and will be updated and submitted to Programme Board and Joint Committee on a
monthly basis.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? YES

- Project Issues Log — March 2019
- Programme Risk Register — January 2019

na ~
Ny e Kir Gar S
-l Carmarchenshire : .é
Laurgor &E et e _-_w!'
Swane=a Cuunic| \q""-',-": vl e ___,__,,w?‘
____.-l"'.-

, Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru .
; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: i Bundo 1o Sk
wm e Ere Slaagon e
F&ée e R e AR e
Trnpsalinead

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
1 1y
HEe SIS




IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and

Equalities

NONE Not at this Not at this stage YES NONE

stage

Risk Management Issues

An agreed process to identify potential significant and/or immediate risks is required to
strengthen the integrity of existing programme risk management arrangements. Although risk
ownership for individual projects remains with the project lead and project lead authority this
process will ensure that any risks and issues which pose a potentially detrimental risk to the
overall City Deal are identified, mitigated and escalated to Joint Committee at the earliest
possible stage.

CONSULTATIONS

n/a

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document File Ref Locations that the papers are available for

No. public inspection/WEBSITE LINK
Swansea Bay City Deal Implementation Available from the Regional Office
Plan

a g
é;‘_ come i Gar n S
= Carmarchenshire .é

Loyror &b Eing
Swaneea Counicl \q""-',-'i E

T

udl-

TR g Swansca

Prifyaanl l:}'rnru

T I__Inn.'crsrr,_f Wit BRI Qlcr
: e rri S-_E ol l._Jr'uw'nEll.\ r.l['I.I"HEB RIS
&G vl > Page119

2o ockqd Bt {_IGAhf\d [T R ATy
E e Pl st

14 weshod ea = R g,é lInT




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 120



T2T 9abed

6TT abed

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE
SWANSEA BAY

City Deal

SBCD Project Issue Log — March 2019

The project issue log highlights current pressing issues and risks currently or potentially have a significant or immediate affect to overall City Deal programme and/or project delivery including delays to project
development, implementation or achievement of outcomes for example. The issue log should be considered alongside the wider project risk register (where available) and the SBCD Programme risk register.

Skills and Talent

... . Action / Update
Issue Description Owner | Implications

Unable to progress business case to
formal review and submission stage.
Delay in business case / funding approval
will mean that the other projects will begin
delivering without the associated Skills
training being in place.

Awaiting feedback on whether the latest

: . WG/
business case addresses previous UKG
comments by UK and Welsh Government

Business Case
Development

Digital Infrastructure

Issue Description Owner |Implications Action / Update

Dedicated project management team
Project management required including identified project leads in
resource each of the partner organisations.

Project |Pace of delivery will be compromised
lead without a formal project management
authority |team in place

Swansea Waterfront and Digital District

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update
Approval of Council funding is dependent on |SBCD |Delay to approval of City Deal funding will

Funding approval Government sign off of City Deal business |/ UKG |impact on the delivery timescales for the
case. /WG |projects

Yr Egin - Creative Digital Cluster

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update

Page 1 of 3



02T obed

22T abed

SBCD |Delay in approval of City Deal funding will
/ UKG |increasingly impact on project delivery
/WG |timetable for phase 2.

Yr Egin phase one has been completed and

Funding approval is fully occupied

Centre of Excellence in Next Generation Services (CENGS)

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update

None reported as at 22
March 19

Life Science and Well-being Campuses

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update

None reported as at 22
March 19.

Life Science and Well-being Village

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update

Funding for phase 1 will need to be Project Potential delay in September 2021 ‘go
Delay in phase 1 funding |confirmed in line with procurement of a lead live’ date for education, skills and training
construction contractor. components.

Reputational risks owing to sustained media
Negative perception of coverage linking to the ongoing

project investigation in Swansea University to the
proposals for the Village.

Project
lead /
SBCD

Potential decline in interest by investors,
service providers and general public

Homes as Power Stations

Issue Description Owner | Implications Action / Update

_ _ Until formal approval of City Deal
Funding assurance required to support |SBCD |business case is received project can

Funding approval match funding bids for ERDF and IHP |/ UKG |only provide assurance in principle which
funding /WG |may pose a risk to securing match
funding
Clarity required as to whether approval can WG/
Business case be obtained without procurement activity UKG

required for FBC

Pembroke Dock Marine

Page 2 of 3



Issue Description Owner |Implications Action / Update
Since signing the heads of terms the
D e hong sy, |1C_|f chang of scope i ot agre s wi
Change in project scope 9 ANty . Y Project |have severe implications on whether the
as detailed in separate report to JC in leads roiect can oroceed
March 2019. Need approval to progress pro) P '
change in scope.
Acc.
NNDR Clarity required on NNDR arrangements E?géé,{ Project viability is subject to discussions
specifically how NNDR will be apportioned aut#\ority relating to NNDR
lead

Project delivery

Clarity required on when the five year

Will ensure project implementation and

: . . . JC benefits realisation timescales are
timescale delivery period begins

accurate.

Until formal approval of City Deal

, , . SBCD/ |business case is received project can
. Number of interdependencies relating to . R
Funding approvals . . UKG/ |only provide assurance of funding in
spend / securing of ERDF match funding 7 . .
WG principle which may pose a risk to match

funding or overall project delivery

Factory of the Future

-
QD
«Q
2 Issue Description Owner |Implications Action / Update
& Project
Project unable to reach agreement with WG | Authority Unt.” a site h g been conﬁrmeq the
Land ) o project business case and delivery
to secure land site for building lead /
WG cannot progress
Steel Science
Issue Description Owner |Implications Action / Update
Project . . .
Project unable to reach agreement with WG | Authority Unt.” 2 Ol h as been conﬁrmeq the
Land ) o project business case and delivery
to secure land site for building lead /
cannot progress
WG
T
Q
(@)
)
H
N
H

Page 3 of 3




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 124



Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register

Develonment Risks
Original Assessment:

Latest Assessment:- 1st January 2019

March 2018
2 2 =
3 8 AR g 51812| e E 31802| e 3 58
£ 5l s s I 3 S|E[E| & 558 S|E(E]| S 588 AHE:
2 S | ¢ s S8 = |« £ 3| 3 209 g 3| = 205 g e
g % 3 33 28/ §5|¢ ° S1218| & 532% 138 & 538G 133
(=] © o o ®n c O [ a £ T » 2 S [ ® < o » £ S o ® < ° ] 0
% © &3 “a| g | £ < alz|3| & 3 al3]3 2 3 al3|3
£ o €| £ 3 H e | =) 3 e | ¥ S 3 e | x
14 4 4
Local authority legal and financial working group JCA formally approved by each of the four local As previous update
Unable to formally establish established and meeting regularly with contractors to authorities at meetings of the full Councils in June and
governance structures. Unable to draw ensure agreement reflects requirements of all parties. July. JCA endorsed by JC at first formal meeting on 31st
) Cc6 down city deal funding. Unable to sign Regular updates to Joint Committee and drafts regularly August 2018
Delay in approval of JCA o | AR projeZt o cgases. Risk Ofg 3| s submitted to Joint Committee and Governments for 2|5 1.0ct.18 1] 1 01.Jan.19 1] 1
withdrawal of local authority / other review.
partner from City Deal (see risks below)
IP signed off in principle at the first JC on 31st August IP signed off in principle at the
Delay in overall mobilisation and IP drafted by RO. Review of draft versions IP by both 2018. Final IP to be reviewed and endorsed by JC at next first JC on 31st August 2018. IP
Delay in approval of C6 RO delivery of City Deal programme and 313 Govs and speedy iterative process have enabled final 2| 3 1.0ct18 meeting following approval by UK and Welsh 1 1 01.Jan.19 will "ee_d to be reviewed in light of 5| 4
Implementation Plan c14 agreement of formal Joint Committee version. IP on agenda for sign-off at first formal JC T Government -9 |/ following programme review due
work programme. meeting anticipated end of Summer 18. to be completed in Jan 2019.
Formal governance structure Recruitment process agreed with UK & Welsh ESB Chair and membership approved at first formal Joint
incomplete.  Unable to begin formal Government Early and Committee meeting on 31st August 2018. Introductory
review of business cases. Lost frequent communication re: regional decisions / session held on 19th September to assist members in
opportunity of private sector direct recommendations their new role. Future meeting dates for the next 12
JC/ |involvement to inform and assist in the months set in advance, with scheduled frequency of ESB
Delay in establishment of ESB C14 UKG & |wider economic development of the 4 5 3 5 1.0ct.18 meetings increased to a monthly basis (or more 1 1 01.Jan.19 |As previous update 1 1
WG  |SBCD Region. frequently as required) to establish momentum in
o anticipation of a number of business cases coming
8 forward.
(¢}
H
8 City Deal issues are not considered a Ensure partners are engaged fully from the outset and Timetable of meetings for 2019 circulated August 2018 to
priority and therefore sufficient that the benefits and potential opportunities of the City allow partners to organise diaries in advance.
resources are not dedicated causing Deal partnership, and their involvement are clearly Fortnightly updates circulated to all committee members.
potential otherwise unnecessary delays articulated. Ensure opportunities for open and honest Nominated substitutes identified for Joint Committee to
in delivery or achievement of dialogue regarding competing pressures. Establish further enable organisations to be represented at all
outcomes. support mechanisms to assist partners with competing times.
Competing priorities of partners ce JC 4| 3 priorities to allow them to be as involved as possible. 2|2 1.0ct.18 2 11 01.Jan.19 |As previous update 2 (1
C14 Set up annual meeting schedule to enable effective time
management for all partners. Provide regular electronic
updates and briefings inbetween meetings on progress /
key issues
Lack of support for City Deal. Employed dedicated communication and engagement SBCD Business Engagement Officer in post. SBCD In addition to ongoing work
Disengagement due to confusion or officer to act as central point of contact for all City Deal Business Engagement Plan curently being drafted included in previous update eight
lack of understanding. Support for City related communications. Establish a communications outlining opportunities, plans and indicative timescales dedicated Business Engagement
Deal but based on inaccurate group of key comms officers within all City Deal partner for engagement with businesses. Sessions held throughout
understanding. Potential for negative and project lead organisations to ensure consistency SDCD Communications Officer in post. Draft SBCD November 2018 and large
. media and social media coverage, and up to date information. Provide regular updates to all Communication Plan developed for consideration by Regional Regeneration event held
Stakeholders misundertsnad the - . . . . . : )
objectives / benefits / purpose of C13 RO undermlmng the City Deal brand and 3 3 partr_1ers or programme and prolect_ progress. P 3 1.0ct.1g |90vernance structures |nclud|_n_g key messages, key 2| 2 01.Jan.19 | earl_y Degember 2018 primarily 2| 2
. C6 objectives Monitor tweets, press releases, articles etc relating to stakeholder groups, opportunities, plans and timescales targeting private sector
the City Deal ) . . . L .
City Deal and ensure, where appropriate, a response is for engagement. businesses within the region to
issues promptly. Regular proactive comms and Daily tweets, monitoring of news articles and responding raise awareness of the City Deal
marketing of the City Deal keeping stakeholders up to to press enquiries. and other opportunities within the
date with activities, coverage and outcomes. Representation at a number of public and business Region.
engagement events to raise awareness and spread
consistent messages about the SBCD.

¢¢T oabed




Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register

| ementation Risks

Oxiginal Assessment:
M&rh 2018
(9))

Latest Assessment: 1st January 2019

N - z z 2 z
= - » = - = .- - = -
N 2 ] 58 |% 5 3|8 |<% 2 2 3|8 |% 2 2 5|8 |%
g 2 55 223 g $12|5| 2 g g1E|8| 2 2o 5Bz
= H 5 = 2 e | E | 7] o | E| & o e S | E | o 26 ¢ S | E |2
D 8 S 2 -1 3 ol I < == = 5 el=|= z 200 1= |=
4 9 3 29 -8 c H - [- % g O > HS -8 .a‘:) I H 3 TR o g @
a o4 <) -] el 8|5 g oo |2 5 ° o | 8|2 S LRI s | 9|2
x © a3 g8 |=< € 213|323 & R 213 |3 e 3 2 (3|3
£ o g2 |= S 'g e | I 'g e | 5 'g A
£ o o o
Establish robust monitoring and evaluation framework to ensure UK and WG. independent review of the City Deal programme
. . ) e . announced in December 2018 to be completed by end of January
. 8 . programme and project delivery remains within agreed timescales and A . ;
City Deal doesn't achieve the outcomes } ) 2019. Corresponding internal review also to take place in January
. L . to ensure that all targeted project outputs and outcomes will be . - 5 . 3 5
. . . C6 intended within the timescales agreed. ) ) - L Ongoing monitoring of programme and project delivery and of 2019 to provide assurance of the robustness of the Deal. It is
Slippage in delivery of programme JC . ) 4| 4 achieved. Regional Team in place to undertake monitoring role. 3 3 1.0ct.18 N . - 2 3 01.Jan.18 | ) A . X 3 3
C14 Borrowing and recouperation does not . y N programme level financial profiling. impretive that these reviews are timely in order to prevent further
Accountable Body/Section 151 officers will undertake programme . : N ]
accurately reflect spend N : -, . AP . delays in programme delivery and the region will work closely to
level financial profiling to ensure borrowing and distribution of City . . . N
- f . support both reviews in order to ensure the City Deal achieves
Deal funding is reflective of programme delivery. ) )
outcomes in a timely manner.
. . . L Regional Team in place to co-ordinate submission of business cases
Delay in project start. Depending on critical . L .
X : N ™ by the Project Leads. Gantt Chart developed to assist in mapping out . . . . .
. . RPAL / |timescale could impact projects ability to . . ) . ) o S Two projects submitted for formal approval following sign off by City
Delay in development of business | C11 X . . ltterative review of draft business cases. Open and frequent dialogue project development, submission and approval process timelines. .
Delivery |deliver proposed outcomes. Potential knock on| 5 3 ; . ¥ . 4 3 1.0ct.18 : 2 3 01.Jan.18 [Deal Governance. Work to develop the other business cases 2 3
plans C14 N o . between delivery lead and regional project lead authority (RPAL). Programme Board and ESB in place to oversee the development of .
Lead |affect for other projects ability to deliver and ; . . . . continues.
. business cases. Joint Committee Agreement in place which sets out
achieve outcomes. - N .
agreed processes for deciding on any actions required
Forward work programme for Joint Committee approved in Dec 18.
Delay in project start. Depending on critical Pending the outcome of UK and Welsh Government independent
Delay in approval of business timescale could impact projects ability to Ensure JCA is completed and agreed. Identify robust regional review JCA and governance structure formalised in August 18. Regional review and SBCD internal review in January 2019 the forward work
Y In app C11 RO |deliver proposed outcomes. Potential knockon| 3 | 4 process / structure. Ensure project authority leads have early sight of 2| 4 1.0ct.18 [Project Authority Leads / Project Authority Leads will have early sight 2 3 01.Jan.18 [programmes for SBCD committees may need to be reviewed 3 3
plans - regional structure N o . . N X ; A ; . . .
affect for other projects ability to deliver and relevant business cases. of relevant draft version business cases for comment/feedback. including timescales for approving business plans. The region will work
achieve outcomes. closely to support both reviews in order to ensure timely approval of
project business cases can still be obtained.
g,):l UK and WG independent review of the City Deal programme
«Q Delay in proiect start. Depending on critical announced in December 2018 to be completed by end of January
@ ~¢lay In project start. pe g or Iterative process with governments to enable them to review early lterative process with governments for review of draft business cases 2019. Although work will continue to develop business cases through
. . timescale could impact projects ability to . - . N N . ! X : L o ) . . ;
Di in approval of project . . drafts to mimimise the amount of review required for final version in place which aids speedier decision. Agreement of submission the duration of the review formal approvals will not be awarded until
) Cc11 Govs |deliver proposed outcomes. Potential knock on| 3 4 - . . 2 4 1.0ct.18 N ! N h . 2 3 01.Jan.18 I . 3 3
bugifjess plans - Welsh & UK Govs N o . Develop and agreed process and timescale for final business case process and timescales for review of final business plans with both review is complete and further delays may be a result of the review
affect for other projects ability to deliver and ) h - . : . .
) review with Governments. governments. findings. The region will work closely to support both reviews in order
achieve outcomes. " ! ) .
to ensure timely approval of project business cases can still be
obtained.
Iterative business case review process. Open and regular dialogue
Ensure regional project authority lead is fully involved in the between Accountable Body, RO, Project Delivery Lead and Project
Business case is not approved / C3 RPAL/ development of the business case and has early sight of relevant Lead. Early identification of potential trigger points and any potential
. pp Delivery [Project unable to proceed 3 5 elop N P X Y Sl 2 5 1.0ct.18 >ad. tarly ident . po gger poir WP 2 3 01.Jan.18 |As previous update 2 3
project falls C11 Lead business cases. Provide Councils with project briefings where mitigating/rectifying actions. If irreconcilable, Joint Committee
appropriate. Agreement in place which sets out agreed processes for identifying
new project(s) to achieve the outcomes of the City Deal.
Employ dedicated business engagement officer to work with projects
and industry.
Host several industry targeted events / engagement opporutnities to Dedicated business engagement officer in place. Business
City Deal does not achieve the anticipated ensure business commuinity are clear of the opportunities to engage in engagement and communication strategy under development to target
ic/ long term change / outcomes and projects do the City Deal and its legacy. key industries and businesses within and outside of the region.
Companies of required calibre are | C13 Delive not secure long term sustainability. Potential 3 4 Esnure clear and consistent communications with industry / buesiness 3 3 1.0ct.18 Engaged with industry representatives at a regional, welsh and UK 3 2 01.Jan.18 | As previous update 3 2
not based within the region C6 Lea dsry for negative media and social media coverage, forums about City Deal opportunities and potential for industry. This T level. Economic Strategy Board established to represent the voice of R P P
undermining the City Deal brand and should include phonecalls, e-marketing, face-to-face meetings, industry and the private sector at a strategic level. All of which will help
objectives newsletters and social media. Engage with organisations that are to support attraction of companies of relevant calibre from both within
representative of the business community and have extensive contact and outside of the region
networks that can be used to raise awareness Tailored
communications targeted at specialist business/property media
Continuous dialogue with delivery leads and RO during business case
development to ensure consistency with origional scope in terms of
Project no longer requires same amount of alignment to overarching aims and objectives of the deal. Itterative
Change in project SCope pre- c11 | pelive funding. Project no longer achieves the process of business case review by governments enabling early
ng proj pe p v necessary outcomes required for City Deal 4 | 4 identification of concerns to be raised and rectified. Where changes in | 4 3 1.0ct.18 [As previous update. 4 3 01.Jan.19 [As previous update 4 3
business case approval C6 lead . N . i . N ) . By
funding. Project is not approved and therefore scope are identified close working with RO, regional project authority
unable to proceed / proceed as planned. lead and delivery lead to ensure that changes do not compromise the
proposed outcomes / outputs of the original project and that revised
project scope still achieves overall programme aims and objectiives
Project leads to remain engaged at an operational level with Swansea
C6, Projects unable to deliver at alll or to full scope University colleagues and to continue to progress operational delivery.
Swansea University withdraw from | C10, | Project |as detailed in heads of terms. Unable to 3 5 01.JanA19 Project leads to highlight any operational issues to Joint Committee in 2 5
projects (added January 2019) C11, | leads |achieve intended programme outputs and R monthly updates. Joint committee to formally approach Swansea
C14 outcomes

University to identify temporary representative to sit on Joint
Committee.




Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register

Operational Risks
original Assessment;
Marrh 2018

Latest Assessment: 1st January 2019

2 2 2 2
s © 2| 0| x 2 Z| 90| x o Z| 0| x ©° =0 | x
g 5 & RN S 818|5| % ks 185 B £ 2| 8|s
£ g 5 £6 2 £l g S gl a g S gl 8 252 S|l
o c = S| = | = < Sl = =] = s 2O o = s
o o g s g a|®e |t = o|o|3 2 a|o|3 2 S 3 2 a | s |3
o 2 £ = 5|8 S ] ] 2 o | & @ 3 83 o | &
a 3 S o2 E| 2|35 kS Tlels > 2 Tlels > X8 <g Tle|s
¥ ° i S12|¢ g 2138 & 3 21318 & 2 2138
[ © 2leg|= o S|l | (5 sl e 2 S8 |
£ 4 [+4 4
Potential for projects to fall as lack of funding /
borrowing available from the project lead
. . C3 authority. Loss of funding for regional projects . . . . )
Withdrawal of Local Authority c6 ic and regional support structures. Potential 3 5 Ensgrg JCA is agreed by all llocal authority partners and includes 2 5 1.0ct.18 JCAls!gned by each LA wh|gh clearly sets out agreed 1 2 01.Jan.19 |As previous update 1 2
Partner c11 need to reduce scale of regional projects and / provisions for such a scenario. provisions for such a scenario.
or withdraw scheme from local authority area.
Unable to achieve outcomes of City Deal.
Reduction in funding for regional support
C3 structures, potential impact on ability to . . ) .
Withdrawal of other partner C6 JC achieve broader outcomes of City Deal re: 3 4 Develop arrangemgn_ts with other partners who are not subject to the 2 4 1.0ct.18 As per previous update.‘ Co-opted members signed code 2 4 01.Jan.19 |As previous update 2 4
c11 improving public service delivery and other JCA to reflect provisions for withdrawal of conduct and declaration of interest.
strategic regional functions
Lead Section 151 Officer to attend Programme Board (and other City
Deal groups as necessary) to advise and assist in financial
Decisions made by Programme Potential delays in funding release / management discussions as appropriate and feedback relevant
Board (or other relevant City Deal C3 PB ayments otyential confli?:tin messages and | 3 5 decisions to Section 151 Officer Working Group. Regular briefings on 1 2 1.0ct.18 |[As previous update 1 2 01.Jan.19 |As previous update 1 2
group) have implications for pnzlear ;ogc):ess Delay in rogress 9 financial manegement to programme board and Joint Committeee. T P P B P P
financial management. u P ’ Y in prog ’ Regional Office to provide feedback to Section 151 Officer Working
Group via the Lead Section 151 Officer on relevant decisions by
other City Deal groups where Lead Section 151 Officer is not in
attendance.
.| UK and WG independent review of the City
8 Deal programme announced in December
2018 to be completed by end of January
@ Establish robust monitoring and evaluation framework to ensure A ]
- ) . ) I } 2019. Corresponding internal review also to
n City Deal doesn't achieve the outcomes programme and project delivery remains within agreed timescales take place in January 2019 to provide
N . . ) Y e . and to ensure that all targeted project outputs and outcomes will be . - . . P ry p .
Slippage in delivery of programme intended within the timescales agreed. ; . . L Ongoing monitoring of programme and project delivery assurance of the robustness of the Deal. It is
! A JC . ) 3 4 achieved. Regional Team in place to undertake monitoring role. 2 4 1.0ct.18 ) . L 2 3 01.Jan.19 |. . A A A 3 3
against key milestones Borrowing and recouperation does not ) } ) and of programme level financial profilling impretive that these reviews are timely in
accurately reflect spend Accountable Body/Section 151 officers will undertake programme order to prevent further delays in programme
Y p level financial profiling to ensure borrowing and distribution of City delive an the region will vs)llork c‘I)osgeI to
Deal funding is reflective of programme delivery. Y ) 9 . Y
support both reviews in order to ensure the
City Deal achieves outcomes in a timely
manner.
SBCD Business Engagement Officer in post.
SBCD Business Engagement Plan and
Procurement strategy currently being drafted
outlining opportunities, plans and indicative
timescales for engagement with businesses.
SDCD Communications Officer in post. Draft
SBCD Communication Plan developed for
Economic Strategy Board in place providing private consideration by governance structures
Failure to engage relevant RO/ City deal does not achieve the anticipated sector involvement. Key stakeholders already engaged. including key messages, key stakeholder
gage relev: C13 . long term change / outcomes. Lack of support SBCD Business Engagement Officer and groups, opportunities, plans and timescales
stakeholders including industry Delivery . . 3 4 2 3 1.0ct.18 L ’ ) 2 1 01.Jan.19 . . 2 1
and private sector C6 Leads / engagement with City Deal and related Communications Officer employed in the RO to ensure for engagement. Response to media, public
projects. Employed dedicated communication and marketing officer. Establish early and ongoing involvement through SBCD Business and partner queries.
dedicated communication group of key partners and project leads. Engagement & Communication Plan. Representation at a number of public and
Utilise different mediums and methods of communication to reach a business engagement events to raise
range of audiences / stakeholders. Hold a variety of events appealing awareness and spread consistent messages
to a range of audiences. Work with project leads to identify targeted about the SBCD. Series of dedicated
stakeholders and develop specific marketing tools for engagement business engagement sessions during Nov
with identified groups. Targeting of specific stakeholders on social 2018 to be replicated in 2019. In addition a
media. Promotion and regular update of a cutting-edge City Deal private sector / local industry focused event in
website. Number of key partners already engaged. Ensure early and early December 2019.
ongoing involvement through public events, procurement and supply
events for example.
Procurement Action Plan developed. Programme Procurement
Y Principles drafted. Procurement Principles aligned to the WbFG Act. . . o .
Inite Procurement exercises fail City Deal does not achieve the anticipated Industry engagement has identified key concerns/issues to be. 5:;2?%50?;?;2% i(;ar:t:k‘;f;z:g\::g;%p';\:]atae od Procurement principles to be discussed by
to'Behefit the local supply chain. | . - long term change / outcomes. Lack of support addressed in the Principles. Project Lead meetings planned with SBCD Business Enaa yement Officer and y engaged. ESB in February 2019. Register of City Deal
Prdjbtts fail to implement c13 All |/ engagement with City Deal and related 3|5 speakers on key topics of concem. Industry B2B events to be held. 3| 4 01-0ct-18 | = e tions Of?icgr employed in the RO to ensure 3| 4 01.Jan.19 [procurement opportunities to be developedto | 3 | 4

Prqgmmme Procurement

PrilsQij;les.
a1

projects. Potential for negative publicity and
loss of credibility.

ESB/JC to endorse principles.

early and ongoing involvement through SBCD Business
Engagement & Communication Plan.

ensure local supply chain are aware of and
prepared for forthcoming opportunities.




9¢T abed

Negative image of City Deal portrayed to all
stakeholders and consequently the
opportunities afforded by the City Deal are not
realised at all levels. Disengagement of
industry, business and social stakeholders

Dedicatied communications officer in place to manage media
enquiries, monitor all press releases, posts etc relatng to City Deal
and develop appropriate response where necessary. Ensure regular
press releases on positive news and progress. Further develop
relationships with key journalists across the region

Develop contacts with specialist publications and websites

Regular, pro-active comms (press releases and social media) on City
Deal milestones/updates/facts and good news stories.

Inclusion of video and audio content to accompany press releases
and social media posts, when appropriate

In addition to the previous update following
the announcement of independent and
internal reviews, the City Deal's
communications officer is responding to
media queries, when approached, and
monitoring media coverage/social media
mentions relating to the reviews. The
communications officer will also work with
both governments to ensure inclusion of key
City Deal messages, if possible, in any
communications related to the outcome of the

Negative media coverage c13 RO alike. Potential for further negative coverage Regular proactive comms updates to key identified stakeholders 1.0ct.18 |As previous update 01.Jan.19 independent review. If appropriate, pro-active
from other media, given damage to City Deal across the region social media activities and liason with the
reputation and the opportunity for follow-up Approved statements to be sent in response to media queries on media will continue to take place while the
questions / diary markers to scrutinise City deadline, accompanied by discussions with the reporter asking the reviews are ongoing. Communications will
Deal progress / previous statements. question(s) Discussions with news editors/editors to try to influence also be prepared for potential release to

the tone of coverage partners, the media and other stakeholders
Approved press releases and statements to be sent to identified once the outcome of the reviews has been
stakeholders in advance of online or offline publication announced. These communications - aimed
City Deal news/updates to be regularly added to the City Deal at both residents and businesses - will
website highlight key messages aimed at maintaining
confidence in the delivery of the City Deal.
Projects do not make the cross connections
and the whole system opportunity for change
is not realised. Ambitions of the City Deal are . . . . -
: . f Regular project leads meetings to identify opportunities for cross
not embedded into organisational aims and - ; . h )
) . ) ) ) project working. Digital Infrastructure and Skills and Talent projects to
Projects are not delivered as a C13 the transformational potentia of the deal is . f } . .
. All ) ) L meet with other project leads on a 121 basis to ensure the cross 1.0ct.18 |As previous update 01.Jan.19 [As previous update
coehsive programme C6 therefore not realised. City Deal is viewed : : L . - :
. . cutting themes of skills and digital are incorporated into all project
and delivered via status quo rather than
} " ) plans.
challenging and positively transforming the
delivery of industry and public services in the
region
As per previous update in relation to regional
Employed dedicated communication and engagement officer to act pgrtners. In addition, strong commun}catlonl
) . o with UK and Welsh Government during review
as central point of contact for all City Deal related communications. AR .
) L . . period is critical to ensuring clear and
Establish a communications group of key comms officers within all consistent messages are relaved to the
Y Confused / inconsistent / unclear messages City Deal partner and project lead organisations to ensure . . 9 . Y
QD . . ) . . . public, business community and other
«Q given out. Disengagement of stakeholders consistency and up to date information. Provide regular updates to all . A .
) ) ) . . . partners. Communications with City Deal

Lafk of alignment of C13 due to confusion or incorrect understanding. partners or programme and project progress. Monitor tweets, . . ; )

Lo RO . ) . ) ’ . . f 1.0ct.18 [As previous update 01.Jan.19 |partner organisations will continue to be made

co@'nunlcatlons between partners | C6 Potential for negative media and social media press releases, articles etc relating to City Deal and ensure, where . ) . .

" . A L s regularly available via a fortnigtly, bilingual e-
[o6] coverage, undermining the City Deal brand appropriate, a response is issues promptly. Develop and maintain a R .
T : . newslettter to help maintain consistency of
and objectives protocol which requires partners to send press releases and . - .
. o ) . messages. The communications officer will
statements to the City Deal Communications officer for consistency ; L . e
. also continue to liaise with communications
and awareness. Develop online portal for partners to access shared . o
. ; ) teams at City Deal partner organisations to
logos, statements, quotations etc for us in all City Deal comms. S
ensure communications protocols are
adhered to.
Project no longer requires same amount of . . - ) . Process for monitoring of projects against business case
) A . Establish robust project monitoring and evaluation to ensure project ) . . .
. . . funding. Project no longer achieves the ; . ) . f outlined in JCA which was endorsed by all four regional
Change in project scope post- C11 | Delivery . . remains on track to deliver scope outlined in appropved business L . .
. necessary outcomes required for City Deal . . . . 1.0ct.18 [councils in summer 2018. Need to develop detailed 01.Jan.19 |As per previous update

business case approval C6 lead f S case and overarching aims of the City Deal in terms of growth and - ) :
funding. Project is not approved and therefore 0bs monitoring plan for each project as business cases are
unable to proceed / proceed as planned. 10DS- approved.

Approval of monitoring and evaluation
framework to governance structure prior to

Failure to establish a robust Delivery Initial impact assessment undertaken to identify headline impacts of Work underway to develop monitoring and evaluation appointment of consultants to undertake

. C6 leads / [Inaccurate measuring of impacts of city deal. the city deal. Need to further develop this to capture the full range 1.0ct.18 |[framework in line with key outcomes as set out in heads 01.Jan.19 [baseline assessment. Include review of this

baseline S . : . . . o

RO baseline indicators that will demonstrate the impact of the city deal of terms. baseline at key intervals of the monitoring and

evaluation plan to ensure it reflects any major
changes in the external environment.




Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register

Financial Risks

Original
9 Latest Assessment: 1st October,
Assessment:
2018
March 2018
2 2 2 2
g 2 | . 5 2|1g|8 8 glel8| = 3 g1E18| = 2y 2|28
5 o @ = $ o | E|& 0 o | E|& a =3 o | E|& o 2oc¢c o | E|&
2 o c c 3 o i < = ] 2 3 = ° 2 s Q0 = °
] H (T a |t = o | T | o 2 o |o| @ >3 8 a|s| 9
4 - b - [ [ Q 7] 2 @ 7] 2 20 @ ]
[ © o o 0 c o = = ° o | 2 S K] ° n | 2 S 2P ° o | 2
2 © o 8 5|g |2 £ 8153 & 3 8153 & g
2 © 2|2|E 3 3|2 |« o 12| ® > 3|2 |®
£ 4 4 o
Dialogue with governments have identified a
’ . . . . . . Ongoing dialogue with governments underway to identify potential potential solution. Received confirmation of that LAs
C3 ’ . ’ Ongoing dialogue with governments to identify potential solutions . : ) . - - . - : !
. ’ . Account [Four projects, including one ) ) ) . e o ) ) solutions. Received confirmation of the ability to utilise Capital may utilise Capital Reciepts or Reserves to
Failure to identify / secure C6 . ) including discussions on Capitalisation Direction. Projects with . e - . . . )
} able |regional project, unable to 51| 5 : . 31|15 1.0ct.18 [Reciepts to maximise flexibility and make most effective use of 3|5 01.Jan.18 |maximise flexibility of funding and make most 3|5
revenue funding C11 revenue element encouraged to explore alternative funding streams . f : } . . )
Body |proceed. resources. LA Section 151 Officers working to determine revenue effective use of resources. LA Section 151 Officers
C14 to support revenue elements. ) ) . ; )
practical requirements. will work this solution through on each of the
relevant projects.
In-principle letter received from Cabinet Secretary stating intention to In-p_rlnc'l ple Igtter re_c_el_ved from Cabinet Secretary
" h . stating intention to initiate arrangements to allow the
initiate arrangements to allow the region to retain 50% of the ) ) I .
. Account . . I . . " S . region to retain 50% of the additional net yeild in
Failure to agree NNDR Local authorities unable to borrow Ongoing dialogue with government to explore opportunities for rate additional net yeild in non-domestic rates generated by the 11 ) )
f o C3 able ] : 4 5 ] 415 1.0ct.18 ] - " f 2 5 01.Jan.18 |non-domestic rates generated by the 11 projects. 215
(rates retention) flexibility required for projects retention projects. Officers of the four local authorities currently looking at - :
Body . . ) ) Meeting with WG taken place and officers need to
obtaining relevant information. Clause 14.3 of JCA, endorsed in i
) L work up a proposal, so the mechanics and
Summer 2018, reitterates agreement in principle. NI
alloaction is acceptable to all.
Private sector fundin For all projects, in addition to the 5 case model assessment, the As per previous update. Outcomes of UK and
contribution/s not in Iigne with Delive Overall impact of the City Deal not Projects required to complete full five case business model including Accountable Body will undertake an assessment of the Project’s Welsh Government review and SBCD internal
initial business case C3 Leadry realised. Project cannot deliver full| 5 | 5 robust financial detail and commercial case identifying and confirming| 3 | 4 1.0ct.18 [Financial profile to check that the private sector contributionisinline | 3 | 4 01.Jan.18 |review may provide further assurance and/or 3| 4
. scheme. Project is unsustainable sources of income. with the initial business case financial projections. Any implications recommendations for ensuring these processes are
projections ) ) .
resulting from variance to be reported to PB, ESB and JC for action. robust.
) o .
QD For all projects, in addition to the 5 case model assessment, the As per previous update. Outcomes of UK and
E%natch funding . . . . ) ) . ) Accountable Body will undertake an assessment of the Project’s Welsh Government review and SBCD internal
I - . . Overall impact of the City Deal not Projects required to complete full five case business model including ) . ) . B ; .
coptfributions not in line with Delivery . ) h . ) ) . . o - Financial profile to check that the private sector contribution is in line review may provide further assurance and/or
s ) C3 realised. Project cannot deliver full| 5 5 robust financial detail and commercial case identifying and confirming| 3 4 1.0ct.18 | . . . ) } s M 3 4 01.Jan.18 ) - 3 4
inifigl business case Lead S ) . with the initial business case financial projections. Any implications recommendations for ensuring these processes are
. scheme. Project is unsustainable sources of income. . ; ) . . )
projections resulting from variance to be reported to PB, ESB and JC for action. robust. EU funding will only impact on some
RO in dialogue with WEFO. schemes.
Completion date for EU funded projects mid 2023 at
the latest with all expenditure to be paid out by this
date. This increases pressure to begin delivery of
) Unable to deliver full funding . . . ’ EU funded projects including those under the City
Tlmeframe for end of current C3 All package at both project and 3 3 Ear!y dialogue with all fundersl including Governments and WEFO. 313 1.0ct.18 |[As per previous update 313 01.Jan.18 |Deal. Without City Deal sign off this may not be 4| 4
EU funding programmes Project lead to accelerate business case development : : )
programme level. possible. Therefore timely completion of UK and
Welsh Government reviews and implementation of
any recommendations is essential to mitigating this
risk.
Credible and robust financial profiles need to be in place for each City
Early engagement with all funders to develop strong relationships. Deal Project from the outset. All Letters Confirmation Match Funding
Robust financial planning and clear outline of interdependencies of to be in place for the project before City Deal funding is approved, As per previous update. Outcomes of UK and
. . Project potentially unable to funding in the business case, ensuring that fundamental aspects of confirming amount and timing as set out in the project’s financial Welsh Government review and SBCD internal
Failure to achieve full B ; f . . ) ) o ) . ) ; .
. C3 All delivery or to deliver full scale of 3 5 the project are funded through most secure funding sources. Timely 2 5 1.0ct.18 [profile. Timely monitoring and review following approval of five case 2 5 01.Jan.18 [review may provide further assurance and/or 3 4
funding package - ) . ) ) . ) . h L ) -
anticipated project outcomes review and approval of five case business plan. Effective and timely business plan. Robust and timely procurement activity must be recommendations for ensuring these processes are
procurement activity. Establishment of robust contracts. Ongoing planned, executed and monitored. All Project Authority Leads to put robust.
dialogue to resolve issues relating to revenue funding. in place effective monitoring and evaluation processes. Funding
agreements signed between Project Authority Lead and Project Lead.
Project lead authority's to factor anticipated CD borrowing and
. . rep?yment costs |nt9 financial prof|||.ng. Regular dlalogug between Clause 13.1 of the Joint Committee Agreement commits Project
Project authority lead unable delivery lead and project lead authority to develop expediture forecast . ; ; . h
h C3 , ’ ) ) ) ) Authority Leads to borrowing or securing alternative funding to .
to borrow amount required to LA's |Projects unable to go ahead 3 5 as accurately as possible. Delivery lead to inform project lead 2 5 1.0ct.18 : ; ] 2 3 01.Jan.18 |As per previous update 213
. C6 . ) ! ) . ) support projects. JCA was unanimously agreed by all four regional
frontload project authority of any changes to financial profile. Section 151 officer L
. ) councils in summer 2018.
group to look at schedule of repayment of City Deal funding for
consideration and agreement by Joint Committee.
-
\J
Q.) Regional project lead authority's to factor anticipated CD borrowing
Reganal broiect authorit and repayment costs into financial profiling. Regular dialogue Joint Working Agreement signed by all four Councils in July 2018.
lead unab‘I)e tjo borrow Y c3 Project potentially unable to between delivery lead and regional project lead authority to develop First formal meeting of the Joint Committee ratifying committments
ot rocuired o frontioad | o | LA'S  |delivery or unable to deliver 3|5 expediture forecast as accurately as possible. Delivery lead to inform | 5 | 4 1.0ct.18 |took place on 31st August 2018. Clause 12.3b of the Joint Committee| 2 | 3 01.Jan.18 |As per previous update 2|3
o | rc(‘)'ect fundin across the whole region. regional project delivery lead of any changes in financial profile. Agreement outlines due process to be undertaken should a Council
~J proj 9 Section 151 officer group to look at prlopomonz.-ll borrowing, not approve funding for a regional project
repayment and benefit / impact of regional projects for each local
authority area.




Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register - Categories

The Swansea Bay City Deal programme risk register captures and monitors key programme level risks to the delivery of the
City Deal and achievement of its aims and objectives. It will be monitored by Joint Committee and Programme Board via
circulation prior to each meeting and issues tabled for discussion as necessary.

Category Ref. No |Description

Contractual Cc1 Ineffective use or management of contacts leads to increased costs
Environmental Cc2 Environmental incidents

Financial C3 Financial risks facing the Councils

Health & Safety c4 Harm to employees / public

IT C5 Failure of systems / cyber attack

Objectives Ccé6 Threat to achieveing programme objectives

People / Social c7 Threat to / from society / groups / public

Physical / Assets Cc8 Damage to organisational property

Political Cc9 Adverse actions caused by changes in local, regional or national governments
Professional C10 Lack or loss of qualified employees

Projects C11 Threat to / from individual projects

Regulatory / Legal C12 Changes to regulations / law

Reputation C13 Negative publicity

Schedule / Timescales Ci14 Threats to timelines / critical path(s)

Page 128

Page 130




Swansea Bay City Deal Programme Risk Register - Scoring

Impact
Risk Assessment -
Matrix Insignificant | Minor Moderate Fundamental
(1) (2) (3) (5)
Almost Certain
> (5)
= Likely (4)
§ Possible (3)
g Unlikely (2)
Extremely
Unlikely (1)
Percentage |Description
AImos(tSC)Zertaln > 80% Will occur in most circumstances
Likely (4) 51-80% |Stong possibility
£
E Possible (3) 26 -50% |Reasonable chance of occuring - has occurred before on occasion
[
a
Unlikely (2) 10-25% |Unlikely to occur but potential definitely exists
Extremely . . . .
X <10% Will only occur in exceptional circumstances
Unlikely (1)
Insignificant |No impact on programme success - minimal delay or interruption. No adverse interest from the media /
(1) stakeholder groups
Minor
- (2) Little impact on ability to deliver. Adverse comments confined to local media / stakeholder groups
§ Moderate
€ (3) Moderate impact on the success of programme.
Major Potential to damage success of programme and prevent achievement of key outputs / outcomes.
(4) Significant delays or changes to programme occur as a result of risk being realised. Adverse comments
Fundamental |Potential to prevent programme from delivering at all. Prevent outputs / outcomes from being achieved.
(5) Adverse comments from national press / stakeholder groups.

Page 131 Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 132



Agenda Item 11

Bargen Ddinesig
BAE ABERTAWE SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION

SWANSEA BAY JOINT COMMITTEE
City Deal

28™ MARCH 2019

RETROSPECTIVE CLAIMS - DEFRAYED EXPENDITURE

RECOMMENDATIONS / KEY DECISIONS REQUIRED:

To confirm retrospective claims of defrayed expenditure back to 20t"
March 2017.

REASONS:

On 13t July 2017 the Shadow Joint Committee approved retrospective claiming of defrayed
expenditure for the SBCD back to 20th March 2017. This needs to be ratified by the formal
Joint Committee.

Lead Designation: Tel No.
01267 224901
Helen Morgan Economic Development E.Mail:
Manager himorgan@carmarthenshire.gov.
Carmarthenshire County uk
Council
(- s
é;‘_ coewe Sir GAr %
= Carmarchenshire E _é
Liuror &bt Eang ﬁ-_i'
:T—iﬂ;l W“m,;.: bl -.-x'l".‘

rﬁ‘w Swansca

A0 Univcrsiy :‘ﬂg[-:rﬁﬂﬂ'}! C}""u Ear | = ot cbyd Boyns Ly Lo Bud. 1o Sbsge
& R 5 I..Innﬂue:b.r.-n.r'aes Nl % T‘ ,,'.-,',ﬁ.,\ e o] ey

' PHWSFJG'I “rmpsal nend \# gé 131

i abertawe



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
SWANSEA BAY CITY REGION JOINT COMMITTEE
28™ MARCH 2019

RETROSPECTIVE CLAIMS - DEFRAYED EXPENDITURE

Project leads have incurred significant preliminary expenditure in order to develop the SBCD
projects and corresponding five case business plans which, once approved, will release City
Deal funding to the region. Both Governments confirmed that decisions relating to
retrospective claims is a matter for the Joint Committee. Subsequently in July 2017 the
Shadow Joint Committee confirmed that retrospective claims dating back to 20" March 2017
can be made by SBCD project leads as long as these costs are included within the approved
five case business plan.

This decision needs to be ratified by the formal Joint Committee.

DETAILED REPORT ATTACHED? NO
«-. 2
é;‘_ e Kir Gar %
= Carmarchenshire E _é
Liurgor &b eriens \% _“_-_G'
:T:fﬂ;l "”: I-ul( P '-*""w

, Swansca Prifyaanl l:}'rnru .
; L|I‘|I".'GF‘C..IT; i o an: i Bundo 1o Sk
wm e Ere Slaagon e
F%ée el R e bl e
Trnpsalinead

2o ockqd Bt Loy Lt
1 1y
HEe SIS




IMPLICATIONS

Policy, Crime & Legal Finance Risk Management Issues | Staffing Implications
Disorder and
Equalities
NONE Not at this YES YES NONE
stage
Finance

Project leads have undertaken significant spend at risk to progress the development of the SBCD Projects and
corresponding five case business models in order to release central City Deal funding. If this expenditure cannot be

retrospectively claimed there will be a gap in their funding package.

Risk Management

As above.
Any gap in project funding poses a risk to achieving the full ambitions of the project and therefore wider City Deal
programme.
CONSULTATIONS
N/A

Section 100D Local Government Act, 1972 — Access to Information
List of Background Papers used in the preparation of this report:
THESE ARE DETAILED BELOW

Title of Document File Ref Locations that the papers are available for
No. public inspection/WEBSITE LINK
Minutes of Shadow Joint Committee — Available from Regional Office
13t July 2017.
g (’j:'__ - - ALy
.,E;‘_ ) o, i Sin Gir g™ ? utf %Y
armarchenshire 5 z
L-\Jr.]othm 'C% e =%¥“‘ﬁ
Swmneea Couie| A ""..;mqm.. ._._,__.}\"C"

T

TR g Swansca

i Prify=asl Cyriru

,_,_;__. niversiy M I TR TR XY

A Er e L Lnivan eily of e 2
g H Mrityscpol Sl e
e abhertawe

Page §35

ol Cr
k1%

L300 | e 1oz 2 b g0

wmer o Rre Mo on g

“Paye 133"

Sowed ok AR g




This page is intentionally left blank

Page 136



Agenda Iltem 12a
Neath Port Talbot

Date Dyddiad 15 February 2019

e—
==~ C(astell-nedd Port Talbot Direct line Rhif ffén 01269 825767
County Borough Councit Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Email Ebost  clira.nwoolcock@npt.gov,uk

Contact Cyswilt  Councillor A.N.Woolcock
Your ref Eich cyf
Our ref Ein cyf

ClIr R Stewart
Chair of the Joint Committee for the
Swansea Bay Region City Deal

By e-mail

Dear Councillor Stewart

RE: Swansea Bay City Region

Can | once again thank you for attending the recent meeting of the Joint
Scrutiny Committee. Please find attached a note of the findings and
recommendations from the meeting that | would ask you to put before the
Joint Committee.

| look forward to receiving your response to the recommendations we
have made in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

(e ])/f’f?f"" O

Clir A N Woolcock
Chair, Joint Scrutiny Committee Swansea Bay Region City Deal

continued overieaf...

Page 137 Page 135

www,npl.gov,uk



CC Councillor Rob Jones, Leader, C/o Neath Port Talbot County
Borough Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Emlyn Dole, Leader, C/o Carmartheshire County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor David Simpson, Leader, C/o Pembrokeshire County
Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Rob Stewart, Leader, C/o City and County of Swansea
(by e-mail)

Page 136 Page 138



Note of Findings and Recommendations arising from a meeting of the Joint

Scrutiny Committee Swansea Bay Region City Deal, held on January 31 2019

Summary and Findings

Scrutiny members received information from witnesses about the sequence of
events that had taken placed from 22" November 2018 when three business
cases had been endorsed by the Joint Committee, including the business case
for Delta Lakes. The Committee was given a clear assurance by witnesses that
the first time Members/officers involved with the Joint Committee became
aware of the suspensions at Swansea University was the day the matter was
made public. The Chair of the Joint Committee advised that he had
subsequently met with the Registrar of Swansea University and his legal advisers

in the period between the suspensions being made public and the Joint

Committee’s meeting of 14"™ December where information was shared under
legal privilege concerning the matters under investigation. At the meeting, the
Registrar also advised of the University’s continued commitment to the Swansea

Bay City Deal programme.

The Lead Chief Executive advised the Committee that Carmarthenshire Council
had requested a review of the arrangements related to Delta Lakes by the Wales
Audit Office. The initial discussion with the Wales Audit Office had taken place
at the end of November involving Carmarthenshire Council’s s151 Officer and
WADO officials. Information pertinent to the review had been shared with WAO

from early December 2018. An external legal review had also been

Page 139 Page 137



commissioned by the Executive Board of Carmarthenshire Council to seek
assurance that the appointment of the development partner for Delta Lakes had
been undertaken correctly. This external legal review has been completed and

will be considered by the Executive Board in forthcoming weeks.

Additionally, the Chair of the Joint Committee explained that at the Joint

Committee’s meeting on 14™ December, the Joint Committee had also decided
to seek its own assurance that the processes established to govern the City

Region Deal had been complied with and were appropriate.

In response to specific questions raised by Members of the Joint Scrutiny
Committee, assurance was given that the suspensions at Swansea University

had occurred after the three full business cases had been endorsed by the Joint

Committee on 22" November. The Joint Scrutiny Committee was told that at
the time the Joint Committee had made a decision to endorse the business
cases there was no information available to the Joint Committee about the
investigations conducted by Swansea University. The Committee was told that

the Joint Committee members had relied on the assurances provided with the

reports at the meeting on 22" November 2018 to come to their decision to
endorse the three business cases. The Committee were also advised that the
University had not approached Members of the Joint Committee or officers to
make them aware that their internal investigations and the subsequent
suspensions had some implications for the Delta Lakes project and the City Deal
programme. The Chair of the Joint Committee advised that he had needed to

take the initiative to seek out information from the University to assess if there

Page 138 Page 140



were implications for the Programme.

In relation to the review commissioned by the UK and Welsh governments, the
Chair of the Joint Committee and Lead Chief Executive advised the Joint Scrutiny
Committee that the events at Swansea University had not triggered the review
commissioned by the UK and Welsh governments. Furthermore, they did not
believe that Welsh Government officials or Ministers were aware of the
investigations taking place at Swansea University until events were made public
but were not in a position to confirm this. The reviews were to provide
assurance to both governments that arrangements within the Programme are fit

for purpose.

The Joint Scrutiny Committee noted that in addition to the review
commissioned by the UK and Welsh governments, a number of other reviews
were underway: a review commissioned by the Joint Committee; the Wales
Audit Office review of the Delta Lakes project; an external legal review of the
procurement of the development partner commissioned by Carmarthenshire
County Council. The Chair of the Joint Committee gave scrutiny members an
assurance that the Joint Committee would give full consideration to the findings
of the four reviews, including making a challenge to conclusions reached and
recommendations made, if appropriate. The Chair of the Joint Committee also
gave an assurance that the Joint Scrutiny Committee would be provided with
the reports arising from the review, including the associated terms of reference
at an appropriate time. Members of the Joint Committee would be pleased to

discuss the findings of the review with scrutiny members in due course, should

Page 141 Page 139



the scrutiny members request that. Scrutiny members welcomed these
assurances and underlined the importance of the Programme operating on a
principle of transparency. Scrutiny members were unhappy that some of the

documents requested had not been provided when requested.

In relation to the Delta Lakes project specifically, the Chair of the Joint
Committee gave an assurance that no funds had transferred from the City Deal
programme to Swansea University or the individuals subject of the suspension.
The Lead Chief Executive confirmed this and added that neither had any land
transferred or any companies been established. The Committee were advised by
the Chair of the Joint Committee and the Lead Chief Executive that they
expected all reviews to be completed in February 2015.

The Chair of the Joint Committee gave scrutiny members an assurance that the
UK and WG governments’ money is safe. Additionally, the Committee were
advised that flexibility had been provided for in the City Deal terms and
conditions in the event there should be a need to adjust projects, substitute
projects or make changes to lead bodies for the projects within the Deal. It was
explained by the Chair of the Joint Committee that the UK and Welsh
governments were not withholding funding while their review was in train as
there had been no timetable for releasing the funds. The governments’ review
had not changed the position on programme funding. Scrutiny members were
assured that all partners remained committed to the Deal and relationships
between partners to the Deal were on a strong footing.

In response to questions about the risk register that had been circulated to the

Joint Scrutiny Committee, the s 151 Officer advised that the financial risk

Page 140 Page 142



attached to projects is borne entirely by individual agencies. Governance
arrangements within the Programme expected individual agencies to sign off
the financial elements of individual projects, amongst other things. Scrutiny
members were advised there is no financial risk at programme level. Scrutiny
members observed that the circulated risk register did not detail the financial
exposure of agencies and asked the Chair of the Joint Committee to consider if
the risk register was complete. In response, scrutiny members were advised that
the risk register circulated had not been seen by the Joint Committee but there
would be a standing agenda item to consider programme risks at future

meetings of the Joint Committee

Scrutiny members also sought assurances about the management of
reputational risk and investor confidence. The Chair of the Joint Committee
advised that he had put a range of communications activities in place but he
was not able to control statements made by the individuals who had been
suspended by Swansea University. Programme communications were being
supported by partners, co-ordinated by the central programme office. In
relation to commercial risks, the s151 officer advised scrutiny members that
there was no detriment to the Programme as investors had indicated continued

confidence in the Programme.

Scrutiny members asked about the status of projects within the programme.
The Chair of the Joint Committee advised that projects continue to be
developed in parallel with the reviews. In relation to the Wellbeing Village at

Delta Lakes, this is being reconsidered by Carmarthenshire County Council to

Page 143 Page 141



identify an alternative delivery model. Once the alternative model is available,
Members were assured that the project would be subject to all of the Joint

Committee sign off and assurance processes.

Members of the Joint Scrutiny Committee thanked the Chair of the Joint
Committee and officers for attending the meeting to provide information and to
answer questions, however, scrutiny members pointed out that they were
unhappy that the Joint Committee had not proactively shared information
about developments following the suspension of individuals at Swansea
University with them, nor had the Joint Committee been consulted about the
reviews and associated terms of reference. The Chair of the Joint Committee
explained that the Joint Scrutiny Committee had not been consulted about the
reviews and associated terms of reference as he had expected the Joint Scrutiny
Committee would want to determine its own programme of review. Scrutiny
members made it clear that it was reasonable to have expected the Chair of the

Joint Scrutiny Committee to have been consulted as a minimum.

Scrutiny members also pointed out that whilst the Joint Committee and some of
the associated governance structures had been established in shadow form
since 2017, there had been no similar mechanisms for conducting joint scrutiny
in this phase of the programme development. By waiting until the Joint Working
Agreement was signed to put the joint scrutiny mechanisms in place, scrutiny
members felt that a number of key decisions had already been made and the
committee members were on a steep learning curve. Members of the Joint

Scrutiny Committee noted that scrutiny committees within individual

Page 142 Page 144



authorities would have had the opportunity to scrutinise individual projects as
they were developed by the respective local authorities. However, scrutiny
members were of the view that the reliance placed on scrutiny at individual

authority level alone during the shadow period had been insufficient.

Recommendations

Recommendation 1

The Joint Committee should reinforce with City Deal partners that they have an
obligation to disclose material events to partners in a timely way to ensure
good governance and to ensure attendant risks to the wider programme are

managed effectively

Recommendation 2

The Joint Scrutiny Committee believes that it can operate most effectively when
there is a good flow of information between the Joint Committee and its own
arrangements. The Joint Scrutiny Committee would like a formal assurance
from the Joint Committee that any further material developments that are not
set out in the Joint Committee’s Forward Work Programme are notified to the

Chair of the Joint Scrutiny Committee in a timely and appropriate way.

Page 145 Page 143



Recommendation 3

The Joint Scrutiny Committee believes that all of the work of the Joint
Committee should be visible to Joint Scrutiny Committee members and that
there should be no delay in information being shared with the Joint Scrutiny
Committee. The presumption should be that there is transparency across the
Programme. The Joint Committee is therefore asked to revise the existing
information sharing arrangements to ensure all papers (both public and private)

are available to scrutiny committee members and support officers.

Recommendation 4

The Joint Scrutiny Committee notes and welcomes the standing invitation
issued by the Chair of the Joint Committee to attend and observe meetings of
the Joint Committee. The Joint Scrutiny Committee recommends that this
suggestion be formally reflected in governance arrangements so that the Chair
and/Vice Chair of the Committee and supporting scrutiny officers can attend

and observe both public and private meetings of the Joint Committee.

Recommendation 5

The Joint Scrutiny Committee welcomes the encouragement provided by the
Chair of the Joint Committee for the terms of reference set out in the Joint
Working Agreement to be operated in a more flexible way. The Joint Scrutiny

Committee does not believe that neat boundaries can be drawn around the

Page 144 Page 146



scrutiny of individual projects and scrutiny of the programme as a whole. The
Joint Scrutiny Committee acknowledges and agrees that some matters at
project level are more appropriately scrutinised at individual agency level,
however, there may be situations where issues related to individual projects
may have a bearing on the programme more broadly and the Joint Scrutiny
Committee would want the ability to scrutinise those matters. The Joint
Scrutiny Committee agrees that where appropriate the Joint Scrutiny

Committee should be able to explore project activity.

Recommendation 6

The Joint Scrutiny Committee notes that the Joint Committee intends to review
the Risk Register at each of its future meetings. The Joint Scrutiny recommends
that the Joint Committee considers whether the current Risk Register is
comprehensive and up to date and is sufficient to support the Joint Committee
in taking all of the actions needed to ensure the Programme delivers the
outcomes required. In particular, the Joint Scrutiny Committee recommends
that the Joint Committee considers whether the programme Risk Register is
adequately informed by project risk to ensure that significant project risks are
visible and enable the Joint Committee to assess whether they have the

potential to impact on the delivery of the overall Deal.

Recommendation 7

The Joint Scrutiny Committee was told that the Risk Register circulated for the

Page 147 Page 145



meeting had not been seen by the Joint Committee. The Joint Scrutiny
Committee recommends that the controls in place within the Programme Office

be reviewed to ensure appropriate release of programme information.

Recommendation 8

The Joint Scrutiny Committee was pleased to receive assurances about the lack
of impact flowing from the suspension of individuals at Swansea University and
subsequent events on reputational risk and investor confidence. However, the
Joint Scrutiny Committee was not convinced the full impact of current events
on reputational damage was being identified and recommends that the Joint
Committee gives further consideration to the impact of events on reputational

damage and the measures in place to mitigate associated risk.

Page 146 Page 148



Agenda Iltem 12b

e Neath Port TaEbOt Date Dyddiad S March 2019
-——=> (astell-nedd Port Talbot Direct line Rhif ffon 01269 825767

County Borough Council Cyngor Bwrdeistrel Sirol Email Ebost  clir.a.nwoolcock@npt.zov.uk
Contact Cyswllt  Councillor A.N.Woolcock
Your ref Eich cyf

Our ref Ein cyf

Clir. Rob Stewart

Chair of the Swansea Bay City Region
Joint Committee

Clo City & County of Swansea

Civic Centre

Oystermouth Road

Swansea

SA1 3SN

By e-mail
Dear Councillor Stewart

RE: Swansea Bay City Region

| am writing to inform you of the recommendations made to the Joint
Committee by the Joint Scrutiny Committee at it is meeting on Friday, 1
March, 2019. The recommendations are as follows:

Recommendation 1

The Joint Scrutiny Committee was very concerned to learn of the
considerable delays being experienced in securing agreement from the
Welsh and UK governments to the full business cases of the projects that
make up the City Deal. The Joint Scrutiny Committee notes that these
delays mean that almost two years since the Heads of Terms were
signed, no business cases have yet reached a point where they have
been approved for implementation. Members of the Joint Scrutiny
Committee wish to underline the importance of the City Deal to bringing
about long term, sustainable improvements to the well-being of people
across the region and would like to understand what action the Joint
Committee, Welsh Government and the UK Government intend to take to
address the causes of the delays inherent in the existing processes.

continued overleaf...

Chief Executive’s Directorate Cyfarwyddiaeth Y Prif Weithredwr
Steve Phillips Steve Phillips

Chief Executive Prif Weithredwr

Civic Centre Y Ganolfan Ddinesig

Port Talbot Port Talbot

SA131PJ SA13 1PJ

Tel 01639 763285 Pageold 763285 Page 147



Recommendation 2

In considering the status of the three regional projects contained within
the Deal — Homes as Power Stations; Skills and Talent; and Digital
Infrastructure — the Joint Scrutiny Committee noted that none of these
projects would be delivered within the timetable initially envisaged.
Accordingly, the Joint Scrutiny Committee recommends that priority
should be given to bringing all three projects to a point where they can be
formally initiated and that the programme plan be revised to reflect a new
delivery period of five years which commences on the dates when the
business cases are approved. The programme plan should also take
account of the inter-dependencies between these three projects and
other projects within the City Deal programme.

Recommendation 3

The Joint Scrutiny Committee considers that there is insufficient
information about financial risk across the programme and requests that
the Joint Committee provides it with a detailed report on the financial
assumptions and risk that attach to each of the projects and the
programme as a whole.

Recommendation 4

The Joint Scrutiny Committee noted in scrutinising the Homes as Power
Stations project that there is an assumption within the emerging business
case that local authorities will use their collective leverage to deliver the
project benefits. The Joint Scrutiny Committee wishes to underline the
importance of all four local authorities working together to achieve this,
including making representations to Welsh Government to adopt
measures for example, through building regulations, that would secure
greater private sector engagement in the work.

continued overleaf...

Page 148 Page 150



Recommendation 5

The Joint Scrutiny Committee recommends that the Joint Committee
considers how a new approach to economic development can be
developed for the period beyond the existing City Deal so that the legacy
created by this programme can be sustained and further developed over
the longer term.

| am sending a copy of this letter to other members of the Joint Scrutiny
Committee and to the four Leaders of the constituent local authorities.

| look forward to receiving your response to the recommendations we
have made in the near future.

Yours sincerely,

w

Councillor Arwyn Woolcock
Chair of the Swansea Bay City Deal Joint Scrutiny Committee

CC Councillor Sharon Freeguard C/o Neath Port Talbot County
Borough Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Alun Llewelyn C/o Neath Port Talbot County Borough
Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Darren Price C/o Carmarthen County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor Rob James C/o Carmarthen County Council
(by e-mail)

Page 151 Page 149



Councillor Giles Morgan C/o Carmarthen County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor James Adams C/o Pembrokeshire County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor Tony Baron C/o Pembrokeshire County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor Michael Evans C/o Pembrokeshire County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor Jan Curtice C/o City and County of Swansea
(by e-mail)

Councillor Philip Downing C/o City and County of Swansea
(by e-mail)

Councillor Jeff Jones C/o City and County of Swansea
(by e-mail)

Councillor Rob Jones, Leader, C/o Neath Port Talbot County
Borough Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Emlyn Dole, Leader, C/o Carmartheshire County Council
(by e-mail)

Councillor David Simpson, Leader, C/o Pembrokeshire County
Council (by e-mail)

Councillor Rob Stewart, Leader, C/o City and County of Swansea
(by e-mail)

Page 150 Page 152



enda ltem 14

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local GO\grnment Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 153 Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 154



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 155 Page 157



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 156



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 157 Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 158



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 159 Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 160



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 161 Page 749



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 162



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 163 Page 753



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 164



enda ltem 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local GO\grnment Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 165 Page 759



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 166



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 167 Page 765



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 168



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 169 Page 771



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 170



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 171 Page 827



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 172



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 173 Page 895



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 174



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 175 Page 983



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 176



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 177 Page 985



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 178



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 179 Page 1031



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 180



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 181 Page 1033



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 182



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 183 Page 1035



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 184



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 185 Page 1037



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 186



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 187 Page 1045



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 188



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 189 Page 1051



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 190



By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended
by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007.

Document is Restricted

Page 191 Page 1061



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 192



	Agenda
	1 Agenda

